
AGENDA 
MONDAY 14 NOVEMBER 

2022 
Commencing at 7:00 PM 

COUNCIL MEETING 
At the time of printing this Agenda, the Council Meeting to be held on 

Monday 14 November 2022, will be open to the public to attend in 
person but will be subject to venue seating capacity. 

This will be a hybrid meeting consisting of Councillors attending in 
person and remotely.  

If we are unable to accommodate you indoors, you will still be able to 
watch the webcast live on the Urban Screen in Harmony Square. 

To view the webcast and stay informed of the status of Council 
Meetings please visit Council's website. 

The Civic Centre basement carpark will be opened to all members of the public during 
library opening hours. Any parking in this area will be subject to availability and time limits 

as notified by any signage posted. 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
225 Lonsdale Street, Dandenong VIC 3175 

https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/council-meeting-14-november-2022
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1 MEETING OPENING
1.1 ATTENDANCE

Apologies

1.2 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS OF THE LAND

Council acknowledges the Traditional Owners and Custodians of this land, the Bunurong people and
pays our respects to their Elders past, present and emerging while also recognising their deep and
continuing connections to climate, culture and country.

We also pay our respect to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their Elders and
acknowledge their journey.
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1.3 OFFERING OF PRAYER, REFLECTION OR AFFIRMATION

As part of Council's commitment to recognising the cultural and spiritual diversity of our community,
the prayer, reflection or affirmation this evening will be offered by Mr Shamim Navidi from the Spiritual
Assembly of the Baha’is Greater Dandenong, a member of the Greater Dandenong Interfaith Network.

1.4 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Meeting of Council held 24 October 2022.

Recommendation

That the minutes of the Meeting of Council held 24 October 2022 be confirmed.
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1.5 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Any interest that a Councillor or staff member has deemed to be significant and has disclosed as
either a material or general interest is now considered to be a conflict of interest. Conflict of Interest
legislation is detailed in Division 2 – Conflicts of Interest: sections 126, 127, 128, 129 & 130 of the
Local Government Act 2020. This legislation can be obtained by contacting the Greater Dandenong
Governance Unit on 8571 5216 or by accessing the Victorian Legislation and Parliamentary Documents
website at www.legislation.vic.gov.au.

If a Councillor discloses any interest in an item discussed at any Council Meeting (whether they attend
or not) they must:

· complete a disclosure of interest form prior to the meeting.

· advise the chairperson of the interest immediately before the particular item is considered
(if attending the meeting).

· leave the chamber while the item is being discussed and during any vote taken (if attending
the meeting).

The Councillor will be advised to return to the chamber or meeting room immediately after the item
has been considered and the vote is complete.
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2 OFFICERS' REPORTS - PART ONE
2.1 DOCUMENTS FOR SEALING
2.1.1 Documents for Sealing

A2683601File Id:

Manager GovernanceResponsible Officer:

Report Summary

Under the Victorian Local Government Act, each Council is a body corporate and a legal entity in its
own right. Each Council must therefore have a common seal (like any corporate entity) that is an
official sanction of that Council.

Sealing a document makes it an official document of Council as a corporate body. Documents that
require sealing include agreements, contracts, leases or any other contractual or legally binding
document that binds Council to another party.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the listed documents be signed and sealed.
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Item Summary

There are four items being presented to Council’s meeting of 14 November 2022 for signing and
sealing as follows:

A letter of recognition to Ian Daniels, Infrastructure Services and Planning for 40 years of
service to the Greater Dandenong City Council.

1.

A letter of recognition to Darren Wilson, City Planning, Design & Amenity for 20 years of
service to the Greater Dandenong City Council.

2.

An Instrument of Appointment of Authorised Officer under the provisions of the Local
Government Act 1989, the Local Government Act 2020, the Environment Protection Act
2017, the Heritage Act 2017, the Infringements Act 2006, the Land Acquisitions and

3.

Compensation Act 1986, the Planning and Environment Act 1987, the SexWork Act 1994,
the Subdivisions Act 1988, the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 1998 and
the Regulations made under each of those Acts; the Local Laws made under the Local
Government Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2020; and any other Act, Regulation
or delegated legislation (including the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme) which relates
to the powers of the Council made under the provisions and enactments described. This
instrument enables the following Council officer to carry out the statutory responsibilities
of the above Acts and is subject to policy and delegations previously adopted by Council:

Heidi Blundy

An Instrument of Appointment of Authorised Officer under the provisions of the Local
Government Act 1989, the Local Government Act 2020, the Heritage Act 2017, the
Infringements Act 2006, the Land Acquisitions and Compensation Act 1986, the Planning

4.

and Environment Act 1987, the SexWork Act 1994, the Subdivisions Act 1988, the Victorian
Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 1998 and the Regulations made under each of those
Acts; the Local Laws made under the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local
Government Act 2020; and any other Act, Regulation or delegated legislation (including
the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme) which relates to the powers of the Council
made under the provisions and enactments described. This instrument enables the following
Council officer to carry out the statutory responsibilities of the above Acts and is subject
to policy and delegations previously adopted by Council:

Qinglin Huang (known as Abbi Huang)

Recommendation

That the listed documents be signed and sealed.
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2.2 DOCUMENTS FOR TABLING
2.2.1 Documents for Tabling

qA228025File Id:

Manager GovernanceResponsible Officer:

Report Summary

Council receives various documents such as annual reports and minutes of committee meetings that
deal with a variety of issues that are relevant to the City.

These reports are tabled at Council Meetings and therefore brought to the attention of Council.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the listed items be received.
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List of Reports

TitleAuthor

Annual Report 2022Energy andWater Ombudsman

A copy of each report is made available at the Council meeting or by contacting the Governance Unit
on telephone 8571 5235.

Recommendation

That the listed items be received.
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2.2.2 Petitions and Joint Letters

qA228025File Id:

Manager GovernanceResponsible Officer:

Petitions and Joint LettersAttachments:

Report Summary

Council receives a number of petitions and joint letters on a regular basis that deal with a variety of
issues which have an impact upon the City.

Issues raised by petitions and joint letters will be investigated and reported back to Council if required.

A table containing all details relevant to current petitions and joint letters is provided in Attachment
1. It includes:

the full text of any petitions or joint letters received;1.

petitions or joint letters still being considered for Council response as pending a final
response along with the date they were received; and

2.

the final complete response to any outstanding petition or joint letter previously tabled
along with the full text of the original petition or joint letter and the date it was responded
to.

3.

Note: On occasions, submissions are received that are addressed to Councillors which
do not qualify as petitions or joint letters under Council’s current Governance Rules.
These are also tabled.
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Petitions and Joint Letters Tabled

Council received one new petition and two joint letters prior to the Council Meeting of 14 November
2022.

A petition has been received from 7 residents regarding a request for a light pole on the nature
strip of property 4 Hanleth Avenue, Springvale. This petition has been referred to the appropriate
Council Business unit/s for further action.
A joint letter has been received from 20 business owners requesting a review of parking
restrictions to the parallel parking area located between 175-235 Springvale Road, Springvale.
This joint letter has been referred to the appropriate Council Business unit/s for further action.

A further 16 signatures were provided to an existing joint letter titled “Safety concerns surrounding
Balmoral Avenue roundabout”. These additional signatures were provided to the Manager
Transport and Civil Development for response.

N.B: Where relevant, a summary of the progress of ongoing change.org petitions and any
other relevant petitions/joint letters/submissions will be provided in the attachment to this
report.

Recommendation

That this report and Attachment be received and noted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 

DOCUMENTS FOR TABLING 

PETITIONS AND JOINT LETTERS 

ATTACHMENT 1 

PETITIONS AND JOINT LETTERS 

PAGES 6 (including cover) 
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2.3 STATUTORY PLANNING APPLICATIONS
2.3.1 Town Planning Application - No. 143 Springvale Road, Springvale (Planning Application

No. PLN22/0138)

122395File Id:

Director City Planning Design & AmenityResponsible Officer:

Assessed PlansAttachments:

Location of Objectors

Clause 22 Assessment

Clause 52 Assessment

Clause 55 Assessment

1. Application Summary

Chung DaoApplicant:

Development of the land for four (4) double storey dwellings and
to alter access to a road in a Transport Zone 2

Proposal:

General Residential Zone, Schedule 3Zone:

Not applicableOverlay:

SpringvaleWard:

The application has been brought before Council because it has received two (2) objections.

The application proposed the development of the land for four (4) double storey dwellings and to alter
access to a road in a Transport Zone 2.

A permit is required pursuant to Clause 32.08-6 (General Residential Zone (GRZ)) of the Greater
Dandenong Planning Scheme to construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

A permit is also required pursuant to Clause 52.29-2 (Land Adjacent to the Principal Road Network)
to alter access to a road in a Transport Zone 2.
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2. Objectors Summary

The application was advertised to the surrounding area through the erection of a notice on-site and
the mailing of notices to adjoining and surrounding owners and occupiers. Two (2) objections were
received to the application. Issues raised generally relate to matters of:

Overdevelopment and neighbourhood character
Traffic, car parking and on street impacts
Overlooking
Overshadowing
Noise impacts
Vegetation loss
Walls close to boundaries
Items mis-labelled on proposed plans
Damage to adjoining properties during construction

3. Assessment Summary

The proposal has been assessed against the relevant requirements of the Greater Dandenong
Planning Scheme and is considered appropriate for the site. The subject site, within an established
residential area, is well suited for a development of four (4) double storey dwellings given the site is
within walking distance of many community facilities and public transport, as well as its high level of
compliance with Clause 55 (Two (2) or more dwellings on a lot) and Clause 22.09 (Residential
Development and Neighbourhood Character).

The development is considered to be respectful of the existing and preferred neighbourhood character
by providing sufficient setbacks from the side and rear boundaries to allow for reasonable landscaping
to occur, subject to conditions. The linear design has provided well-articulated first floor footprints
from side and rear boundaries of the site to reduce the building bulk and protect adjoining sensitive
interfaces. Additionally, the separation provided between dwellings one and two at first floor, lessens
the visual appearance of the double storey form when viewed from the streetscape and adjoining
residential properties.

4. Recommendation Summary

As assessed, officers consider this proposal to be generally compliant with all of the relevant provisions
of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. All grounds of objection have been considered, and
Council officers are of the view that on balance, the proposal’s degree of compliance with the Planning
Scheme justifies that the application should be supported. Therefore, it is recommended that a Notice
of Decision (which provides appeal rights to objectors) to grant a permit be issued subject to the
conditions as set out in the recommendation.

If the application was to be appealed to VCAT, it is the officer’s view that it is highly likely that VCAT
would also issue a planning permit for this proposal.

17

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

2.3.1 Town Planning Application - No. 143 Springvale Road, Springvale (Planning Application No.
PLN22/0138) (Cont.)



5. Subject Site and Surrounds
Subject Site

The subject site is a predominantly rectangular shaped allotment located on the eastern side of
Springvale Road within a residential area of Springvale.

The lot has a frontage of 15.24 metres connecting to Springvale Road, a depth of 45.72 metres
and an overall site area of 696 square metres.
The subject site contains a single storey weatherboard dwelling with an attached carport.
Access to the site is via a single width crossover to the western frontage, located adjacent to
the southern boundary.
The subject site slopes down from the west to the east with an approximate 1.5-2 metre fall
away from Springvale Road.
The site has dense, non-significant vegetation present to the front and rear of the existing
dwelling.
No easements are present on site.

Surrounding Area

The surrounding land within Springvale Road and adjoining streets is zoned General Residential
Zone – Schedule 3, with an Industrial 1 Zone located approximately 48 metres to the east of the
subject site.
Existing development within the immediate area consists of a mixture of single and double storey
dwellings with older housing stock slowly being replaced with multi-dwelling developments,
predominantly double storey in height.
The residential properties that directly abut the subject site to the north and south consist of one
(1) single storey dwelling on the lot with a detached garage and single width crossover connecting
to Springvale Road.
The residential property located opposite the subject site (110) Springvale Road consists of one
single storey dwelling on a lot with an attached garage.
A planning permit for four (4) double storey dwellings was recently issued on 4 October 2022
at the adjoining property to the south (145 Springvale Road), the design and layout of which is
practically identical to the current proposal.
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Locality Plan
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6. Background
Previous Applications

A search of Council records revealed no previous planning applications have been considered for
the subject site.

7. Proposal

The application proposes the development of four (4) double storey dwellings and to alter access to
a road in a Transport Zone 2.

The dwellings are sited in a linear configuration with a single width crossover and accessway running
along the southern boundary of the site. The dwellings are attached with a connected built form at
the ground floor. At the first floor, Dwellings One and Two are detached towards the front and centre
of the site, whilst Dwellings Three and Four present as an attached built form towards the rear of the
site.
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At ground floor, each dwelling contains an entry, a water closet, laundry cupboards (except for Dwelling
Two, which features a laundry cupboard at first floor), an open living / kitchen / dining area and primary
secluded private open space areas with direct access from a living area. At first floor, Dwelling One
consists of three (3) bedrooms, two (2) bathrooms and a retreat area, Dwelling Two and Four consists
of three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms, and Dwelling Three consists of two (2) bedrooms and
two (2) bathrooms.

Multi dwellingsType of proposal

Four (4)Number of dwellings

Double storeyLevels

The proposed development would have a maximum building height of
7.694m

Height

Springvale RoadOrientated to

Render cladding / Brickwork / WeatherboardExternal materials

Minimum setback distances as follows:Minimum setbacks
(encompasses all
dwellings) Ground Floor

East (rear)S o u t h
(side)

North (side)W e s t
(frontage)

Dwelling

Adjoining
Dwelling 2

4.18metresWall on
boundary

5 metres1

Adjoining
Dwelling 4

4.4 metres3.26 metresAdjoining
Dwelling 1

2

3.41metresWall on
boundary

Adjoining
Dwelling 4

34.1 metres3

4.51metresAdjoining
Dwelling 3

Wall on
boundary

Adjoining
Dwelling 2

4

Upper Floor

East (rear)S o u t h
(side)

North (side)W e s t
(frontage)

Dwelling

2.025
metres (to
Dwelling 2)

4.3 metres2.78 metres5.12 metres1
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2.57metres
(to Dwelling

4)

4.54metres3.21 metres2.025 metres
(to Dwelling 1)

2

4.47metres1.72metresAdjoining
Dwelling 4

33.8 metres3

4.47metresAdjoining
Dwelling 3

1.72 metres2.57 metres
(to Dwelling 2)

4

Ground floor private open space as follows:Private open space

Dwelling One

A total area of 80.7 square metres provided to the front, and side of the
dwelling, including a secluded private open space area of 25.4 square
metres with a minimum dimension of 3 metres and convenient access
from a living area.

Dwelling Two

A total area of 40 square metres provided to the front, side and rear of the
dwelling, including a secluded private open space area of 25.8 square
metres with a minimum dimension of 3 metres and convenient access
from a living area.

Dwelling Three

A total area of 40.1 square metres provided to the front and rear of the
dwelling, including a secluded private open space area of 32.8 square
metres with a minimum dimension of 3 metres and convenient access
from a living area.

Dwelling Four

A total area of 40.1 square metres provided to the side and rear of the
dwelling, including a secluded private open space area of 25.8 square
metres with a minimum dimension of 3 metres and convenient access
from a living area.

Dwellings 1, 2 & 4: Three (3) bedrooms per dwellingNo. of Bedrooms

Dwelling 3: Two (2) bedrooms
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A total of seven (7) car parking spaces are provided.Number of Car parking
Spaces provided

One (1) car parking space is required for each one (1) or two (2) bedroom
dwelling and two (2) car parking spaces are required for each three (3) or
more bedroom dwelling.

Number of Car parking
Spaces required

A total of seven (7) car parking spaces are provided in the form of double
garages provided to Dwellings 1, 2 and 4, and a single car garage to
Dwelling 3.

The number of car spaces provided complies with Clause 52.06 (Car
parking).

Double garages provided to Dwellings 1, 2 and 4, and a single car garage
to Dwelling 3.

Type of car parking

Access is proposed via one (1) single width crossover to Springvale Road,
located to the south-west of the development.

Access

The crossover has a minimum width of 3 metres.

No front fence is proposed.Front Fence

The proposed development is exempt from the minimum garden area
requirement pursuant to the General Residential Zone – Schedule 3.

Garden area required

The details of the proposal are as follows:

A copy of the submitted plans is included as Attachment 1.

8. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

9. Financial Implications

No financial resources are impacted by this report.
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10. Planning Scheme and Policy Frameworks

Pursuant to the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, a planning permit is required:

Pursuant to Clause 32.08-6 to construct two (2) or more dwellings on a lot.
Pursuant to Clause 52.29-2 to alter access to a road in a Transport Zone 2.

The relevant controls and policies are as follows:

Zoning Controls

The subject site is located in a General Residential Zone, Schedule 3, as is the surrounding area.

The purpose of the General Residential Zone outlined at Clause 32.08 is:

To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.
To encourage development that respects the neighbourhood character of the area.
To encourage a diversity of housing types and housing growth particularly in locations offering
good access to services and transport.
To allow educational, recreational, religious, community and a limited range of other
non-residential uses to serve local community needs in appropriate locations.

Pursuant to Clause 32.08-6, a permit is required to construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

An application to construct two (2) or more dwellings on a lot must meet all the relevant requirements
of Clause 55.

Overlay Controls

No overlays affect the subject site or surrounding area.
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Planning Policy Framework

The Operation of the Planning Policy Framework outlined at Clause 10 seeks to ensure that the
objectives of planning in Victoria are fostered through appropriate land use and development planning
policies and practices which integrate relevant environmental, social and economic factors in the
interests of net community benefit and sustainable development. The objectives of Planning in Victoria
are noted as:

(a) To provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land.

(b) To provide for the protection of natural and man-made resources and the maintenance of ecological
processes and genetic diversity.

(c)To secure a pleasant, efficient and safe working, living and recreational environment for all Victorians
and visitors to Victoria.

(d) To conserve and enhance those buildings, areas or other places which are of scientific, aesthetic,
architectural or historical interest, or otherwise of special cultural value.

(e) To protect public utilities and other facilities for the benefit of the community.

(f) To facilitate development in accordance with the objectives set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d)
and (e).

(g) To balance the present and future interests of all Victorians.

In order to achieve those objectives, there are a number of more specific objectives contained within
the State Planning Policy Framework that need to be considered under this application.

Clause 11 Settlement states that planning is to anticipate and respond to the needs of existing and
future communities through provision of zoned and serviced land for housing, amongst others.
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Managing growth is the focus of Clause 11.02 which includes an objective that aims to ensure a
sufficient supply of land is available for residential development, which is relevant to the current
application.

Clause 15 Built environment and heritage seeks to ensure that planning achieves high quality
urban design and architecture that meets a number of objectives. The following objectives are of
relevance to the current application:

To create urban environments that are safe, healthy, functional and enjoyable and that contribute
to a sense of place and cultural identity.
To achieve building design outcomes that contribute positively to the local context and enhance
the public realm.
To recognise, support and protect neighbourhood character, cultural identity, and sense of place.
To encourage land use and development that is energy and resource efficient, supports a cooler
environment and minimises greenhouse gas emissions.

Housing is the focus of Clause 16 and includes the following provisions:

To facilitate well-located, integrated and diverse housing that meets community needs.
To deliver more affordable housing closer to jobs, transport and services.

There are a number of objectives of relevance to the current application under Clause 18 Transport
including the following:

To create a safe and sustainable transport system by integrating land-use and transport.
To promote the use of sustainable personal transport.
To integrate planning for cycling with land use and development planning and encourage as
alternative modes of travel.
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Local Planning Policy Framework

The Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) includes the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) and
Local Policies.

The MSS is contained within Clause 21 of the Scheme. The MSS at Clause 21.02 focuses on the
Municipal Profile, within which the following is noted:

There is considerable diversity within Greater Dandenong’s housing stock. Most housing stock
is between 30 to 50 years old, though there are some areas with dwellings in excess of 100
years old. Areas of newer housing are located in the north-east and central southern areas, with
in-fill development occurring across the municipality (Clause 21.02-3).
Higher density housing is generally located in proximity to railway stations and major shopping
centres, in particular in central Dandenong (Clause 21.02-3).
Whilst there is a clear pre-dominance of single detached dwellings, there are a range of other
types of dwellings including dual occupancies, villa-units, town houses and apartments. The
highest concentration of older villa units and apartments and more recent multi-unit
redevelopments have occurred around central Dandenong, Springvale and Noble Park activity
centres (Clause 21.02-4).
With diverse cultural groups that call Greater Dandenong home, there are certain distinct precincts
that are emerging that have their own character. Their built form is characterised by buildings
with flat unarticulated facades, prominent balconies, limited frontage/side setbacks, limited or
no landscaping (Clause 21.02-4).

A Vision for Greater Dandenong is outlined at Clause 21.03. The vision is that Greater Dandenong
will be a municipality where housing diversity and choice is promoted in its various attractive
neighbourhoods.

The objectives and strategies of the MSS are under four (4) main themes including: land use; built
form; open space and natural environment; and, infrastructure and transportation (considered
individually under Clauses 21.04 to 21.07). Of particular relevance to this application are Clauses
21.04 – Land Use and 21.05 – Built Form:
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Clause 21.04-1 Housing and community

Greater Dandenong’s population is expected to rise by 22 percent, from 147,000 to 179,000 in
the decade to 2024, placing pressure on transport networks, infrastructure, services and public
open space.
Approximately 9,950 new households will need to be accommodated across the municipality by
2024 (Greater Dandenong Housing Strategy 2014-2024).
Supporting urban consolidation and providing housing in existing areas close to activity centres
means that people do not need to travel as far to work, shop or to take part in sports/leisure
activities thus reducing the environmental impacts of transport.
Increases in housing density must be balanced by adequate provision of open space, good
urban design and improvements to the public realm.
Encourage the provision of housing that is adaptable to support the needs of the changing needs
of present and future residents.
Encourage innovative redevelopment and renewal of deteriorating housing stock and older styled
higher-density apartments and multi-unit developments.
Encourage new residential development that incorporates adequate space for the planting and
the long term viability and safe retention of canopy trees.
Respecting the valued, existing neighbourhood character within incremental and minimal change
areas.
Requiring medium-density developments to be site and locality responsive and to respect existing
and proposed neighbourhood character.

Clause 21.05-1 – Urban design, character, streetscapes and landscapes – contains the following
relevant objectives and strategies:

To facilitate high quality building design and architecture.

Ensure building design is consistent with the identified future character of an area and fully
integrates with surrounding environment.
Encourage high standards of building design and architecture, which allows for flexibility
and adaptation in use.
Encourage innovative architecture and building design.

To facilitate high quality development, which has regard for the surrounding environment and
built form.
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Promote views of high quality landscapes and pleasing vistas from both the public and
private realm.
Promote all aspects of character – physical, environmental, social and cultural.
Encourage planting and landscape themes, which complement and improve the environment.
Encourage developments to provide for canopy trees.
Recognising valued existing neighbourhood character and promoting identified future
character as defined in the Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character Policy
at Clause 22.09.

To protect and improve streetscapes

Ensure that new developments improve streetscapes through generous landscape setbacks
and canopy tree planting.
Ensure landscaping within private property that complements and improves the streetscapes
and landscaping of public areas.

To ensure landscaping that enhances the built environment

Encourage new developments to establish a landscape setting, which reflects the local and
wider landscape character.
Encourage landscaping that integrates canopy trees and an appropriate mix of shrubs and
ground covers and complements and integrates with existing or proposed landscaping in
public areas.

Clause 22.09 – Residential Development & Neighbourhood Character Policy – contains the
following objectives at Clause 22.09-2:

To guide the location and design of different types of residential development within Greater
Dandenong, having regard to State and local planning policies, while respecting the valued
characteristics and identified future character of residential neighbourhoods.
To ensure that new residential development is consistent with the identified future character and
preferred built form envisaged for the three Future Change Areas.
To provide certainty about which areas are identified for, or protected from, increased residential
development consistent with the purpose of the applicable zone.
To facilitate high quality, well designed residential development and on-site landscaping.
To promote a range of housing types to accommodate the future needs of the municipality’s
changing population.
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To ensure that residential development uses innovative, responsive and functional siting and
design solutions that:

Achieve high quality internal amenity and private open space outcomes for future residents;
Make a positive contribution to the streetscape through quality design, contextual
responsiveness and visual interest;
Promote public realm safety by maximising passive surveillance.
Demonstrate responsiveness to the site, adjoining interfaces, streetscape and landscape
context;
Respect the amenity of adjoining residents and the reasonable development potential of
adjoining properties;
Achieve environmentally sustainable design outcomes;
Use quality, durable building materials that are integrated into the overall building form and
façade; and
Minimise the visual dominance of vehicle accessways and storage facilities, such as garages,
car ports and basement entrances.

Clause 22.09-3.1 (Design Principles) provides design principles, which apply to all Future Change
Areas.

Clause 22.09-3.3 provides design principles to sites within the Incremental Change Areas (General
Residential Zones).

It is policy to:

Ensure that new development respects the neighbourhood character of the area and considers
the identified future character.
Provide a transition in built form and density at the interface with the Substantial Change areas
(zoned RGZ) or Activity Centres (zoned Commercial/Mixed Use/Comprehensive Development
Zone).
Achieve a transition in built form from the Incremental Change areas (zoned GRZ) to the
surrounding Limited Change areas (zoned NRZ).
Support future housing density at a lower intensity than in Substantial Change Areas, but a
higher intensity than in Limited Change Areas.
Encourage consolidation of allotments to increase development potential and achieve improved
design outcomes.
Apply the following Design Principles for all residential developments, in addition to those at
Clause 22.09-3.1:

The proposed development is generally in accordance with the requirements of Clause 22.09 of the
Scheme, subject to conditions.

An assessment against Clause 22.09 is included as Attachment 3 to this report.
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Particular Provisions

Car Parking (Clause 52.06)

The purposes of this provision, Clause 52.06, are:

To ensure that car parking is provided in accordance with the State Planning Policy Framework
and Local Planning Policy Framework.
To ensure the provision of an appropriate number of car parking spaces having regard to the
demand likely to be generated, the activities on the land and the nature of the locality.
To support sustainable transport alternatives to the motor car.
To promote the efficient use of car parking spaces through the consolidation of car parking
facilities.
To ensure that car parking does not adversely affect the amenity of the locality.
To ensure that the design and location of car parking is of a high standard, creates a safe
environment for users and enables easy and efficient use.

The table at Clause 52.06-5 notes that a dwelling with three (3) or more bedrooms requires two (2)
spaces to each dwelling. The site is within the Principle Public Transport Network area map.

A total of four (7) car parking spaces are required.

The proposal would provide two (2) car parking spaces to Dwelling 1, 2 and 4 given at least three (3)
bedrooms are provided to each. One (1) car parking space is provided to Dwelling 3 given it is
proposed to have two (2) bedrooms.

No visitor car space is required as the proposed development is not for five (5) or more dwellings
and the subject site is located with the Principal Public Transport Network Area. No visitor bays have
been provided.

The number of car spaces provided for the residents comply with Clause 52.06 (Car parking).

Car parking is to be designed in accordance with the requirements of Clause 52.06-9 of the Scheme.

An assessment against Clause 52.06 is included as Attachment 4 to this report.

31

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

2.3.1 Town Planning Application - No. 143 Springvale Road, Springvale (Planning Application No.
PLN22/0138) (Cont.)



Land Adjacent to the Principal (Clause 52.29)

Pursuant to Clause 52.29 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, the provisions of this Clause
apply to an application where the subject land is adjacent to a road in the Transport Zone 2 and the
creation or alteration of access to this road is proposed.

The purposes of this clause are:

To ensure appropriate access to the Principal Road Network or land planned to form part of the
Principal Road Network.
To ensure appropriate subdivision of land adjacent to Principal Road Network or land planned
to form part of the Principal Road Network.

Pursuant to Clause 52.29-4 which states that ‘an application must be referred under Section 55 of
the Act to the person or body specified as the referral authority in clause 66.03’, the proposal was
referred to the Head, Transport for Victoria, who had no objections to the proposal, subject to
conditions.

The application was also referred to Council’s Transport Planning Department who had no objections
to the proposal, subject to conditions.

Two or more dwellings on a lot (Clause 55)

Pursuant to Clause 55 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, the provisions of this Clause
apply to an application:

To construct two (2) or more dwellings on a lot.

The purposes of this clause are:

To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.
To achieve residential development that respects the existing neighbourhood character or which
contributes to a preferred neighbourhood character.
To encourage residential development that provides reasonable standards of amenity for existing
and new residents.
To encourage residential development that is responsive to the site and the neighbourhood.

A development:

Must meet all of the objectives of this clause.
Should meet all of the standards of this clause
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If a zone or a schedule to a zone specified a requirement of a standard different from a requirement
set out in this clause, the requirement in the zone or a schedule to the zone applies.

An assessment against Clause 55 is included as Attachment 5 to this report.

General Provisions

Clause 65 – Decision Guidelines needs to be considered, as is the case with all applications. For this
application the requirements of Clause 65.01 for the approval of an application or plan is of relevance.
This Clause outlines the requirements that the responsible authority must consider when determining
the application.

11. Restrictive Covenants

There are no restrictive covenants or Section 173 agreements on title.

12. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic Objectives, Strategies
and Plans

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. In accordance with the commitment in Council’s Annual Plan, all applications are
considered on their merits.

13. Diversity (Access & Equity)

It is not considered that the proposal raises any diversity issues affecting the planning assessment
of this application.

14. Community Safety

It is considered that there would be no adverse community safety implications in permitting the
proposal subject to strict conditions on any planning permit issued.

15. Safe Design Guidelines

Consideration of the relevant requirements of these Guidelines has been undertaken within the
Assessment of this application.
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16. Referrals
External

Pursuant to Section 55 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, the application was externally
referred to:

ResponseDepartment

No objections, subject to conditions.Head, Transport for Victoria

Internal

The application was internally referred to the following Council departments for their consideration.
The comments provided will be considered in the assessment of the application.

ResponseDepartment

No objections, subject to conditions on permitCivil Development

No objections, subject to conditions on permitTransport Planning

No objections, subject to conditions on permitESD/Sustainability

No objections, subject to conditions on permitArborist

17. Advertising

The application has been advertised pursuant to Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987, by:

Sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining and surrounding land.
Placing a sign on site facing Springvale Road.

The notification has been carried out correctly.

Council has received two (2) objections to date.

The location of the objectors / submitters is shown in Attachment 2.

18 Consultation

A consultative meeting was not held as the minimum four (4) objections trigger for a consultative
meeting was not met.
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19. Summary of Grounds of Submissions/Objections

The objections are summarised below (bold), followed by the Town Planner’s Response (in italics).

Overdevelopment and neighbourhood character
The proposal of four (4) double storey dwellings is considered to be in keeping with the local
policy of Clause 22.09 Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character for a 696sqm
site located within an Incremental Change Area, which supports medium density development.
As the proposal has accommodated each dwelling with an appropriate response to areas of
open space, setbacks and landscaping, it is considered that the subject site is suitable for this
type of development and the proposal is not an overdevelopment of the site and respects the
preferred neighbourhood character.

The site is also located within the General Residential Zone – Schedule 3 (GRZ3), which supports
double storey to the rear of sites within a broader context than either the GRZ1 or GRZ2, as
proposed in this development. Given the overall compliance with the Greater Dandenong Planning
Scheme, it is considered that a development of this type and size is suitable for the site.

Traffic, car parking and on street impacts

The proposal complies with Clause 52.06 (Car parking) of the Greater Dandenong Planning
Scheme. Clause 52.06 requires seven (7) car parking spaces to be provided on site, and seven
(7) have been provided via three double garages and a single car garage. All of the required
on-site car parking spaces have been provided in accordance with Clause 52.06 and the proposal
complies with the design principles to Clause 52.06-9 with respect to on-street parking. Access
to the site is considered appropriate, providing a single crossover with visibility lines for safe entry
and exit of the site.

The application was referred to Council’s internal Transport Planning department who raised no
objection to the proposal, subject to conditions. The application was also referred to the Head,
Transport for Victoria under Section 55 of the Act, who had no objections to the proposal, subject
to conditions.

Overlooking
An objector has stated they are concerned with the overlooking/loss of privacy potential of the
development. All proposed habitable room windows with overlooking potential feature highlight
windows or obscured glazing up to 1.7 metres above FFL and all boundary fencing is a minimum
of 1.8 metres high. As such the development complies with Standard B22 (Overlooking) and
any other related planning scheme requirements relating to the matter.
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Overshadowing
Concern has been raised regarding overshadowing from the proposed development to the
adjoining properties.

The test for overshadowing is set by Clause 55.04-5 – Standard B21 for overshadowing of open
space. An assessment of the shadow diagrams provided show that the secluded private open
space of all neighbouring properties would receive at least 75% sunlight to the secluded private
open space areas for the minimum of five (5) hours between 9 am and 3 pm on 22 September,
thus complying with Standard B21

Noise impacts
Concern has been raised regarding noise impacts from the construction of the proposed
development. Noise associated with the construction of multi dwellings is expected as part of
infill development and is not considered unreasonable in this context. All developments are also
required to meet the relevant EPA noise legislation.

Vegetation loss
Concern has been raised regarding vegetation loss from the proposed development. The subject
site is not covered by any form of vegetation protection overlay and no trees to be removed
require a planning permit. As demonstrated by the submitted landscape plan and as per conditions
recommended, the proposal will have a sufficient landscape outcome through planting of a
canopy tree in the rear yard of all dwellings as well as substantial landscaping in the front of the
site creating a positive landscape character.
The application was also referred to Council’s Bushland & Gardening Department who had no
objections to the proposal, subject to conditions. Recommended conditions include measures
to protect the public tree asset located on the Springvale Road frontage and mature tree along
rear boundary of site associated with Dwelling 3.

Walls close to boundaries
An objector (located on the abutting property to the north, at 141 Springvale Road) has raised
visual amenity concerns regarding the proposed Dwelling 4 garage being constructed on the
northern (side) boundary, directly abutting the existing garage on the neighbouring property.
They are concerned as to the appearance of the proposed garage wall when viewed from the
abutting property if they were to later demolish their garage.
A condition is to be placed on the recommended permit that reads as follows: ‘Before the approved
building is occupied, all boundary walls in the development must be constructed and finished to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority’, which would ensure that the finished garage would
reflect an acceptable level of visual amenity when viewed from the abutting property.
Another condition on the recommended permit reads as follows: ‘Average height of Dwelling 4
wall on boundary must be reduced to a maximum of 3.2 metres’ would ensure compliance with
Standard 18 Clause 55.04-2 Walls on boundary objective.
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Items mis-labelled on proposed plans
An objector has noted that the proposed plan set has mis-labelled garage associated with the
dwelling located on the abutting property to the north at 141 Springvale Road as a ‘brick shed’,
and incorrectly referred to neighbouring properties as being located upon ‘Wattle Street’ instead
of Springvale Road.
These errors are considered minor and would have no impact on the assessment or any
subsequent approval of the development and planning permit, however a condition has been
placed on the recommended permit to address the issue that reads as follows: ‘Brick shed’
located on the adjoining property at 141 Springvale Road re-labelled as ‘Brick Garage’.
The neighbouring properties that have been attributed incorrect addresses do not appear on
any of the plans that would be endorsed if the permit was to be issued. Therefore a condition is
not required to be placed on permit to rectify this.

Damage to adjoining properties during construction

An objector (located on the abutting property to the north, at 141 Springvale Road) has requested
a ‘documented photographic audit be undertaken of all infrastructure on the boundary between
our two properties, including condition of fences and gates, concrete driveway, nature strip and
garage, so that costs of damage and rectification will be correctly attributed to parties at fault
following completion of the project’.
This matter is outside of the considerations of this planning permit application, and would need
to be dealt with separately to the application currently under consideration.

20. Assessment

The subject site is located within an established residential area and is well suited for the development
of medium density housing given the site is within close proximity to major road networks, community
facilities and public transport. The proposal also seeks to reduce pressure on the urban fringe by
providing four (4) dwellings where previously one (1) existed through the redevelopment of the site,
thereby ensuring that the housing required for the growing population is facilitated.

Use

As outlined in Clause 32.08-2 (General Residential Zone), a dwelling is listed as a Section 1 use,
and a planning permit is not required for the use of the proposal. However, a planning permit is
required for the development of the land for two (2) or more dwellings, which is discussed below.
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Planning Policy Framework / Local Planning Policy Framework

In considering the Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework, Council
can establish that an acceptable proposal will be guided by:

Clause 22.09 Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character;
Clause 52.06 Car parking; and
Clause 55 Two (2) or more dwellings on a lot.

Each of these Clauses ensure that Council facilitates the orderly development of urban areas, which
is a specific objective of Clause 11.02 Settlement.

The objectives of Clause 15.01-1S Urban Design, Clause 15.01-2S Building Design and Clause
21.05-1 Built Form outline the key considerations in which a development must respond to urban
design, character, streetscapes and landscape issues.

It is considered that the proposed design response, respects the preferred neighbourhood character
of the incremental change area by providing four (4) double storey dwellings, which is a typology of
housing encouraged within the General Residential Zone – Schedule 3 area.

The overall layout allows space for compliant private and secluded private open space and appropriate
landscaping treatments such as canopy trees and shrub plantings within well-proportioned setback
areas to allow growth to maturity.

The proposal provides a high-quality urban design outcome with physical articulation, and well sited
setbacks from sensitive interfaces. The proposal’s high level of compliance with Clause 22.09, Clause
52.06 and Clause 55 ensures that the development achieves the objectives set out in Clause 15.01
and Clause 21.05-1.

As such, Council officers recommend that the application be approved subject to planning permit
conditions as necessary.

38

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

2.3.1 Town Planning Application - No. 143 Springvale Road, Springvale (Planning Application No.
PLN22/0138) (Cont.)



Clause 22.09 Assessment - Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character Policy

An assessment against the design principles of Clause 22.09 is included at Attachment 3 of this
report. This proposal provides a design response which is consistent with the preferred character
envisaged by Clause 22.09 with a site responsive built form respecting the prevailing existing character
and responding to the site circumstances and streetscape. The design solution has provided
well-articulated first floor footprints from side and rear boundaries of the site to reduce the building
bulk and protect adjoining sensitive interfaces.

Overall, the development has provided a response that respects the identified neighbourhood character
and considers the identified future character. The elements of the proposal that warrant further
discussion are as follows:

Double Storey to Rear Assessment

Whilst Dwellings 3 and 4 along the rear boundary are proposed to be double storey in form, it is
considered appropriate in this instance for the following reasons:

The site is located in the GRZ3, which supports double storey dwellings to the rear of sites. The
GRZ3 is different to the GRZ1 and GRZ2 in this respect - GRZ1/GRZ2 only support double
storey dwellings to the rear in limited scenarios, whereas the GRZ3 provides much broader
support for double storey to the rear proposals.
A proposal for four double storey dwellings (including a double storey to the rear component)
has recently been approved at the neighbouring site to the south, 145 Springvale Road, the
design solution of which mirrors the current proposal.
Separation is not required to be provided between dwellings at first floor for subject sites within
the GRZ3, provided that an appropriate design response has been achieved.
A laneway abuts the subject site to the rear, limiting the impact of the proposed double story
built form to the rear adjoining interface.
The proposed Dwellings 3 and 4 along the rear will not cause any overlooking or overshadowing
impacts to habitable room windows or areas of secluded private open space.
Suitable setbacks are provided along the side and rear site boundaries for landscaping purposes.

Clause 22.09-3.1 Materials & Finishes Design Principle

Avoid using materials such as rendered cement sheeting, unarticulated surfaces and repetitive
use of materials

The development’s first floor is proposed to primarily consist of cement render, with someweatherboard
elements. A condition will be placed on the recommended permit to increase the amount of
vertical/horizontal cladding used on the first floor across the development in order to limit the extent
of cement render proposed, better accentuate articulated elements and reduce the visual impact of
the development when viewed from the street and adjoining properties.
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Clause 22.09-3.1 Internal Amenity

The functional ground floor living spaces provided across the development are generally considered
to be appropriate. The floor plans provided have demonstrated that the living spaces are able to
accommodate standard furniture, and there is sufficient circulation and space provided for residents.
Furthermore, as Dwellings 2 and 4 are limited to three bedrooms and Dwelling 3 contains only two
bedrooms it is likely they will be occupied by smaller families or less residents that in turn do not
require larger living spaces than those proposed.

To further improve internal amenity, Condition 1.1 requires that the Dwelling One first floor retreat’s
southern wall (i.e. facing/along stairwell) be reduced to half height. This would allow the light provision
from the stairwell to be brought into the retreat area so that it better presents as a uniform space.
There is also the potential of the retreat to be converted into a fourth bedroom in its current format.
The limited space provided to the ground floor living area is not considered to be adequate to
accommodate a potential four bedroom household.

Condition 1.5 requires a highlight window/roof window/skylight to be provided to the Dwelling 4 first
floor east-facing bathroomwall, located to meet future fire-ratingmatters. This would have the additional
effect of providing better internal amenity to Dwelling 4 by introducing solar access to the southern
side of the first floor.

Clause 52.06 Assessment - Car Parking

The table at Clause 52.06-5 (Car parking – Number of car spaces required under Table 1) sets out
the car parking requirement that applies to the use of land for dwellings as follows:

One (1) car parking space to each one (1) or two (2) bedroom dwelling; and
Two (2) car parking spaces to each three (3) or more bedroom dwelling.

The site is within the Principle Public Transport Network area map.

A total of seven (7) car parking spaces are required for this proposal.

The proposal would provide two (2) car spaces to each three or more bedroom dwelling and one (1)
car space to each two bedroom dwelling, with a total of seven (7) spaces being provided.

No visitor car space is required or provided.

The number of car spaces provided complies with Clause 52.06 (Car parking).

The proposal complies with the Design Standards of Clause 52.06-9. A full Clause 52.06 assessment
is attached to this report at Attachment 4.
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Clause 55 Assessment - Two or more Dwellings on a lot and Residential Buildings

The proposal is generally consistent with all relevant standards and objectives of Clause 55, including
the variations set out in Schedule 3 to the General Residential Zone as detailed in Attachment 5, with
the exception of the following:

Standard B18 Walls on boundary

The height of a new wall constructed on or within 200 mm of a side or rear boundary or a carport
constructed on or within 1 metre of a side or rear boundary should not exceed an average of
3.2 metres with no part higher than 3.6 metres unless abutting a higher existing or simultaneously
constructed wall.

The Dwelling 3 and Dwelling 4 garage walls on boundary have an average height of 3.3 metres with
no part higher than 3.6 metres. This is considered to be a very minor variation, and a condition will
be placed on permit to limit the average height of these walls to 3.2 metres.

Standard B31 Design detail

The design of buildings, including

Façade articulation and detailing,
Window and door proportions
Roof form, and
Verandahs, eaves and parapets

Should respect the existing or preferred neighbourhood character.

A number of different materials have been proposed along the ground floor across the development,
including cement render, horizontal weatherboard cladding and brickwork.

A condition (see Condition 1.3) will be placed on permit to limit the ground floor material to brickwork
across the development to better respect the existing and preferred neighbourhood character.

A separate condition (see Condition 1.2) will be placed on permit to increase the size of the Dwelling
1 west facing living room windows. The provision of larger windows upon the proposed development’s
façade and intensifying the provision of landscaping within the front setback would allow the
development to better conform with the existing and preferred neighbourhood character when viewed
along the streetscape.
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Land Adjacent to the Principal Road Network

A permit is required under Clause 52.29-2 – Land Adjacent to the Principal Road Network, to alter
access to a road in a Transport Zone 2.

The proposal is considered to meet all the relevant decision guidelines of Clause 52.29 as
follows:

All relevant Clauses of the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework
have been considered, as appropriate.
The proposal has utilised existing road networks and proposes access/crossover upgrades to
increase functionality and safety.
The application was referred to the relevant road authority pursuant to Clause 52.29-4 (Referral
of Applications), which is the Head, Transport for Victoria in this instance.
Head, Transport for Victoria held no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions, ensuring
that the proposal is efficient and safe, as well as make the most of existing infrastructure by
improving existing road access.
The application was also referred to Council’s Transport and Civil Development departments
who held no objection to the proposal subject to conditions.

Environmentally Sustainable Development

The proposal complies with the requirements of Clause 22.06 by providing a Sustainable Design
Assessment (SDA), a Built Environment Sustainability Scorecard (BESS) and a Stormwater Calculation,
all completed by qualified professionals.

The provided BESS score complies with a score of 51% for best practice encompassing the full life
of the build and identifying the methods used for the best environmental performance outcome. Having
regard to the sites opportunities and restraints, the proposal has included the necessary water tanks,
and roof catchment areas, sufficient energy star ratings for fixtures, heating and cooling systems and
the addition of double-glazed habitable room windows.

The referral response from Council’s ESD team identified that the submitted plans should be amended
to include the following:

Any other measures associated with the revised Sustainable Design Assessment
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The ESD team also requested a revised SDA to include:

Submission of a preliminary energy efficiency (NatHERS) rating for a sample of dwelling types
that an energy efficiency rating beyond 6 stars. The assessment details must be included in the
appendix of the SDA.
Revised BESS assessment that includes:

The energy efficiency rating inputs included in the Energy Section of the BESS tool.
Revised IEQ section that removes claimed credit 2.2

Project Overall Score: 51%BESS Information
Summary

Design ExcellenceBest PracticeFail
Dwelling Type:
Non-residential (>70%)(50-69%)(<49%)

InitiativesScoreBESS
Category

To be revised0%Management

Preliminary energy rating (NatHERS) assessment to be undertaken

To be revised50%Water

Rainwater tank capacity of 2,000L per dwelling connected to:
Toilet flushing and laundry use

High WELS star rated water fittings, fixtures and appliances

Potable water consumption reduced by at least 45% compared to same
building following minimum standards

Pending confirmation50%Energy

Sample energy rating (NatHERS) to be undertaken -

High efficiency 5-star gas instantaneous hot water

Estimated greenhouse gas emissions reduced by at least 66% compared
to compared to same building following minimum standards

Pending confirmation100%Stormwater
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Stormwater design to meet best practice requirements though
incorporation of rainwater collection and re-use

80%Indoor
Environment
Quality

Double glazing to all habitable room windows

Living spaces oriented to the north

Design to promote natural cross flow ventilation

50%Transport

Space for bicycle parking in each dwelling garage

To be revised0%Waste

To be revised62%Urban
Ecology

20% of vegetated garden area

Individual vegetable garden plots of 1m2 per P.O.S

21. Conclusion

The proposal is consistent with the provisions of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, including
the zoning requirements, local policy direction, application of Clauses 22.09, 52.06 and 55, and the
decision guidelines of Clause 65.
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22. Recommendation

That Council resolves to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a permit in respect of the land
known and described as No. 143 Springvale Road, Springvale (Lot 5 PS 9322), for the
‘development of the land for four (4) double-storey dwellings and to alter access to a road
in a Transport Zone 2’ subject to the following conditions:

Before the development starts, amended plans to the satisfaction of the
Responsible Authority must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible
Authority. The amended plans must be generally in accordance with the plans
submitted and assessed with the application but modified to show:

1.

Dwelling 1’s first floor retreats’ southern wall (facing/along
stairwell) reduced to half height with notation provided;

1.1.

Dwelling 1 west facing living room window increased in size to
correspond with adjacent stairwell window;

1.2.

Ground floors across the development to be constructed using
exposed brickwork;

1.3.

An increase in the amount of vertical/horizontal cladding used on
the first floor across the development (all dwellings);

1.4.

A highlight window/roof window/skylight to Dwelling 4 first floor
east-facing bathroom wall, located to meet future fire-rating
matters;

1.5.

Average height of Dwellings 3 and 4 walls on boundary reduced
to a maximum of 3.2 metres;

1.6.

‘Brick shed’ located on the adjoining property at 141 Springvale
Road re-labelled as ‘Brick Garage’;

1.7.

Re-location of storage shed associated with Dwelling 3 outside of
the primary area of secluded private space (see Condition 2.9);

1.8.
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Any othermeasures associatedwith the revised Sustainable Design
Assessment (see Condition 5);

1.9.

Landscape plans in accordance with Condition 2.1.10.

All residential developments must have materials and finishes.

When approved, these plans will be endorsed and will form part
of this permit.

Before the approved development starts, and before any trees or vegetation
are removed, an amended landscape plan to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority.

2.

The amended landscape planmust be prepared by a person or firmwith suitable
qualifications to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority, drawn to scale
with dimensions. The amended landscape planmust be generally in accordance
with the landscape plan submitted with the application but modified to show:

plans to accord with Condition 1 of this permit;2.1.

the site at a scale of 1:100/200, including site boundaries, existing
and proposed buildings, neighbouring buildings, car parking,
access and exit points, indicative topography and spot levels at
the site corners, existing and proposed vegetation, nature strip
trees, easements and landscape setbacks;

2.2.

details of the proposed layout, type and height of fencing;2.3.

legend of all plant types, surfaces, materials and landscape items
to be used including the total areas of garden and lawn;

2.4.

a plant schedule giving a description of botanical name, common
name, mature height and spread, pot size, purchase height (if a
tree) and individual plant quantities;

2.5.

At least one (1) advanced canopy tree with a minimum planting
height of 1.5 metres and a minimum mature height of 8 metres
within the rear secluded open space areas of each dwelling;

2.6.
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Improved landscaping to the front of Dwelling 1, including at least
two (2) advanced canopy trees with a planting height of 1.5 metres
and a minimum mature height of 8 metres, and intensified
shrubbery in front of the Dwelling 1 kitchen area;

2.7.

Landscaping designs must use tree species from the Medium- or
Large-tree categories of the City of Greater Dandenong’s Tree
Selection and Planting guidelines. All tree stockmust comply with
AS 2303:2018 Tree stock for landscape use;

2.8.

Revised landscape plan to show the retention of ‘Tree 5’;2.9.

Improved landscaping along the southern boundary adjacent to
accessway;

2.10.

Any paving or deck areas within the secluded open space area of
the proposed dwelling on a permeable base.

2.11.

When approved, the amended landscape plan will be endorsed
and will form part of this permit.

The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the
landscape plan must be implemented, maintained and complied
with to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

Landscaping in accordance with the endorsed landscaping plan
and schedule must be completed before the building is occupied.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the layout
of the land and the size, design and location of the buildings andworks permitted
must always accord with the endorsed plan andmust not be altered ormodified.

3.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the approved
building must not be occupied until all buildings and works and the conditions
of this permit have been complied with.

4.
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Prior to the endorsement of plans under Condition 1, the applicant is to submit
a revised Sustainable Design Assessment (SDA) to the satisfaction of the
Responsible Authority. The revised SDA must include:

5.

Submission of a preliminary energy efficiency (NatHERS) rating
for a sample of dwelling types that an energy efficiency rating
beyond 6 stars. The assessment details must be included in the
appendix of the SDA.

5.1.

Revised BESS assessment that includes:5.2.

The energy efficiency rating inputs included in the
Energy Section of the BESS tool.

5.2.1.

Revised IEQ section that removes claimed credit 2.2.5.2.2.

The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the
endorsed SDAmust be complied with from design to construction.
No alterations to the endorsed SDA can occur without prior written
consent from the Responsible Authority.

Prior to the commencement of any buildings and/or works approved by this
permit, temporary fencingmust be erected around the public tree asset located
on the Springvale Road frontage (Tree 1), to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority and must:

6.

Exclude access and construction activity within the permeable
nature strip areas of the TPZ (7.2 m radius);

6.1.

Have a minimum height of 1.8 metres and comply with Australian
Standard AS 4687 Temporary fencing and hoardings;

6.2.

Not prevent the use of the road or footpath;6.3.

Remain in place until all buildings and/or works are completed,
unless with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority.

6.4.
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All construction activities that are within the TPZs of public tree assets and
neighbouring trees (Trees 1 and 5) must be under the supervision of aminimum
AQF Level 5 Arborist.

7.

Provision must be made for the drainage of the site including landscaped and
pavement areas, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

8.

The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the LPD must be to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. Collected stormwater must be
retained onsite and discharged into the drainage system at pre-development

9.

peak discharge rates as stated in the LPD approval letter. Approval of the
drainage plan including any retention system within the property boundary is
required.

Before the approved building is occupied, all piping and ducting above the
ground floor storey of the building, except downpipes, must be concealed to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

10.

Standard concrete vehicular crossing/smust be constructed to suit the proposed
driveway/s in accordancewith the Council's standard specifications. Any vehicle
crossing no longer required must be removed and the land, footpath and kerb
and channel reinstated, to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

11.

Letterboxes and all other structures (including visually obstructive fencing and
landscaping) must be constructed to a maximum height of 900mm or relocated
clear of a splayed area (2m x 2.5m) along the frontage road at access points in
accordance with Dandenong Planning Scheme Clause 52.06-9.

12.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, floor levels
shown on the endorsed plan/s must not be altered or modified.

13.

Before the approved building is occupied, the development must be provided
with external lighting capable of illuminating access to each garage, car parking
space and pedestrian walkway. Lightingmust be located, directed and shielded
to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority so as to prevent any adverse
effect outside the land.

14.
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Before the approved building is occupied, the obscure glazing to the windows
shown on the endorsed plans must be provided through frosted glass or
similarly treated glass to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. Adhesive
film or similar removable material must not be used.

15.

All glazingmust at all times bemaintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Before the approved building is occupied, the privacy screens and other
measures to prevent overlooking as shown on the endorsed plans must be
installed to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

16.

All privacy screens and other measures to prevent overlooking as shown on
the endorsed plans must at all times be maintained to the satisfaction of the
Responsible Authority.

Before the approved building is occupied, all boundary walls in the development
must be constructed, cleaned and finished to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

17.

The existing access crossover must be updated to the satisfaction of the
Responsible Authority and at no cost to the Head, Transport for Victoria.

18.

Vehicles must enter and exit the land in a forward direction at all times.19.

End of Department of Transport Conditions

This permit will expire if:20.

The development or any stage of it does not start within two (2)
years of the date of this permit, or

20.1.

The development or any stage of it is not completed within four
(4) years of the date of this permit.

20.2.

Before the permit expires or within six (6) months afterwards the owner or
occupier of the landmay in writing request the Responsible Authority to extend
the expiry date.
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The owner or occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible
Authority to extend the expiry date to complete the development or a stage of
the development if:

the request for the extension is made within twelve (12) months
after the permit expires; and

(a)

the development or stage started lawfully before the permit expired(b)

Permit Notes

A drainage plan approval fee is to be paid to Council prior to the issue of
approved drainage plans. Please contact the Civil Development department
for the current schedule of fees.

A BuildingApproval is required prior to the commencement of the approved
development. This planning permit does not constitute any building
approval.

Approval of any retention system within the property boundary is required
by the relevant building surveyor.

Before commencement of the development occurs, the applicant should
contact the City of Greater Dandenong’s Civil Development and Design
Unit regarding legal point of discharge, new crossings, building over
easements, etc.

As this is an established site, the proposed internal drainage should be
connected to the existing legal point of discharge. The applicant may apply
for local drainage information, if available; otherwise on site verification
should be undertaken by the applicant.

Access to the site and any associated roadwork must be constructed, all
to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. Note any redundant vehicle
crossing will need to be removed and reinstate with kerb in accordance
with Council Standards. Vehicle crossing will need to be removed and
reinstate with kerb in accordance with Council Standards.

A Vehicle Crossing Permit must be obtained from Council for all vehicular
crossings prior to construction of the crossings. The existing vehicle
crossing must be reconstructed to Council standard.

Any works undertaken within the road reservation and easements will
require the developer to obtain a Civil Works Permit from Council.
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Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an Asset
Protection Permit from Council.

Department of Transport Note/s

The proposed development requiresworkswithin the road reserve. Separate
approval under the Road Management Act 2004 for this activity is required
from the Head, Transport for Victoria. Please contact the Department of
Transport (Roads) prior to commencing any works.
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STATUTORY PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

TOWN PLANNING APPLICATION - NO. 143 SPRINGVALE ROAD, 
SPRINGVALE {PLANNING APPLICATION NO. PLN22/0138) 

ATTACHMENT 1 

ASSESSED PLANS 

PAGES 8 {including cover) 

If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
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Clause 22.09-3.1 Design Principles for all residential developments 
Title & 
Objective 

Standard (Summarised) Standard Met/Standard Not Met/NA 

Safety To encourage the provision of safer residential neighbourhoods, new development should enable passive 
surveillance through designs that: 

Incorporate active frontages including ground floor habitable 
room windows. 

 Principle met 
Dwelling 1 features two habitable room 
ground floor windows (kitchen and 
living room) facing Springvale Road. 

Maximise the number of habitable room windows on all levels 
of residential buildings that overlook the public realm, streets, 
laneways, internal access ways and car parking areas. 

 Principle met 
 

Use semi-transparent fences to the street frontage.  Principle met 
No front fence is proposed. 

Light communal spaces including main entrances and car 
parking areas with high mounted sensor-lights. 

 Principle met 
High-mounted sensor lights are located 
within car parking areas. 

Ensure that all main entrances are visible and easily 
identifiable from the street. 

 Principle met 
All main entrances are visible and 
easily identifiable from the street or 
internal accessway. 

Locate non-habitable rooms such as bathrooms, away from 
entrances and street frontage. 

 Principle met 
Non-habitable rooms such as 
bathrooms are generally located away 
from entrances. 

Landscaping Residential development should: 

Provide substantial, high quality on-site landscaping, including 
screen planting and canopy trees along ground level front and 
side and rear boundaries. 

 Principle met  
A landscaping plan has been provided 
demonstrating substantial, high quality 
on site landscaping including canopy 
trees, along the ground level front, side 
and rear boundaries, subject to 
condition 1 and 2 amendments. 

Provide substantial, high quality landscaping along vehicular 
accessways. 

 Principle met  
An amended landscaping plan subject 
to condition 1 and 2 amendments is to 
be provided to demonstrate 
substantial, high quality landscaping 
along the vehicular accessway. 

Include the planting of at least one substantial canopy tree to 
each front setback and ground level secluded private open 
space area. 

 Principle met 
Two canopy trees have been provided 
within the front setback  and one within 
each SPOS area as per the landscape 
plan. 

Planting trees that are common to and perform well in the area.  Principle met 
A planting schedule is shown on the 
landscape plan. 

Avoid the removal of existing mature trees by incorporating 
their retention into the site design. 

 Principle met 
The site does not feature any 
significant mature vegetation that is 
considered appropriate for retention. 

Existing trees are proposed to be 
removed to facilitate the development 
of the land. 
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Use landscaping to soften the appearance of the built form 
when viewed from the street and to respect the amenity of 
adjoining properties. 

 Principle met 
 

Ensure that landscaping also addresses the Safety Design 
Principles. 

 Principle met 
 

Canopy trees should be planted in well proportioned 
setbacks/private open space that are sufficient to 
accommodate their future growth to maturity. 

 Principle met 
 

Landscaping should minimise the impact of increased storm 
water runoff through water sensitive urban design and reduced 
impervious surfaces. 

 Principle met 
 

Landscaping should be sustainable, drought tolerant, and 
include indigenous species and be supported through the 
provision of rainwater tanks. 

 Principle met 
 

Car parking The existing level of on-street car parking should be maintained 
by avoiding second crossovers on allotments with frontage 
widths less than 17 metres. 

 Principle met 
One crossover is proposed. 

On-site car parking should be: 

• Well integrated into the design of the building, 

• Generally hidden from view or appropriately screened 
where necessary, 

• Located to the side or rear of the site so as to not 
dominate the streetscape and to maximise soft 
landscaping opportunities at ground level. 

 Principle met 
On site car parking is provided via a 
garage to each dwelling, which are well 
integrated into the building design. 

Where car parking is located within the front setback it should 
be: 

• Fully located within the site boundary; and 

• Capable of fully accommodating a vehicle between a 
garage or carport and the site boundary. 

Not applicable. 
No car parking is proposed to be 
located within the front setback. 

Developments with basement car parking should consider 
flooding concerns where applicable. 

Not applicable. 
 

Setbacks, front 
boundary and 
width 

Residential developments should: 

Provide a front setback with fence design and height in keeping 
with the predominant street pattern. 

 Principle met 
No front fence is proposed. 

Maintain the apparent frontage width pattern.  Principle met 
The apparent front width pattern is 
maintained. 

Provide appropriate side setbacks between buildings to enable 
screen planting where required, and at least one generous side 
setback to enable the retention of trees and/or the planting and 
future growth of trees to maturity. 

 Principle met 
No front fence is proposed. Front 
setback landscaping will be fully 
viewable from the streetscape. 

Provide open or low scale front fences to allow a visual 
connection between landscaping in front gardens and street 
tree planting. 

 Principle met 
No front fence is proposed. 

Private open 
space 

All residential developments should provide good quality, 
useable private open space for each dwelling directly 
accessible from the main living area. 

 Principle met 
Secluded private open space areas of 
each dwelling are considered to be of 
good quality usable and directly 
accessible from the main living areas. 

Ground level private open space areas should be able to 
accommodate boundary landscaping, domestic services and 
outdoor furniture so as to maximise the useability of the space. 

 Principle met 
Ground level SPOS areas are able to 
accommodate domestic services and 
landscaping. 
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Private open space should be positioned to maximise solar 
access. 

 Principle met 
The private open space areas are 
positioned to receive satisfactory solar 
access. 

Upper floor levels of the same dwelling should avoid 
encroaching secluded private open space areas to ensure the 
solar access, useability and amenity of the space is not 
adversely affected. 

 Principle met 
There are no instances of a dwelling’s 
upper level encroaching on its own 
SPOS area. 

Upper level dwellings should avoid encroaching the secluded 
private open space of a separate lower level dwelling so as to 
ensure good solar access and amenity for the lower level 
dwelling. 

 Principle met 
Upper levels of proposed dwellings do 
not excessively encroach any separate 
low level dwelling’ SPOS areas. 

Bulk & Built Form All residential developments should respect the dominant 
façade pattern of the streetscape by: 

• Using similarly proportioned roof forms, windows, 
doors, and verandahs, and 

• Maintaining the proportion of wall space to windows 
and door openings. 

 Principle met 
The development generally respects 
the dominant façade pattern of the 
streetscape by using similarly 
proportioned roof forms, windows and 
doors, whilst maintaining the proportion 
of wall space to windows and door 
openings subject to condition 1 
amendments. 

Balconies should be designed to reduce the need for screening 
from adjoining dwellings and properties. 

 Principle met 
No balconies are proposed. 

The development of new dwellings to the rear of existing 
retained dwellings is discouraged where: 

• The siting of the retained dwelling would not enable an 
acceptable future site layout for either the proposed or 
future dwelling; or 

• The retention of the existing dwelling detracts from the 
identified future character. 

 Principle met 
There are no existing dwellings being 
retained. 

On sites adjacent to identified heritage buildings, infill 
development should respect the adjoining heritage by: 

• Not exceeding the height of the neighbouring 
significant building; 

• Minimising the visibility of higher sections of the new 
building; and 

• Setting higher sections back at least the depth of one 
room from the frontage. 

 Principle met 
There are no adjacent heritage sites 
and/or buildings. 

Site Design Residential development should: 

Preserve the amenity of adjoining dwellings through responsive 
site design that considers the privacy, solar access and outlook 
of adjoining properties. 

 Principle met 
The amenity of adjoining dwellings is 
preserved through responsive site 
design that considers the privacy, solar 
access and outlook of adjoining 
properties. 

Maximise thermal performance and energy efficiency of the 
built form by addressing orientation, passive design and fabric 
performance 

 Principle met 
The development maximises thermal 
performance and energy efficiency of 
the built form by addressing 
orientation, passive design and fabric 
performance. 
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Ensure that building height, massing articulation responds 
sensitively to existing residential interfaces, site circumstances, 
setbacks and streetscape and reduces the need for screening. 

 Principle met 
The building height and massing 
articulation generally responds 
sensitively to existing residential 
interfaces, site circumstances, 
setbacks and streetscape and reduces 
the need for screening. 

Provide sufficient setbacks (including the location of 
basements) to ensure the retention of existing trees and to 
accommodate the future growth of new trees. 

 Principle met 
Sufficient setbacks are provided that 
are able to accommodate the growth of 
new trees to maturity. 

Provide suitable storage provisions for the management of 
operational waste 

 Principle met 
Suitable storage provisions have been 
provided for the management of waste. 

Appropriately located suitable facilities to encourage public 
transport use, cycling and walking. 

 Principle met 
Future residents will be able to walk 
and cycle from the site. 

Materials & 
Finishes 

Residential development should: 

Use quality, durable building materials and finishes that are 
designed for residential purposes. 

 Principle met 
The materials/finishes proposed are 
suitable for residential use and 
purposes subject to condition 1 
amendments. 

Avoid the use of commercial or industrial style building 
materials and finishes. 

 Principle met 
Commercial or industrial style building 
materials and finishes are not 
proposed to be used. 

Avoid using materials such as rendered cement sheeting, 
unarticulated surfaces, and excessive repetitive use of 
materials. 

 Principle met 
The development generally avoids 
using an unreasonable extent of 
rendered cement sheeting, 
unarticulated surfaces or the excessive 
repetition of materials. 

A condition will be placed on permit to 
increase the amount of 
vertical/horizontal cladding used on the 
first floor across the development in 
order to limit the extent of cement 
render proposed and better 
accentuated proposed articulation. 

Use a consistent simple palette of materials, colours, finishes 
and architectural detailing. 

 Principle met 
The proposed development uses a 
simple palette of materials and colours. 

Maximise the ongoing affordability and sustainability of 
residential developments through the selection of low 
maintenance, resource and energy efficient materials and 
finishes that can be reasonably expected to endure for the life 
of the building. 

 Principle met 
The proposed materials can 
reasonably be expected to endure for 
the life of the buildings. 

Domestic 
services normal 
to a dwelling and 
Building services 

In order to minimise the impact of domestic and building services on the streetscape, adjacent properties, 
public realm and amenity of future residents, new residential development should: 

Ensure that all domestic and building services are visually 
integrated into the design of the building and appropriately 
positioned or screened so as to not be seen from the street or 
adjoining properties. 

 Principle met 
Domestic and building services are 
visually integrated into the design of 
the building and appropriately 
positioned or screened so as to not be 
seen from the street or adjoining 
properties. 
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Be designed to avoid the location of domestic and building 
services: 

• Within secluded private open space areas, including 
balconies; and 

• Where they may have noise impacts on adjoining 
habitable rooms and secluded private open space 
areas. 

 Principle met 
The domestic and building services of 
both dwellings are located outside the 
primary area of SPOS. 

Internal Amenity Residential development should: 

Ensure that dwelling layouts have connectivity between the 
main living area and private open space. 

 Principle met 
Both dwellings feature good 
connectivity between the main living 
area and the private open space / 
SPOS. 

  

Be designed to avoid reliance on borrowed light to habitable 
rooms. 

 Principle met 
No habitable rooms within the 
development rely on borrowed light. 

A condition on permit will require the 
Dwelling 1 first floor retreat southern 
wall to be reduced to half height to 
increase light provision to the adjacent 
stairwell. 

Another condition on permit (see 
condition 1.5) will require that a 
highlight window/roof window/skylight 
be provided to the Dwelling 4 first floor 
east-facing bathroom wall to increase 
solar access to the southern side of the 
first floor. 

Ensure that balconies and habitable room windows are 
designed and located to reduce the need for excessive 
screening. 

 Principle met 
Habitable room windows have been 
designed and located to reduce the 
need for excessive screening. 

Ensure that dwellings without ground level main living areas 
meet the Standards of Clauses 55.03-5, 55.04-1, 6 & 7, 55.05-
3, 4 & 5. 

 Principle met 
No reverse living is proposed. 

 

 
 
Clause 22.09-3.3 Design principles for Incremental Change Areas – General 
Residential Zone (GRZ) 
Title & Objective Standard (Summarised) Standard Met/Standard Not Met/NA 

Preferred 
housing type 

The preferred housing type for the Incremental Change Area is 
medium density. 

 Principle met 
The development results in a yield of 
three (3) dwelling on the site, and a 
total density of four (4) dwellings. This 
is considered to be an incremental 
change, as is appropriate for the 
General Residential Zone. 

Building Height The preferred maximum building height for land within the GRZ1 
and GRZ2 is up to 2 storeys, including ground level. 

 Principle met 
Maximum building height does not 
exceed 2 storeys. 

Landscaping Residential development should use landscaping to create a 
landscaped character, particularly canopy trees in front and rear 
gardens; and to protect the outlook of adjoining properties 

 Principle met 
The landscape plan provides, with 
additional landscaping to be provided 
via permit conditions. 
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Setbacks, front 
boundary and 
width 

Parking, paving and car access within the front boundary 
setback should be limited in order to maximise the opportunity 
for soft landscaping and prevent the over dominance of carports 
and garages in the street. 

 Principle met 
Car access and paving within the front 
setback has been kept to a minimum. 

Private open 
space 

Residential development should provide secluded private open 
space at the side or rear of each dwelling to avoid the need for 
excessive screening or high front fencing. 

 Principle met 
The SPOS areas have been provided 
to the side and rear of the dwellings. 

 

 

 

 

 

Bulk & Built 
Form 

Residential development should: 

Ensure that the built form respects the scale of existing 
prevailing built form character and responds to site 
circumstances and streetscape; 

 Principle met 
The built form respects the scale of 
existing prevailing built form character 
and responds to site circumstances 
and streetscape subject to condition 1 
amendments. 

Provide separation between dwellings at the upper level;  Principle met 
Dwellings 1 and 2 have separation 
between the upper levels. 

Dwellings 3 and 4 do not have 
separation between the upper levels 
however this is considered acceptable 
in this instance due to the subject site 
being located with the GRZ3.   

Retain spines of open space at the rear of properties to 
maximise landscaping opportunities and protect private 
secluded open space; 

 Principle met 
A rear spine of open space has been 
retained. 

Position more intense and higher elements of built form towards 
the front and centre of a site, transitioning to single storey 
elements to the rear of the lot. 

 Principle met 
The proposal generally positions more 
intense and higher elements of built 
form to front of site. 

The rearmost dwelling on a lot should be single storey to ensure 
the identified future character of the area and the amenity of 
adjoining properties is respected by maximising landscaping 
opportunities and protecting adjoining private secluded open 
space. 

Two storey dwellings to the rear of a lot may be considered 
where: 

• The visual impact of the building bulk does not 
adversely affect the identified future character of the 
area; 

• Overlooking and/or overshadowing does not adversely 
affect the amenity of neighbouring properties; 

• The building bulk does not adversely affect the planting 
and future growth of canopy trees to maturity; 

• Sufficient side and rear boundary landscaping can be 
provided to screen adjoining properties; 

• Upper storey components are well recessed from 
adjoining sensitive interfaces. 

 Principle met 
A double storey dwelling is proposed 
however this is acceptable due to the 
subject site being located within the 
GRZ3. 

Residential development should be well articulated through the 
use of contrast, texture, variation in forms, materials and 
colours. 

 Principle met 
 

Note: Other requirements also apply.  These can be found at the schedule to the applicable zone. 
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3 QUESTION TIME - PUBLIC
Question Time at Council meetings provides an opportunity for members of the public in the
gallery to address questions to the Councillors, Delegates and/or officers of the Greater
Dandenong City Council. Questionsmust comply with s. 4.5.8 of Council's Governance Rules.

QUESTIONS FROM THE GALLERY

Questions are limited to a maximum of three (3) questions per individual. Where time constraints
deem it likely that not all questions can be answered within the time allowed for Question Time, the
Mayor at his/her discretion may determine only the first question may be presented verbally with
others deferred to be managed in the same manner as public questions not verbally presented.
Priority will be given to questions that relate to items on the Council Agenda for that meeting. Questions
including any preamble should not exceed 300 words.

a) All such questions must be received in writing on the prescribed form or as provided for on
Council's website and at Ordinary meetings of Council. Where there are more than three (3)
questions received from any one individual person, the Chief Executive Officer will determine
the three (3) questions to be considered at the meeting.

b) All such questions must clearly note a request to verbally present the question and must be
received by the Chief Executive Officer or other person authorised for this purpose by the Chief
Executive Officer no later than:

i) the commencement time (7.00pm) of the Ordinary meeting if questions are submitted in
person; or
ii) noon on the day of the Ordinary meeting if questions are submitted by electronic medium.

c) A question can only be presented to the meeting if the Chairperson and/or Chief Executive
Officer has determined that the question:

i) does not relate to a matter of the type described in section 3(1) of the Local Government
Act 2020 (confidential information);
ii) does not relate to a matter in respect of which Council or a Delegated Committee has
no power to act;
iii) is not defamatory, indecent, abusive or objectionable in language or substance, and
is not asked to embarrass a Councillor, Delegated Member or Council officer; and
iv) is not repetitive of a question already asked or answered (whether at the same or an
earlier meeting).

d) If the Chairperson and/or Chief Executive Officer has determined that the question may not
be presented to the Council Meeting or Delegated Committee, then the Chairperson and/or
Chief Executive Officer:

i) must advise the Meeting accordingly; and
ii) will make the question available to Councillors or Members upon request.
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e) The Chairperson shall call on members of the gallery who have submitted an accepted
question to ask their question verbally if they wish.

f) The Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer or delegate may then direct that question to be
answered by a nominated Councillor or member of Council staff.

g) No debate on, or discussion of, a question or an answer will be permitted other than for the
purposes of clarification.

h) A Councillor, Delegated Committee Member or member of Council staff nominated to answer
a question may:

i) seek clarification of the question from the person who submitted it;
ii) seek the assistance of another person in answering the question; and
iii) defer answering the question, so that the answer may be researched and a written
response be provided within ten (10) working days following the Meeting (the question
thereby being taken on notice).

i) Question time for verbal presentations is limited in duration to not more than twenty (20)
minutes. If it appears likely that this time is to be exceeded then a resolution from Council will
be required to extend that time if it is deemed appropriate to complete this item.

j) The text of each question asked and the response will be recorded in the minutes of the
Meeting.
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4 OFFICERS' REPORTS - PART TWO
4.1 CONTRACTS
4.1.1 Contract No. 2223-02 Construction of a Playground at Frederick Wachter Reserve,

Keysborough

File Id:

Director Business, Engineering &Major ProjectsResponsible Officer:

Tender Information (Confidential)Attachments:

1. Report Summary

This report outlines the tender process undertaken to select a suitably qualified and experienced
contractor for the construction of stages 2 and 3 at the Frederick Wachter Reserve Playground in
Keysborough.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Contract No. 2223-02 construction of stages 2 and 3 at the Frederick
Wachter Reserve playground in Keysborough be awarded to Warrandale Industries Pty Ltd for a
fixed lump sum price of Nine Hundred and Seventy-One Thousand, Eight Hundred and Ninety One
Dollars and Fifty Four Cents ($971,891.54) including GST.
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3. Background

Frederick Wachter Reserve is a major district level 13.5-hectare park located in Keysborough which
includes a large range of active and passive recreational facilities. The City of Greater Dandenong’s
Open Space Strategy 2020 describes the reserve as being significant and supports the implementation
of the Frederick Wachter Reserve Master Plan 2018.

The master plan provides direction for various ways to improve and maximise the potential of the
reserve through the development and provision of sporting, recreational and community facilities.
The master plan specifically notes that the existing (southern) playground is to be upgraded to a
district level facility.

The upgrade of the existing playground is consistent with Council’s Playground Strategy and Action
Plan 2013-2023 which notes the following: “it is proposed to elevate the current neighbourhood level
playground to a district level playground”.

Stage 1 of the playground upgrade was completed and opened to the public in October 2022. This
contract is for the delivery of stages 2 and 3 of the playground development and will further address
the key upgrade elements identified in the Master Plan:

Upgrades works include, but are not limited to the following;

Provision of a range of play opportunities including traditional play equipment, social/group play
structures, water play, furniture and nature play areas, and some formal shade structures.

3.1 Playground Design

The design for the playground upgrade was completed in June 2021 following extensive community
consultation. The design allowed for the development of the playground to occur in three stages with
Stage 1 completed in October 2022. Stage 2 is themed around adventure play and includes a senior
climbing tower with slides and rope courses along with balance beams. Stage 3 is a waterplay area
and includes a junior climbing tower, carved rocks and sand table.
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4. Tender Process

The tender was advertised on Saturday 16 July 2022 in The Age newspaper, on Vendor Panel and
on Council’s website. The tender closed at 2:00pm on Wednesday 10 August 2022.

At the close of the tender advertising period, submissions were received from six (6) contractors,
being:

a. Civiq (Non-Conforming)
b. The Trustee for the Jordan Family T/A Civilised Construction & Landscaping Pty Ltd
c. Commercialscapes Pty Ltd
d. Glasscott Landscape & Civil
e. Warrandale Industries
f. Yellowstone Landscaping

5. Tender Evaluation

The evaluation panel comprised of the Coordinator Open Space Projects, Project Manager – Open
Space, Project Manager and the Contracts and Administration Officer. All Panel members signed
Council’s probity forms declaring that they would evaluate tenders fairly and would disclose any
conflict of interest.

The Tenders were evaluated using Council’s Weighted Attributed Value Selection Method. The
advertised evaluation criteria and the allocated weightings for evaluation are as follows:

WeightingEvaluation Criteria

45%Price

25%Relevant Experience

15%Capabilities

5%Social Procurement

5%Local Industry

5%Environmental
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Points were awarded on a scale 0 – 5 based on the score parameters listed below.

DescriptionScore

Excellent5

Very Good4

Good, better than average3

Acceptable2

Marginally Acceptable1

Not Acceptable0

The five (5) conforming submissions were assessed and ranked against all evaluation criteria by
each member of the evaluation panel to ensure that each tenderer met the standards required for
Council contractors. These rankings were then collated and multiplied by the weighting to give a
weighted attribute score for each criterion and totaled to give an overall comparative evaluation score
for all criteria as shown in the following tables.

A fail in any criterion would automatically exclude a tenderer from further consideration for this contract.
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The weighted attribute points scores resulting from the assessment are shown in the following table:

EMSOHSTotal
Score

Non-Price
Points

Price
Points

Tenderer

Verified & Certified
with Rapid Global*

3.532.321.21Warrandale Industries Pty Ltd

Not assessed3.252.101.15Yellowstone Landscaping Pty Ltd

Not assessed3.122.031.09Commercialscapes Pty Ltd

Not assessed3.021.921.10The Trustee for the Jodan Family T/A
Civilised Construction & Landsacaping
Pty Ltd

Not assessed2.552.040.51Glasscott Landscape & Civil

*Please Note: Rapid Global is a third-party pre-qualification and verification system used by Council
and six (6) other Victorian Councils enabling the sharing of OH&S data. It is a Risk and OH&S system
where contractors can upload their Occupational Health & Safety, Risk and Environment Plans and
Policies as well as up to date insurances

Note 1: The higher the price score – the lower the tendered price.

Note 2: The higher the non-price score – represents better capability and capacity to deliver the
service.

6.1 Relevant Experience

Warrandale Industries has demonstrated experience in projects of a similar nature and value to the
Wachter Reserve Playground Development, nominating the following as examples of projects
previously delivered:

A. Ross Reserve all Abilities Playground – City of Greater Dandenong - $2.3 million
B. Construction of Stamford park Wetland - Knox City Council - $2 million
C. Belgrave Lake – New play space - $900,000.
D. Greenvale Recreation Reserve – Construction of New Reserve - $750.00.
E. Elysian Stage 6 – Construction of new play space - $1 million.

Warrandale Industries successfully delivered Stage 1 of the Frederick Wachter Reserve playground
upgrade.
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6. Financial Implications

The Lump Sum contract price of $971,891.54 including GST is within the available CIP 22/23 budget
for the project

Note:

A lump sum contract, or a stipulated sum contract will require that the supplier
agree to provide specified services for a stipulated or fixed price.

Lump Sum

7. Social Procurement

Warrandale Industries employ 1st, 2nd and 3rd year landscape apprentices. Warrandale Industries aim
to offer equal employment opportunities for all and look at how they can assist other cultural groups
and demographics through their work. Warrandale work with Rotary International, and the existing
playground will be dismantled and donated to Rotary who take these playgrounds and relocate them
to third world countries where they reinstall them into disadvantaged communities.

8. Local Industry

Warrandale Industries have indicated that they anticipate spending approximately $18,000 with
Greater Dandenong businesses in the form of concrete for this project. Warrandale Industries are
located in Scoresby.

9. Environmental Management

The preferred Tenderer is ISO14001 certified for Environmental Management System. The wet-pour
rubber specified for the project is made from recycled tyres. All containers in which plants are supplied
for the project will be retained and returned to the supplier for future re-use. Tree stakes will be made
from recycled plastic.

10. Consultation

Internal stakeholders have been widely engaged throughout the design and procurement process.
This has been supported by a core working group consisting of Officers from City Improvement and
Strategic Design and Sustainability Planning.
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11. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 (the LGA 2020) states that a Council must in the
performance of its role give effect to the overarching governance principles. When a

tender process is undertaken it is fundamentally underpinned by the following overarching governance
principles:

Section 9(a) of the LGA2020 - Council decisions are to be made and actions taken in accordance
with the relevant law;
Section 9(b) of the LGA2020 - Priority is to be given to achieving the best outcomes for the
municipal community, including future generations;
Section 9(c) of the LGA2020 - the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the
municipal district, including mitigation and planning for climate change risks, is to be promoted;
Section 9(e)of the LGA 2020 - innovation and continuous improvement is to be pursued;
Section 9(f) of the LGA 2020 - collaboration with other councils and governments and statutory
bodies is to be sought;
Section 9(g) of the LGA2020 - the ongoing financial viability of the Council is to be ensured; and
Section 9(i) of the LGA2020 - the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is
to be ensured.

In giving effect to the overarching governance principles above, the following supporting principles
are also considered throughout any tender process:

Section 89 of the LGA2020 - the strategic planning principles; and
Section 1010 of the LGA 2020 - the financial management principles.

12. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

Council, Councillors and members of Council staff are a public authority under the Charter of Human
Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 and, as such, are all responsible to act in accordance with the
Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006 (the Charter).

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

Included in the tender submissions, successful contractors have completed the Modern Slavery
Questionnaire, Questionnaire for Potential Contractors (Fair work) and the Victorian Child Safe
Standards Questionnaire (Schedule 9).

The responses provided to these statements by all successful contractors were assessed and
determined to be satisfactory in the context of the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and
Responsibilities.
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13. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

Included in the submission for this tender, contractors were required to address Councils Social
Employment opportunities (Schedule 7B). This includes questions to address Council’s Diversity,
Access and Equity Policy.

The responses provided to these statements by all successful contractors were assessed and
determined to be satisfactory in the context of the Gender Equality Act.

14. Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

The wet-pour rubber specified for the project is made from recycled tyres. All containers in which
plants are supplied for the project will be retained and returned to the supplier for future re-use. Tree
stakes will be made from recycled plastic which, in-turn are also fully recyclable.

The playground design incorporates garden beds, grass areas and sixty-two advanced and
semi-mature trees. Construction timbers will be sourced from Forest Stewardship Council – Certified
Forests.

15. Conclusion

Following a thorough evaluation of the tender submissions the Tender Evaluation Panel concluded
that the Warrandale Industries Pty Ltd proposal demonstrated best value.
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16. Recommendation

That Council:

awards Contract No. 2223-02 Construction of stages 2 and 3 at the FrederickWachter
Reserve Playground in Keysborough to Warrandale Industries Pty Ltd for a fixed
Lump Sum price of Nine Hundred and Seventy One Thousand, Eight Hundred and
Ninety One Dollars and Fifty Four Cents ($971,891.54) including GST; and

1.

signs and seals the contract documents when prepared.2
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4.2 POLICY AND STRATEGY
4.2.1 Review of Council Policies - Risk Management Policy Update 2022

File Id:

Chief Executive OfficerResponsible Officer:

RiskManagement Policy - UpdatedOctober 2022Attachments:

Risk Appetite Statement (Copy)

1. Report Summary

Council policies are in place to ensure accordance with relevant legislation, regulations and best
practices. They provide a consistent approach to Council’s operational requirements and promote
accountability and transparency of Council decisions and actions.

Council adopted the revised Risk Management Policy in January 2020 with the provision of reviewing
the policy after three years. This policy has now been reviewed to ensure currency and compliance
with relevant legislation and Council’s current operational requirements and is now presented to
Council for readoption.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the Risk Management Policy be readopted as per Attachment 1 to this
report - Risk Management Policy – Updated October 2022.
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3. Background

Essentially, policies developed by Council are aimed at ensuring good governance and decision-making
processes, as well as the effective and efficient management of community resources and the
day-to-day business of Council. They help govern how Council operates and provide a clear set of
principles that provide a definite direction for Council.

Each policy is developed in order to address specific matters and objectives as outlined in the Council
Plan or as required by legislation. Policies promote consistency across the organisation and also
enable the community to be familiar with the principles behind administrative and council decisions.

Existing Council policies are subject to an ongoing review process to ensure they remain up-to-date
and comply with current legislation. Policies should be reviewed and updated if legislation requires
it; or when Council’s functions, structure or activities change; or when technological advances or new
systems are implemented.

Council policies should be read in conjunction with any related legislation, relevant internal policies,
codes of practice or guidelines. A council policy is automatically revoked upon readoption of the latest
version of that policy.

Policies that are superseded or superfluous to Council’s needs require formal abolition by Council.

4. Proposal

It is proposed that the Risk Management Policy be readopted by Council as provided in Attachment
1 with the following changes:

Broad changes of note are improved as follows:

Risk Appetite statement, updated with the Executive Management Team (provided as Attachment
2 - Risk Appetite Statement (Copy);
improved consistency with the International Standard ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management;
additional information in several key areas, such as roles and responsibilities, reporting, and
definitions; and
links to the Risk Management Framework and Procedures.

Specific changes of note are as follows:

more specific reference to Council’s overall, low appetite for negative risks;
removing procedural steps that were duplicated in the Risk Management Procedures (operational
documentation);
emphasising risk management practices should occur at all levels of the organisation;
linking risk information (notably identified Strategic Risks) to Corporate and Council planning
activities;
more detailed responsibilities listed for each level of the organisation; and
reporting activities are now consistent with existing practices.
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5. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic Objectives, Strategies
and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for
themselves and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision
for 2040:

The City of Great Dandenong is a home to all.
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

5.1 Community Vision 2040

This report is consistent with the Community Vision 2040 and its accompanying principles:

Safe and peaceful community; and
Sustainable environment.

5.2 Council Plan 2021-25

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will
do this over four years. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives:

A socially connected, safe and healthy city; and
A green city committed to a sustainable future.

6. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 states that a Council must in the performance of its role
give effect to the overarching governance principles.

The updated Risk Management Policy complies with the overarching governance principles in that:

Council decisions made and actions taken are in accordance with the relevant law;
priority is given to achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future
generations;
the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation
and planning for climate change risks, is considered and promoted;
innovation and continuous improvement is pursued;
the ongoing financial viability of the Council is ensured; and
the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is ensured.
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7. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities has been considered in the preparation
of this report but is not relevant to its contents.

8. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and theGender Equality Act 2020 have been considered
in the preparation of this report but are not relevant to its contents

The Risk Management Policy is purely administrative in its nature and does not have the potential to
influence broader social norms and gender roles. However, the risk of non-compliance with theGender
Equality Act 2020 is continually monitored and noted as a strategic risk to Council.

9. Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

This Risk Management Policy, as an administrative document, has no impact on Council’s Declaration
on a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s Climate Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030
or the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 in relation to the overarching governance
principle on climate change and sustainability. However, climate change and its current and potential
effects are acknowledged as significant strategic risks to Council.

10. Financial Implications

No financial resources are impacted by this report.

11. Consultation

Prior to submitting this report to Council, the Risk Management Policy was reviewed and evaluated
by the:

Executive Management Team;
Staff Consultative Committee; and
Audit and Risk Committee.
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12. Conclusions

The principal objective of the review was to ensure that the policy is current with legislative
requirements and remains relevant and up-to-date.

An extensive review of the Risk Management Policy has been undertaken and it is now presented
to Council for readoption.

13. Recommendation

That the updated RiskManagement Policy provided in Attachment 1 to this report be readopted.
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1. POLICY OBJECTIVE (OR PURPOSE) 

Greater Dandenong City Council (“the Council”, “Council”, “GDCC”) is committed to identifying and 
managing risks associated with the performance and delivery of municipal functions and services.  
 
A risk management framework and system has been established and is maintained, to assist Council 
officers to identify, assess, and manage risks arising from their activities, the delivery of services and 
activities, and in pursuing the goals of the Council Plan and Annual Business Plan.   
 
This policy commits Council to developing a “risk-aware” culture, assigning roles and responsibilities, aiding 
effective decision-making, and monitoring and reviewing GDCC’s risks and control measures.  
 
Council has a responsible approach to risk management; however, its risk appetite is not one of eliminating 
all risks in all circumstances.  Risk will be managed to acceptable and defined levels in pursuit of GDCC’s 
vision.  
 
The organisation has a generally low appetite for risk, to minimise the negative impacts on stated 
objectives, but will accept a degree of risk commensurate with both the potential reward and with GDCC's 
role in the community.   
 

2. BACKGROUND 

Council recognises that risk arises in many, if not all aspects of the business of managing the organisation 
and municipality and providing asserts and services to our community.  
 
Risk management will therefore be an integral part of Council’s strategic and operational management and 
planning and implementation processes.   
 
Council is committed to effectively managing risk to achieve its vision, Council plan and strategic goals.   
 
GDCC has developed and implemented a risk management system, comprising formal documentation 
including this policy, in accordance with the framework set out in the International Standard ISO 
31000:2018 - Risk Management, as is relevant and applicable to Council’s specific needs and requirements.  
 
This version of the Risk Management Policy results from internal review, including formal Internal Audit 
findings, and reflects the commitment to continuously refresh and update the risk management system.   
 

3. SCOPE 

This policy applies to all Councillors, staff (including agency staff), contractors and volunteers of the Greater 
Dandenong City Council.   
 
Everyone has responsibility for the effective management of risk.   
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4. DEFINITIONS  

A common understanding of the terms relating to risk management is a starting point for achieving a 
common approach to managing risk across Greater Dandenong City Council.   This procedure and the 
definitions below are consistent with the International Standard for Risk Management (ISO 31000:2018).  
Unless otherwise specified within this policy, the following words and phrases are defined to mean the 
following in terms of this policy. 
 

Risk Risk is defined as the effect of uncertainty on objectives. Risk is often expressed in terms of 
combination of the consequences of an event (including changes in circumstances) and the 
associated likelihood of occurrence.   

Risk Appetite Risk Appetite is the level of risk that an organisation is prepared to accept in pursuit of its 
objectives before action is deemed necessary to reduce the risk. It represents a balance 
between the potential benefits of innovation and the threats that change inevitably brings 

Risk Management Risk Management is defined as the coordinated activities to direct and control an 
organisation with regards to risk  

Risk Management 
Framework  

A Risk Management Framework is an overview of the various elements that comprise 
Council’s risk management system, providing the foundations and organisational 
arrangements for the design, implementation, monitoring, review and continuous 
improvement of risk management throughout the organisation.   

Risk Source Risk Source is an element which alone or in combination has the potential to give rise to 
risk  

Risk Treatment Risk Treatment - an action, procedure, physical device or other measure taken to reduce 
the likelihood and/or the consequences of an identified event (see also Control)  

Audit Audit is an independent, objective assurance and/or consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve an organisation’s operations.  Audit helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. 

Consequence A Consequence is an outcome of an event, affecting objectives 

Control  A Control is a measure that maintains and/or modifies risk; controls can include, but are 
not limited to, any process, policy, device, practice, or other conditions and/or actions 
which maintain and/or modify risk Controls may not always exert the intended or assumed 
modifying effect.  
 

Event An Event is an occurrence or a particular set of circumstances.  It can have one or more 
occurrences.  An event can have several consequences.  An event can be an unexpected 
outcome, or an expected outcome that does not occur.  An event can be a source of risk. 

Likelihood The Likelihood is the chance of an event happening; can be expressed relatively or 
probabilistically  

Objectives Objectives can have different aspects, (such as financial, health and safety, technology, and 
environmental goals) and can apply at different levels (such as organisation-wide, 
operational-, project-, product- and process-level)   

Stakeholder  Stakeholder (or “interested party”) - a person, or group of people, or organisation that can 
affect, be affected by, or have the perception that they are affected or can affect a decision 
or activity  
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5. POLICY 

Council’s risk management system provides the basis for managing risks consistently across the 
organisation.  Nonetheless, all departments are responsible for identifying, assessing and managing risks 
arising from their responsibilities, programmes, services, assets they manage, policies, procedures and 
expenditure.   
 
Additionally, the effectiveness of risk controls should be assessed and decisions made whether further 
treatments are needed to address these risks.   
 
Decisions about whether to mitigate a particular risk - fully or partially – must be based on its impacts on 
Council, mitigation costs and the expectations or requirements of our community or other stakeholders.    
 
Where risks are considered ‘cross-sectional’, i.e., owned by one area and managed by another (e.g., IT-
related risks), a process is established for ensuring the risks are both communicated, and action agreed, 
between the areas concerned.  
 
Council provides its staff with information, tools and processes to enable such risk management steps and 
has developed a framework describing the various elements of GDCC’s risk management system.   
 
Key aspects of our processes and risk management system include: 

• identifying strategic risks, and regularly reviewing these, and implementing appropriate controls in 
response, including accountability for their implementation.  The effectiveness of these controls will 
be monitored;    

• the Executive Management Team has oversight of strategic risks, and, with the Audit & Risk 
Committee, the efficacy of the overall risk management system;    

• Departments have responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing risks arising from their areas 
of responsibility; 

• risk issues are considered as part of Council and Annual Business planning (particularly Strategic 
Risks), programme development, event delivery, and the range of services, asset provision and other 
activities of Council.; and   

• risk management resources are available internally and externally to facilitate, inform, and review 
risk management activities across GDCC.   

 
By the application of this policy, the Greater Dandenong City Council - through the Chief Executive Officer 
and EMT - will ensure that: 

• Council and all staff can confidently plan and make informed strategic, business and operational 
decisions; and 

• Reasonably foreseeable risks and emerging risks will be identified, evaluated, assessed, and 
prioritised, and risk controls implemented.  

 
5.1 RISK APPETITE  
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Council has a responsible approach to risk management; however, our risk appetite is not one of 
eliminating all risks in all circumstances.   
Risk will be managed to acceptable levels in pursuit of our vision that Greater Dandenong is a safe and 
vibrant city of opportunity for all - to visit, work, live and play.   
 
Thus, the organisation has a generally low appetite for risk, to minimise negative impacts on stated 
objectives, but will accept a degree of risk commensurate with both the potential reward and with GDCC's 
role in the community. 
 
The detailed Risk Appetite Statement is provided in the Risk Management procedures.  
 

6. RESPONSE TO THE OVERARCHING GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2020 

The Risk Management Policy is compatible with and supports and upholds the overarching governance 
principles of Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020, particularly, but not restricted to: 

• achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future generations; (Section 9b) 

• promoting the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including 
mitigation and planning for climate change risks (Section 9c);  

• pursuing innovation and continuous improvement (Section 9e);  

• collaborating with other Councils and Governments and statutory bodies (Section 9f);  

• ensuring the ongoing financial viability of the Council (Section 9g); and 

• ensuring the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information (Section 9i). 
 
Additionally, the policy is a mechanism to ensure that the following principles of the Local Government Act 
2020 are supported:   

• the public transparency principles (section 58);  

• the financial management principles (section 101); and 

• the service performance principles (section 106).  
 
As a Council Policy, the Risk Management Policy is available to the public.  Stewardship of the policy and its 
associated actions is suitably delegated and resourced within the existing budget.   
 
Associated procedures, including the management of documentation and identifying information (such as 
for reactive claims management in response to liability claims), provide for both privacy and confidentiality, 
whilst broader transparency is also provided by Council being subject to internal and external audit and FOI 
access (as applicable), as well as the legal discovery process (in the case of liability claims, for example).   
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7. CHARTER OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES ACT 2006 - 
COMPATIBILITY STATEMENT 

All matters relevant to the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities have been considered in 
the preparation of this policy and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.  The particular 
sections in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities that relate to this policy are:   

• Section 8 - Right to recognition and equality before the law 

• Section 13 - Right to privacy and reputation   

• Section 20 - Property rights  

 

8. RESPONSE TO THE GENDER EQUALITY ACT 2020 

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and the Gender Equality Act 2020 have been considered in the 
preparation of this policy but are not relevant to its contents.  There is no need for a Gender Impact 
Assessment of this policy because it:   

• is purely administrative in its nature and does not have the potential to influence broader social 
norms and gender roles; and 

• is purely administrative in nature and does not benefit any one gender group over any other.  
 

9. CONSIDERATION OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

This policy does have an impact on Council’s Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency or Climate 
Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030 and the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 in relation 
to the overarching governance principle on climate change and sustainability.   
The risk management framework, as applied to date, recognises Climate Change and Adaptation as a 
Strategic Risk, and that key controls are identified in the Climate Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030.  
Risk management methodology and the commitment to consider risk in decision-making is embedded in 
Councils’ response to climate change.   
 

10. RESPONSIBILITIES 

The following responsibilities summarise the detailed information provided in the Risk Management 
Procedures (internal document).   
 
10.1  COUNCIL  
 
Council (and/or relevant Delegated Committees) endorses the Risk Management Policy, including the Risk 
Appetite Statement (as expressed in the policy).   
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Additionally, Councillors review and consider identified strategic risks when developing and/or updating the 
Council Plan, and key strategies and plans.   
 
Further, this policy commits Councillors to:  

•  considering risk issues and any trade-offs in their decision-making; and 

•  reporting any risk concerns, control failures, or other events that need to be addressed to the Risk 
Management Team and/or line management, as appropriate.   

 
10.2 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM  
 
The Chief Executive Officer and Executive Management Team provide leadership in establishing and 
encouraging a “risk aware” culture by: 

• reviewing and approving the Risk Management Policy, Framework, Strategy, Procedures and other 
elements of the risk management system, including the risk categories used at GDCC ; 

• contribute to any review and update of the Risk Appetite Statement (as facilitated by the Risk 
Management Team, see below) and approve the adoption of any updated version;  

• considering risk in decision-making, and policy and strategy development;  

• ensuring that risk management processes are implemented across all risk categories;  and 

• identifying strategic risks and controls and advising the Audit and Risk Committee and Council of the 
following:  

o reviewing the progress of identified risk treatments and actions;  

o informing the Audit & Risk Committee of emerging or changed Strategic Risks; and   

o developing the risk-based Internal Audit programme.  
 
10.3  MANAGERS 
 
Managers are responsible for: 

• identifying, reporting on and reviewing operational risks in their business area(s);  

• Implementing relevant controls for risks identified as needing treatment;   

• Identifying and implementing further controls as required;   

• ensuring that staff apply risk management procedures in operational areas, and to relevant Strategic 
matters, as required;  

• reporting newly-identified risk issues, failed controls or other events that need to be addressed; and   

• identifying and assessing risks when business planning, scoping projects, issuing contracts, etc. 
 
10.4  COUNCIL OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, STAFF AND COUNCILLORS 
 
Risk Management at Greater Dandenong City Council is the responsibility of everyone at Council.   
Councillors, staff (including agency staff), contractors and volunteers are responsible for implementing risk 
treatments as per their authority and responsibilities, in day-to-day work and tasks.  
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10.5  AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE  
 
The Audit and Risk Committee acts within the provisions of the Local Government Act 2020 to:  
• monitor risk management performance, including receiving reports on the risk management 

implementation at Council, emerging issues, and data and analysis;  

• monitor extreme and high exposure risks; 

• provide advice to Council and the CEO as required; and  

• provide feedback for updating risk management documentation, such as this policy, the risk 
framework, and risk procedures.  

 
10.6  RISK MANAGEMENT TEAM   
 
The Risk Management Team within Council is responsible for: 

• providing oversight of the strategic risk profile, reviews and audit actions; 

• facilitating the development and update of risk profiles, reviews and audit actions; 

• reviewing, updating and implementing this Risk Management Policy, Framework, Strategy and 
Procedures, and other risk management tools as required;   

• supporting Council officers to identify, implement and review the effectiveness of risk controls;   

• identifying and arranging appropriate training to develop risk management knowledge and skills 
across the organisation; and   

• reporting newly-identified risk issues, failed controls, or other events that need to be addressed to 
Managers, EMT and/or the Audit & Risk Committee, as necessary.  

 

11. REPORTING, MONITORING AND REVIEW 

The following information summarises the detailed information provided in the Risk Management 
Procedures (internal document).   
 
Periodic reports concerning the following are provided to the Executive Management Team and the Audit 
& Risk Committee (quarterly, for the latter): 

• significant changes to the risk management system, such as updates to risk management 
documentation:  policy, framework, appetite statement, procedures, etc;  

• strategic risk updates, risk treatment implementation progress, significant matters arising from 
operational risk assessments;  

• reporting of significant events, claims and other matters that require a risk management response or 
approach to address; and 

• internal audit reports, highlighting risk management implementation and risk assessments of any 
gaps or improvements identified by the internal auditor. 
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12. REFERENCES AND RELATED DOCUMENTS 

Legislation  
• Local Government Act 2020  
 
Related Council and Other Policies, Procedures, Strategies, Protocols, Guidelines  

• Greater Dandenong City Council Annual Business Plan (as updated)  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Council Plan (as updated)  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Risk Management Framework 2022  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Risk Management Procedures 2022  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Risk Management Strategy (as updated)  
• International Standard for Risk Management (ISO 31000:2018) 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
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REVIEW OF COUNCIL POLICY –  
RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY UPDATE 2022   

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RISK APPETITE STATEMENT (COPY) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGES 3 (including cover) 
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Risk Appetite Statement   
 

COPY for Council Report: Risk Management Policy update 2022 - Review of Council Policies, 14th Nov. 2022 
 

The following table provides guidance about the tolerance of risk with respect to 
the categories used in the consequences table.   
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Where it is unclear whether an assessed risk rating is tolerable, or this Statement 
does not suit an issue being assessed, the Risk Team can assist.  Contact the Risk 
Management Consultant in People, Culture & Innovation.  EXT. 5115. 
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4.2.2 Review of Council Policies - Public Interest Disclosures Policy Update 2022

File Id:

Manager People, Culture & InnovationResponsible Officer:

Public Interest Disclosures Policy – Updated
Version 2022

Attachments:

1. Report Summary

Council policies are in place to ensure accordance with relevant legislation, regulations and best
practices. They provide a consistent approach to Council’s operational requirements and promote
accountability and transparency of Council decisions and actions.

Council adopted its existing Public Interest Disclosures (PID) Policy in August 2020 with the provision
of reviewing the policy after two years. This policy has now been reviewed to ensure currency and
compliance with relevant legislation and Council’s current operational requirements and is now
presented to Council for readoption.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the updated Public Interest Disclosures Policy as provided in Attachment
1 be re-adopted.
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3. Background

Essentially, policies developed by Council are aimed at ensuring good governance and decision-making
processes, as well as the effective and efficient management of community resources and the
day-to-day business of Council. They help govern how Council operates and provide a clear set of
principles that provide a definite direction for Council.

Each policy is developed in order to address specific matters and objectives as outlined in the Council
Plan 2017-21 or as required by legislation. Policies promote consistency across the organisation and
also enable the community to be familiar with the principles behind administrative and council decisions.

Existing council policies are subject to an ongoing review process to ensure they remain up-to-date
and comply with current legislation. Policies should be reviewed and updated if legislation requires
it; or when Council’s functions, structure or activities change; or when technological advances or new
systems are implemented.

Council policies should be read in conjunction with any related legislation, relevant internal policies,
codes of practice or guidelines. A Council policy is considered to be automatically revoked upon
readoption of the latest version of that policy.

Policies that are superseded or superfluous to Council’s needs require formal abolition by Council.

4. Proposal

It is proposed that the Public Interest Disclosures Policy be readopted by Council with the following
changes:

Broad changes of note include the following:

the policy has been updated into current Council policy format which complies with the Local
Government Act 2020;
it is consistent with:

updated legislation - Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012;
updated Public Interest Disclosure Procedures (operational document), including terminology;
and
any current guidelines from the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission
(IBAC), Victoria’s Local Government Inspectorate, the Victorian Ombudsman and any other
relevant bodies; and

has reduced repetition of information provided in it and is more relevant to the PID Procedures.
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Specific changes of note include:

improved information at the policy level about:

which area of Council has guidance of PID matters;
specific responsibilities and accountabilities at all levels of the organisation;
reporting, monitoring and review of the implementation of the policy; and
Council’s external whistle-blower;

more comprehensive references for those seeking further information and context, without
needing to contact Council’s People, Culture and Innovation Unit (maintaining privacy, if, for
example, a direct report to IBAC or other, authorised body is preferred or underway); and
referencing the policy and procedure framework that is relevant to PID.

5. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic
Objectives, Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for
themselves and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision
for 2040:

The City of Great Dandenong is a home to all.
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

5.1 Community Vision 2040

This report is consistent with the Community Vision 2040 and its accompanying principles:

5.2 Council Plan 2021-25

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will
do this over four years. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives:

A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.
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6. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 states that a Council must in the performance of its role
give effect to the overarching governance principles.

The updated Public Interest Disclosures Policy complies with the overarching governance principles
in that:

Council decisions made and actions taken are in accordance with the relevant law;
priority is given to achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future
generations;
innovation and continuous improvement is pursued;
the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is ensured.

7. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

8. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and theGender Equality Act 2020 have been considered
in the preparation of this report but are not relevant to its contents

The Public Interest Disclosures Policy is purely administrative in its nature and does not have the
potential to influence broader social norms and gender roles.

9. Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

This Public Interest Disclosures Policy, as an administrative document, has no impact on Council’s
Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s Climate Change Emergency Strategy
2020-2030 or the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 in relation to the overarching
governance principle on climate change and sustainability.
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10. Financial Implications

No financial resources are impacted by this report.

11. Consultation

Prior to reporting to Council, the Public Interest Disclosures Policy was reviewed and evaluated by
the:

Council’s Internal Auditor (at the time, Crowe);
Audit and Risk Committee; and
Staff Consultative Committee.

12. Conclusions

The principal objective of the review was to ensure that the policy is current with legislative
requirements and remained relevant and up-to-date. The review of the Public Interest Disclosures
Policy has been completed and is now presented to Council for readoption.

13. Recommendation

That the updated Public Interest Disclosures Policy provided in Attachment 1 to this report
be readopted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 

POLICY AND STRATEGY 

REVIEW OF COUNCIL POLICY – PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURES 
POLICY UPDATE 2022 

ATTACHMENT 1 

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURES POLICY 
– UPDATED VERSION 2022

PAGES 14 (including cover)
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Public Interest Disclosures Policy 

 
Policy Endorsement: Council 
Policy Superseded by this Policy: Public Interest Disclosures Policy (Version 004)  
Directorate: CEO/Corporate Services  
Responsible Officer: Manager, People, Culture and Innovation 
Policy Type: Legislative  
File Number: A6938430 and  

A7669040 (web version)  
Version No:   005  

1st Adopted by Council  Minute No. 262 
22 July 2013 

Last Adopted by Council:  Minute No.  

Review Period: Every 2 years Next Review: August 2024 
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1. POLICY OBJECTIVE 

The Greater Dandenong City Council (“GDCC” or “Council”) is a public body subject to the Public Interest 
Disclosures Act 2012 (as amended).   
 
A public interest disclosure is a report made by a person about improper conduct of public bodies or public 
officers performing public functions, and any person who adversely affects the honest performance by a public 
officer or public body of their official functions.  The person making the disclosure may be an employee of 
Council, a Councillor or a person external to Council.   
 
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (the Act) creates a framework for dealing with public interest disclosures 
and the people who make them.  The purpose of the Act is to:  

• encourage and assist people to make a disclosure of improper conduct and detrimental action by public 
officers, public bodies and certain private individuals;   

• provide certain protections for people who make a disclosure, or those who may suffer detrimental action 
in reprisal for a disclosure;   

• ensure that disclosures are properly assessed, and investigated when necessary; and   
• ensure that certain information about a disclosure is kept confidential - the identity of the person making 

the disclosure, and the content of that disclosure.  

The Greater Dandenong City Council is committed to the aims and objectives of the Act.   
 
Council recognises the value of transparency and accountability in its administrative and management practices 
and supports the making of disclosures that reveal improper conduct. It does not tolerate improper conduct by 
the organisation, nor its employees, Councillors, volunteers or contractors.  Likewise, any reprisal against those 
who come forward to disclose such conduct is not tolerated.   
 
This policy outlines how the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 operates within Council.   
 

2. BACKGROUND 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (the Act) repealed what was then known as the Protected Disclosure Act 
2012 on 1 January 2020.  Prior versions of this policy gave effect to Council’s transition to the Public Interest 
Disclosures Act 2012, as well as incorporating the changes to Section 57A of the IBAC Act 2011.   
 
This version results from internal review and legislative amendments made after January 2020.   
 

3. SCOPE 

This policy applies to all Councillors, staff (including agency staff), contractors and volunteers of the Greater 
Dandenong City Council.   
 
A person or group of people can make a public interest disclosure.   A company or business cannot make a 
public interest disclosure.  If you ask someone else to make a disclosure on your behalf, that person, and not 
you, will be entitled to the protections in Part 6 of the Act for making the disclosure. 
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4. DEFINITIONS  

Unless otherwise specified within this policy, the following words and phrases are defined to mean the following 
in terms of this policy. 

Council  Greater Dandenong City Council or GDCC 

Detrimental action  Any action causing injury, loss or damage, any action seen as intimidation or 
harassment or any discrimination, disadvantage or adverse treatment shown 
toward a person’s employment, career, profession, trade or business, 
including the taking of disciplinary action.  

Discloser A person who (purports to) make a complaint, allegation or disclosure 
(however described) under the Act.  

Disclosure Any complaint, concern, matter, allegation or disclosure (however described) 
purported to be made in accordance with the Act.  

External Investigating  
Entity 

Any one of the bodies authorised to investigate a PID complaint, including the 
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC), the Victorian 
Ombudsman (VO), the Chief Commissioner of Police, the Victorian Local 
Government Inspectorate, the Judicial Commission, the Racing Integrity 
Commissioner and the Victorian Information Commissioner.  

IBAC  Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission (Victoria) 

Improper conduct  Any corrupt conduct or conduct that would constitute a criminal offence or 
reasonable grounds for dismissal.  This includes specified conduct as outlined 
in the Act.  The conduct or action being disclosed may have taken place, is still 
occurring, or is believed will occur or be engaged in.  

PID Act/the Act  Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 

Principal Officer Section 3 of the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Act 2011 defines 
relevant principal officer to include the Chief Executive Officer of a Council. 

Public interest 
disclosure (PID) 

Any complaint, concern, matter, allegation or disclosure (however described) 
made in accordance with Part 2 of the PID Act. 

Public interest 
complaint (PIC) 

A disclosure which has been determined and assessed by the IBAC to be a 
public interest complaint in accordance with ss 26, 31 or 31B of the PID Act. 

Public body  Primarily:  
• a public service body established under the Public Administration Act 

2004; or 
• a Council that is established under the Local Government Act 1989; or  
• a body performing a public function on behalf of the State. 

Public Officers  Includes, but is not limited to, Local Government Councillors and Council 
employees, staff or officers.  

Regulations  Public Interest Disclosure Regulations 2019 

VO  Victorian Ombudsman 
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5. POLICY 

5.1 MAKING DISCLOSURES 

Under sections 57 and 58 of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012, Council is required to establish and publish 
a set of procedures in accordance with Guidelines published by IBAC. Council is required to ensure these 
procedures are readily available to members of the public as well as internally to all Councillors, employees, 
contractors and volunteers of Council. 

Councillors, employees, contractors and volunteers are not required to exhaust the internal disclosure process 
but may make a disclosure to an external body in the first instance.  

Therefore this policy and GDCC’s procedures can be accessed through: Public Interest Disclosure Procedures - 
Greater Dandenong Council.   

Copies of the procedures can also be provided during normal office hours at Council customer service centres. 
The procedures document who can receive such disclosures - Council, IBAC and the Victorian Ombudsman, and 
how disclosures are made to each of these.   

The Act allows for disclosures to be made in several ways, including anonymously, in writing or verbally.  An 
individual does not need to identify the person or body about whom the disclosure is made.   

A disclosure that can be received by Council can be made to:  

• Council’s Chief Executive Officer (Principal Officer), Public Interest Disclosure Coordinator, Public Interest 
Disclosure Officers, or  

• the manager or supervisor of a discloser, or the manager or supervisor of the person about whom the 
disclosure pertains. 

5.2  INVESTIGATING DISCLOSURES 

Council can only receive a disclosure that relates to the conduct of itself or its own employees, staff, contractors, 
or volunteers.  These disclosures can also be made to IBAC or the VO directly.  For the latter, the issue must be 
within the Ombudsman’s authority to investigate.   

Council cannot receive or investigate a disclosure made in relation to a Councillor.  These disclosures must be 
made to IBAC or VO directly.  If a matter is reported to GDCC, and it falls within S.14 e) (i) - it relates to 
allegations about a Councillor or Councillors - the matter must be referred to the CEO, who then must pass the 
matter to IBAC.   

If Council believes a disclosure may be a Public Interest Disclosure made in accordance with the Act, the principal 
officer shall notify IBAC of the disclosure.  IBAC will then assess the disclosure and nominate whether it is a 
public interest disclosure complaint as defined by the Act.   

If a disclosure is deemed to be a public interest disclosure complaint, IBAC will investigate the disclosure.  If a 
disclosure is deemed not to be a public interest disclosure, IBAC may refer the disclosure back to Council to 
investigate it under the PID Act or Council’s Dispute Resolution Process.   

The decision-making process for matters that could be a disclosure under the PID Act will be undertaken in 
accordance with the following flow chart.   

More specific steps and processes are detailed in the Disclosures under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 
procedures.   
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5.3  CONFIDENTIALITY  

Council will protect the identity of any discloser and the matter disclosed.   

Maintaining confidentiality in relation to public interest disclosure matters is crucial for ensuring that reprisals are 
not made against a discloser.   

It is a criminal offence under the Act to divulge information connected with a disclosure made in accordance 
with the Act, including information about the identity of a discloser.  The penalties for breaching confidentiality 
obligations in this instance include financial penalties and imprisonment. 
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5.4  COUNCIL’S COMMITMENT TO THE PID ACT 

The Greater Dandenong City Council supports a workplace culture where the making of disclosures under the 
Act is valued by the organisation and the right of any individual to make a disclosure under the Act is taken 
seriously.   

Council will: 

• ensure this policy (and associated procedures) is accessible to the public and to its Councillors, staff 
(including agency staff), contractors and volunteers;  

• ensure the appropriate training is provided at all levels of the organisation to raise awareness in relation 
to Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012;  

• ensure its reporting system for Public Interest Disclosures is centralised, secure and accessible only by 
appropriately authorised officers;  

• ensure the confidentiality of information received or obtained in connection to a disclosure;  
• not tolerate any detrimental action in reprisal against any person for making a public interest disclosure 

and will take all reasonable steps to protect such persons from such action being taken;  
• afford natural justice and fairly treat anyone the subject to allegations contained in a disclosure;  
• take the appropriate disciplinary action and other action against any Councillors, staff (including agency 

staff), contractors and volunteers engaged in the taking of detrimental action;  
• ensure Council officers involved with handling Public Interest Disclosures are trained to receive and 

manage such disclosures appropriately;  
• ensure that Council handles Public Interest Disclosures consistently and appropriately in accordance with 

its obligations under the Act and IBAC’s Guidelines; and 
• continue to be visible, approachable and communicative in establishing a workplace that supports the 

making of Public Interest Disclosures. 

5.5 MORE INFORMATION 

Council has appointed the Manager, People, Culture and Innovation as its Public interest Disclosure Coordinator 
to handle enquiries and meet its obligations under the Act.  Details related to contacting this person are 
available online at Public Interest Disclosure Procedures - Greater Dandenong Council.  

Council also has a Whistleblowing Service through a consultant (Grant Thornton) who offer an independent, 
confidential anonymous way for employees and other stakeholders to report misconduct under public interest 
disclosure 24 hours a day.  The following information is also available on Council’s Intranet and website.   

Phone:  1300 924 705   

Email:  GDCC@myvault.net.au 

Mail:  Greater Dandenong City Council   
C/- Fraud & Forensic Consulting   
GPO Box 4736   
MELBOURNE VIC 3001   

Alternatively, for those without internet access, contact details can be provided by the People, Culture and 
Innovation Services Unit.   

Information about Public Interest Disclosures or the Victorian integrity system is available from IBAC at 
www.ibac.vic.gov.au or by telephone 1300 735 135.   

General complaints will continue to be handled under Council’s Complaints Policy  available at Council’s 
customer service centres or at Customer Service Charter and Dispute Resolution Guidelines.   
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6. RESPONSE TO THE OVERARCHING GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2020 

The PID Act is compatible with and supports and upholds the overarching governance principles of Section 9 of 
the Local Government Act 2020, particularly, but not restricted to:   

• Council decisions are to be made and actions taken in accordance with the relevant law  
• collaboration with other Councils and Governments and statutory bodies is to be sought  
• the ongoing financial viability of the Council is to be ensured  
• the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is to be ensured. 

As this Public Interest Disclosures Policy aims to ensure that Council meets the requirements of the PID Act, it 
also supports and demonstrates the above governance principles.  Additionally, it is a mechanism to ensure that 
the following principles of the Local Government Act 2020 are supported:   

• the public transparency principles (section 58); 
• the financial management principles (section 101); and 
• the service performance principles (section 106). 

The processes outlined in this policy overtly provide for making the policy available to the public and access to 
reporting mechanisms.  Stewardship of the policy and its associated actions is suitably delegated and resourced 
within the existing budget.   

Associated procedures - including the management of documentation and identifying information - allow for 
both privacy and confidentiality (under the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities; see below), 
while broader transparency is also provided by Council being subject to internal and external audit and FOI 
access (as applicable).   

Further transparency is ensured by having an external provider for whistle-blower situations and providing direct 
contact details for independent, external bodies (IBAC, VO) that can call on Council to make information 
available.   

Additionally, the mechanism of public interest disclosure allows for the investigation and recovery of Council 
funds, in fraudulent scenarios, and serves as a deterrence for fraud and corruption.  This helps ensure that 
Council uses its financial and other resources for serving the community.   

 

7. CHARTER OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES ACT 2006 - 
COMPATIBILITY STATEMENT 

All matters relevant to the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities have been considered in the 
preparation of this policy and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.  The particular areas in the 
Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities that relate to this policy are:   

• Section 8 - Right to recognition and equality before the law; 
• Section 13 - Right to privacy and reputation;   
• Section 15 - Right to freedom of expression;  
• Section 18 - Right to have the opportunity to take part in public life and to vote; and   
• Section 24 - Right to a fair hearing.   
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8. RESPONSE TO THE GENDER EQUALITY ACT 2020 

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and the Gender Equality Act 2020 have been considered in the 
preparation of this policy but are not relevant to its contents.  There is no requirement for a Gender Impact 
Assessment of this policy because the policy:   

• is purely administrative in its nature and does not have the potential to influence broader social norms 
and gender roles; and  

• is purely administrative in nature and does not benefit any one gender group over any other.  

 

9. CONSIDERATION OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

This policy has no obvious impact on Council’s Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency or Climate 
Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030 or the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 in relation to the 
overarching governance principle on climate change and sustainability. It is purely administrative in nature 
without potential to influence climate change adaptation, sustainability initiatives or emissions reduction.  

 

10. RESPONSIBILITIES 

The following responsibilities summarise the detailed information provided in the Disclosures under the Public 
Interest Disclosures Act 2012 Procedures (internal document).   

10.1  STAFF (INCLUDING AGENCY STAFF), COUNCILLORS, CONTRACTORS AND VOLUNTEERS 

Everyone within Council is encouraged to raise matters of concern relating to Council’s activities, expenditure, 
commercial or other relationships, or other relevant circumstances, including about other staff, under this 
policy.   

No detrimental action (or inaction) should occur, involving a person that has made, or is suspected of making, a 
report under the PID Act, and their privacy and the confidentiality of their disclosure must be protected.  This 
also applies to any persons assisting in the investigation of a disclosure.   

10.2  DIRECT AND INDIRECT SUPERVISORS AND MANAGERS 

Staff of the Council who wish to make a PID may make that disclosure to their direct or indirect supervisor or 
manager.  An officer receiving such a disclosure must therefore follow the steps outlined in the Disclosures under 
the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 Procedures.   

10.3  PID OFFICER 

Greater Dandenong City Council has three nominated PID Officers. From time to time, it may be necessary to 
appoint other or additional PID Officers.  Council will take all reasonable steps to publicise the contact details of 
these officers as widely as possible.  These officers can: 

• receive disclosures made internally by any person covered by this policy or externally from any member 
of the public;  

• serve as a central contact point for general confidential advice about the operation of the PID Act for any 
person wishing to make a disclosure; and 
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• will, under the guidance of the PID Coordinator, determine whether a disclosure should be notified to 
IBAC under section 21 of the PID Act.  

 
PID Officers will follow the Disclosures under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 Procedures.   

10.4  PID COORDINATOR 

Greater Dandenong City Council’s PID Coordinator has a central role in the internal reporting system and 
maintains oversight of the system.   (Further elements of these responsibilities are outlined in the Disclosures 
under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 Procedures).  

10.5  WELFARE MANAGER 

The Welfare Manager is responsible for looking after the general welfare of a discloser and any persons 
cooperating with the investigation of a PID.  (Further elements of these responsibilities are outlined in the 
Disclosures under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 Procedures).   

10.6  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

Refers disclosures to IBAC or other appropriate Investigating Entity, as defined in the Public Interest Disclosures 
Act 2012 and IBAC Act 2011, as relevant.   

 

11. REPORTING, MONITORING AND REVIEW 

This policy is formally reviewed every two years.   In the interim, changes to the legislative framework, or 
relevant associated developments (e.g., VO or IBAC bulletins, cases or briefings, etc) will be reviewed to 
determine if changes to this policy (and the associated procedures) are necessary.  Responsibility for any review 
lies with the Public Interest Disclosure Coordinator.   

Additionally, Council’s whistle-blower service provider, Grant Thornton (see above), also provides relevant 
updates and commentary arising in this domain.  At the time of review of this policy, Grant Thornton had 
delivered PID and fraud awareness training to Council staff and this learning will be repeated, at quarterly 
intervals, to cover all staff.  Support information will be distributed quarterly on Council’s intranet.    

The Protected Disclosures Coordinator receives regular training to effectively manage the procedures and carry 
out their responsibilities under the Act.   

The Public Disclosure Framework (which includes this policy) is also subject to regular review by the Internal 
Auditor.   

 

12. REFERENCES AND RELATED DOCUMENTS 

Legislation  

• Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 
• Gender Equality Act 2020 
• Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011 
• Local Government Act 1989 
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• Local Government Act 2020 
• Planning and Environment Act 1987  
• Protected Disclosures Regulations 2019 
• Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 

Related Council and Other Policies, Procedures, Strategies, Protocols, Guidelines  

• IBAC Guidelines for handling public interest disclosures  
http://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/publications-and-resources/article/guidelines-for-making-and-handling-
protected-disclosures; (URL current as at 17/10/2022) 

• IBAC Guidelines for public interest disclosure welfare management 
https://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/publications-and-resources/article/guidelines-for-protected-disclosure-
welfare-management  (URL current as at 17/10/2022) 

• Greater Dandenong City Council Child Safe Standards Policy 
• Greater Dandenong City Council Councillor Code of Conduct  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Customer Service Charter, Complaints Policy and Dispute Resolution 

Guidelines 
• Greater Dandenong City Council Disclosures under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 Procedures  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Diversity, Access and Equity Policy 
• Greater Dandenong City Council Fraud and Corruption Prevention and Control Policy  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Fraud and Corruption Response Procedure (contained within the above 

policy)  
• Greater Dandenong City Council Instruments of Delegations 
• Greater Dandenong City Council Public Transparency Policy 
• Greater Dandenong City Council Staff Code of Conduct  

 

168

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

4.2.2 Review of Council Policies - Public Interest Disclosures Policy Update 2022 (Cont.)

http://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/publications-and-resources/article/guidelines-for-making-and-handling-protected-disclosures


4.2.3 Q1 2022-23 Council Quarterly Performance Report

A9220861File Id:

ExecutiveManager Communications &Customer
Service

Responsible Officer:

Q1 Council Quarterly Performance Report 1 July
– 30 September 2022

Attachments:

Financial Report 1 July – 30 September 2022

1. Report Summary

This report details Council’s progress against performance targets outlined in the Council Plan 2021-25,
Annual Plan 2022-23 and Amended Budget 2022-23.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council notes the achievements against the Council Plan indicators
and the Amended Budget for the period ending 30 September 2022.
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3. Background

Council formally adopted the Council Plan 2021-25 and Annual Plan 2022-23 on Monday 27 June
2022, and the Amended Budget on 12 September 2022.

The Council Plan 2021-25 outlines the vision and objectives of the current Council over the four years
of its term in office. This document guides service delivery, innovation and good governance, and
provides the foundation for the corporate planning framework for all business activities. The Council
Plan also guides the budget, service delivery priorities and the continuous improvement of our services.

The Council Plan 2021-25 is made available to residents through the Customer Service Centres,
libraries and on Council’s website at www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au

Progress against performance targets is outlined in two components of this report.

Part 1 – The Quarterly Performance Report details the achievements for the Council Plan Indicators
from the Council Plan 2021-25 for the period 1 July to 30 September 2022.

Part 2 – The Financial Report is designed to inform Councillors of the results of operations for the
period 1 July to 30 September 2022 including financial performance against the Amended Budget
adopted by Council on Monday 12 September 2022.

Part 1 and Attachment 1: Quarterly Performance Report for the period 1 July to 30 September
2022

Performance highlights against the Council Plan strategic objectives include:

A socially connected, safe and healthy city

Eight of 12 actions of the Year 3 Make Your Move (MYM) Action Plan have commenced including
a review of the MYM Communication Strategy, development of a community ambassadors
program, a review of the Walking and Cycling Strategies, and the development of an evaluation
framework to monitor the impacts of the MYM Strategy.
The Greater Dandenong Volunteer Resource Service has continued to provide volunteering
matching services, including 14 new roles created of a total 168 roles advertised on
GoVolunteer/Seek Volunteer and social media.
Council provided representation at four Centre for Multicultural Youth meetings as part of an
advocacy group for South Sudanese homeless people in collaboration with other key stakeholders.
The Draft Community Safety Plan 2022-26 was created through extensive consultation and
feedback.
The 1000 Play Streets campaign has been launched.
In consultation with the community, the new Springvale Community Hub Action Plan 2022-25
has been completed.
Council has engaged with Food Bank and facilitated connections within the municipality to create
new partnerships to deliver culturally appropriate food.
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A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts

Six Greater Dandenong early years services and primary schools have Reconciliation Action
Plans registered with the Narragunnawali Reconciliation Online Platform.
NAIDOC week celebrations provided an opportunity to explore First Nation cultures which
included workshops delivered to 72 primary school students (grades three and four), learning
about Indigenous artefacts and instruments.
Springvale Snow Fest was delivered on 31 July with 40,000 attendees and a 78 per cent audience
satisfaction rate.
The Little Day Out was delivered on 18 September with 5,000 attendees and a 97 per cent
audience satisfaction rate.
Council received $150,000 of funding matched 2:1 from Creative Victoria through the Creative
Neighbourhood Infrastructure Program (CNISP) for interim infrastructure works to the ground
floor level of the Precinct Energy Plant Creative Industries Hub.
95 events took place at the Drum Theatre including 51 live performances and 44 other events
(functions, rehearsals and workshops) with an attendance of 7,853 people.

A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods

The In Situ Pop Up Arts school holiday program and NAIDOCweek event were delivered. These
included nine activities over eight days and 11 events/performances. Approximately 3,500
community members were engaged.
Contract documentation for the Vanity Lane pedestrian link, detailing all aspects of civil and
landscape design for the project, is complete.
Practical completion for the Springvale Boulevard has been reached and defects rectification is
underway.
Council has obtained approximately $1 million for three Blackspot projects for the 2022-23
program to address safety issues based on historical crashes.

A green city committed to a sustainable future

A further five Hybrid vehicles have been added to the fleet making a total of seven, with electric
vehicle purchases planned to commence in 2023-24.
Implementation of the Sustainable Buildings Policy continues with major projects including the
review of the detailed design of the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre and tender documentation for
the Keysborough South Community Hub.
The Biodiversity Action Plan has been completed and will be presented to Council for adoption
in early 2023.
Year five of Greening Our City is underway with the street tree planting program complete for
the winter/spring season.
The 2022-23 Waste Education and Marketing Plans have been developed and are currently
being implemented. Key highlights will be the reintroduction of the Litter Action Task Force and
Litter Prevention programs and the return of face to face delivery education programs.
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A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes

The Ignite Business Program 2022 concluded in September with a Pitch night finishing the
five-month program. Fifteen enthusiastic entrepreneurs enrolled in the Ignite program in 2022.
This year's Lunch with the Winners was highly successful with a captivating and imaginative
presentation from the CEO of The Creature Technology Company.
595 laptops were donated to more than 19 local government schools across the south east of
Melbourne in the second full year of operation of the ‘This is IT’ Schools program.
Library language and literacy appointments and programs had 292 attendees.

A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community

Gender Equality Action Plan initiatives continue including a Flexible/Hybrid Work Policy, training
on appropriate workplace behaviours, and improvements to leave provisions as part of the new
Enterprise Agreement negotiations.
The rollout of a new digital literacy campaign for staff has commenced.
The Children’s Advisory Group continues to meet and 19 students from nine primary schools
attended the meeting in July.
The rollout of in ground parking sensors within the Springvale Activity Centre have commenced.
Council’s Community Engagement Framework was endorsed in June and work is now underway
to establish an internal working group to ensure effective engagement continues across Council.

Part 2 and Attachment 2: Financial Report for the period 1 July to 30 September 2022

The attached financial report is designed to inform Councillors of the results of operations for the
period 1 July 2022 to 30 September 2022 including financial performance against the Amended
Budget adopted by Council on 12 September 2022.

The financial report incorporates a set of Financial Statements and a Directorate Analysis of financial
performance by Business Unit. The following are contained in the Attachment:

Income Statement
Balance Sheet
Cash Flow Statement
Capital Expenditure Statement
Capital Expenditure report
Investment Report
Directorate Analysis.
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Whilst the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
they contain several items which are “non-cash” in nature such as depreciation on assets and the
written down (book) value of assets sold. They also exclude capital expenditure, new borrowings and
loan repayments and as such, these Statements do not provide an accurate indication of the
surplus/deficit cash position within a financial year.

The table on the following page provides a management accounting summary of the financial
performance for the period 1 July 2022 to 30 September 2022 which removes non-cash items and
adds back cash items that are excluded from the financial statements.

Management Accounting Summary
for the period 1 July 2022 to 30 September 2022
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Results for the period 1 July 2022 to 30 September 2022

The overall management accounting result (after removing non-cash items) for the period 1 July 2022
to 30 September 2022 shows a favourable variance between the budget and actual of $5.79 million.
The variance is due to a favourable surplus from ongoing operations ($4.10 million), caused by lower
than anticipated operating expenditure and higher income.

Capital expenditure is $7.93 million to 30 September 2022 (with a further $20.52 million committed).

INCOME

Operating income for the quarter ended 30 September 2022 is $1.69 million favourable against
budget. This is primarily due to the following:

Grants – operating ($1.25 million favourable) – Receipt of unbudgeted grant funding for Refugee
Immunisation - PRIME ($513,000), Waste Management Kerbside Reform support ($369,000) and
Local Partnership program ($192,000), combined with earlier than anticipated funding received for
Family Day Care ($478,000), Library and Information Services ($107,000), Child First ($77,000) and
Animal Management ($14,000).

These favourable variances are partly offset by lower than anticipated grant funding based on target
achievement for Home and Community Care ($266,000) and Planned Activity Group ($37,000)
combined with a delay in recognition of grant funding for HACC – Home Maintenance ($166,000)
and Sleep and Settling Initiative ($71,000) as well as a delay in receipt of grant funding for the Local
Government Capacity Building program ($53,000).

Contributions –monetary ($408,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to better than anticipated
income from public open space contributions (Non-Directorate $211,000). The nature of these receipts
makes timing difficult to predict. These funds are transferred to reserves. Additionally, Council also
received an unbudgeted contribution from Melbourne Water for Chapel Road which relates to prior
year expenditure (Capital Works Program $197,000).

Other income ($398,000 favourable) – Mainly due to better than anticipated interest income as a
result of higher than anticipated interest rates (Non-Directorate $297,000).

Rates and charges ($336,000 favourable) - Better than anticipated income from supplementary
rates to date (Non-Directorate $332,000).

These favourable income variances are partly offset by unfavourable variances in:

User fees ($393,000 unfavourable) – Mainly due to lower than anticipated fee income from parking
ticket machines/meters, building and inspection permits (City Planning, Design and Amenity $383,000).

Statutory fees and fines ($382,000 unfavourable) – Mainly due to lower than anticipated income
from parking, littering, health and food infringements and planning applications (City Planning, Design
and Amenity $315,000).

Any permanent variances will be reviewed and adjusted in the Mid-Year Budget.
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EXPENDITURE

Operating expenditure for the quarter ended 30 September 2022 is favourable by $2.42 million against
budget. The major variances are in employee costs and materials and services.

Employee costs ($2.96 million favourable) – This favourable variance is mainly due to staff
recruitment occurring later than planned and a delay in commencement of grant funded projects
(Community Services $1.98 million, Engineering Services $440,000, City Planning, Design and
Amenity $301,000, Corporate Services $146,000 and Greater Dandenong Business $100,000). Of
this favourable variance, $1.48 million relates to grant funded programs which require an acquittal
(mostly in Community Services).

Materials and services ($1.40 million favourable) – The major items contributing to this favourable
variance are:

Contract services ($299,000) – mainly due to delay in commencement of works, projects and
receipt of invoices combined with timing of work schedules (Engineering Services $535,000,
City Planning, Design and Amenity $92,000 and Greater Dandenong Business $79,000). This
is partly offset by higher payments to Family Day Care educators, which is offset by higher grant
income (Community Services $408,000).
Materials, maintenance and services ($293,000) – mainly due to lower than anticipated
expenditure for materials, delay in receipt of invoices and commencement of projects (Community
Services $167,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $90,000 and Engineering Services
$27,000).
Administration costs ($257,000) – lower than anticipated expenditure across a range of accounts
including promotions, community education, postage/courier, printing/stationery, Council
publications, fuel, postage, advertising and events (Community Services $143,000, Corporate
Services $59,000, Non Directorate $46,000 and Engineering Services $38,000).
Consultants, professional services ($232,000) – mainly due to delay in commencement of projects
and receipt of invoices (Greater Dandenong Business $136,000 and City Planning, Design and
Amenity $84,000).
Utilities ($220,000) – mainly due to lower than anticipated electricity and water costs to date
(Engineering Services $195,000 and Corporate Services $30,000).

These favourable expenditure variances are partly offset by unfavourable variances in:

Asset write offs ($1.56 million unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance arising from asset renewal
and replacement as part of capital work projects. This variance predominantly relates to a building,
two car parks and a bridge that were replaced. This item is difficult to predict and is a non-cash
accounting entry (Non-Directorate).
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Prior year capital expenditure unable to be capitalised (non-cash) ($296,000 unfavourable) –
This unfavourable variance is due to works in progress (prior year capital expenditure) that is not
able to be capitalised to the asset register because it is not capital in nature, does not meet the
capitalisation threshold or relates to non-Council owned assets (Non-Directorate). This is a non-cash
entry that does not impact on Council’s cash position. Examples of non-capital expenditure includes
asset relocation, asset removal/demolition, operating services, projects cancelled, repairs and
maintenance expenditure, studies/surveys and concept planning.

Any permanent variances will be reviewed and adjusted in the Mid-Year Budget.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure at 30 September 2022 was $7.93 million. A further $20.52 million remains
committed at the end of September. The capital works program comprises of asset renewal, expansion,
upgrade and the investment in new assets.

4. Proposal

That Council notes the progress against performance targets outlined in the Council Plan 2021-25
for the period 1 July to 30 September 2022 and the Financial Report for the period 1 July to 30
September 2022.

5. Financial Implications

The financial position of the Council will be monitored against the approved Amended Budget to
ensure that Council achieves its financial goals.

6. Consultation

The Chief Executive Officer, Directors and staff responsible for reporting were consulted. Council’s
Finance Department has prepared the financial statements and all other attachments with feedback
from Business Unit Managers.
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7. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic
Objectives, Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for
themselves and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision
for 2040:

The City of Great Dandenong is a home to all.
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

7.1 Community Vision 2040

This report is consistent with the Community Vision 2040 and its accompanying principles:

Safe and peaceful community
Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities
Sustainable environment
Embrace diversity and multiculturalism
Mind, Body and Spirit
Art and Culture.

7.2 Council Plan 2021-25

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will
do this over four years. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives:

A socially connected, safe and healthy city
A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts
A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods
A green city committed to a sustainable future
A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes
A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.
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8. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 states that a Council must in the performance of its role
give effect to the overarching governance principles.

This report addresses the following principles:

a. the municipal community is to be engaged in strategic planning and strategic decision making
b. the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is to be ensured.

And also takes into account the following supporting principles:

a. the community engagement principles (section 56)
b. the public transparency principles (section 58)
c. the strategic planning principles (section 89)
d. the financial management principles (section 101)
e. the service performance principles (section 106).

The Quarterly Performance Report provides details on Council’s progress against its key strategic
objectives to ensure accountability and transparency of its actions.

9. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

Council, Councillors and members of Council staff are a public authority under the Charter of Human
Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 and, as such, are all responsible to act in accordance with the
Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006 (the Charter).

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

10. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

The content/topic/issue (of this report) is purely administrative in nature and does not benefit any one
gender group over any other. The Council Plan itself was the subject of a Gender Impact Assessment
and all strategic objectives and key priorities were developed to ensure that all genders were
represented.

11. Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.
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In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

This report outlines progress against some of Council’s overarching climate change and sustainability
actions for 2022-23. The Council Plan highlights key activities which impact Council’s Declaration on
a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s Climate Change Emergency Strategy 2020-30 and
the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020.

12. Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks

This report forms part of Council’s Integrated Planning Framework and is in accordance with Council’s
policy of providing regular information and feedback to Council and the community about Council’s
financial position.

13. Conclusion

Greater Dandenong City Council provides a performance report against organisational objectives
and its financial position on a quarterly basis. The reporting procedures and systems in place provide
Councillors and the community with the opportunity to monitor progress against Council Plan Indicators.
This ensures that all resources are managed effectively and accountably.

14. Recommendation

That Council notes the progress against the performance targets outlined in the Council Plan
2021-25 for the period 1 July to 30 September 2022 and the Financial Report for the period 1
July to 30 September 2022.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
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Executive Summary 
 
 

Operating Result 
 
For the three months ended 30 September 2022 Council achieved a surplus operating result of $7.01 
million which is $4.10 million better than the year-to-date budget.  The main factors contributing to this 
result comprise favourable variances in:  
 
 Income year to date is $1.69 million favourable predominantly due to unbudgeted and additional 

operating grant funding ($1.25 million).  
 

 Operating expenditure year to date ($2.42 million favourable) in employee costs ($2.96 million) due 
to staff recruitment occurring later than planned and a delay in commencement of grant funded 
projects, as well as materials and services ($1.46 million) due to delay in the commencement of 
works, timing of works schedules combined with lower than anticipated expenditure to date.  

 
 
 

Capital Result 
 
Year-to-date capital expenditure for the period is $7.93 million which is $121,000 unfavourable to budget. 
There are also $20.52 million in commitments (open purchase orders) at 30 September.  Please refer to 
further details on capital expenditure at section E and Appendix 1. 
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Income Statement 
For the period 1 July 2022 - 30 September 2022 
 

 
 

NOTE 
 
For comments regarding movements in Operating Income and Expenditure items, please refer to 
explanatory notes located at B1 to B2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income B1

Rates and charges 42,467 42,131 336 162,081 162,081
Statutory fees and fines 2,035 2,417 (382) 9,696 9,696
User fees 1,866 2,259 (393) 9,389 9,389
Grants - operating 7,231 5,980 1,251 25,554 33,940
Grants - capital 1,160 1,060 100 14,722 3,518
Contributions - monetary 908 500 408 4,358 3,447
Contributions - non-monetary - - - 10,000 10,000

Net gain (loss) on disposal of 
property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 121 150 (29) 445 445
Other income 1,968 1,570 398 4,849 4,849
Total income 57,756 56,067 1,689 241,094 237,365

Expenses B2

Employee costs 19,365 22,328 2,963 97,261 91,636
Materials and services 18,675 20,074 1,399 78,632 75,427

Prior year capital expenditure 
unable to be capitalised (non-cash) 296 - (296) - -
Bad and doubtful debts - 9 9 1,953 1,953
Depreciation 8,486 8,482 (4) 33,943 33,943
Amortisation - intangible assets 15 10 (5) 60 60
Amortisation - right of use assets 149 150 1 604 604
Borrowing costs 685 685 - 2,667 2,667
Finance costs - leases - - - 22 22
Asset write offs 1,555 - (1,555) - -
Other expenses 1,520 1,423 (97) 4,960 4,489
Total expenses 50,746 53,161 2,415 220,102 210,801

Net surplus (deficit) 7,010 2,906 4,104 20,992 26,564

232

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

4.2.3 Q1 2022-23 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



       Financial Report for the period 1 July 2022 – 30 September 2022 
 

 ________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Page 4 

 

Balance Sheet 
As at 30 September 2022 
 

 
 

2022-23 2021-22 2022-23 2022-23

ACTUAL ACTUAL AMENDED ORIGINAL

30 Sep 2022 30 Jun 2022 BUDGET BUDGET

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets C1
Cash and cash equivalents 75,561          30,212          132,406         126,900        
Financial assets 124,163        150,504        -                -                
Trade and other receivables 132,873        29,840          26,937           28,088          
Other assets 1,569            9,077            7,296             4,085            
Total current assets 334,166        219,633        166,639         159,073        

Non-current assets C2
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2,429,138     2,431,571     2,504,079      2,549,552     
Investment property 6,336            6,336            6,336             10,860          
Right-of-use assets 1,697            1,846            2,030             1,191            
Intangible assets 101               116               106                102               
Trade and other receivables 281               281               281                295               
Total non-current assets 2,437,553     2,440,150     2,512,832      2,562,000     
Total assets 2,771,719     2,659,783     2,679,471      2,721,073     

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities C3  
Trade and other payables 3,175            23,749          23,583           23,714          
Trust funds and deposits 12,454          4,521            4,870             4,870            
Unearned income 54,834          55,791          51,493           52,293          
Provisions 21,717          21,730          21,729           22,986          
Other interest-bearing liabilities -                -                -                -                
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,625            3,484            4,196             4,196            
Lease liabilities 383               524               545                570               
Total current liabilities 214,385        109,799        106,416         108,629        

Non-current liabilities C4
Provisions 1,025            1,113            1,422             1,289            
Trust funds and deposits 2,837            2,409            2,200             2,035            
Other interest-bearing liabilities -                -                -                -                
Interest-bearing liabilities 49,779          49,779          51,704           51,704          
Lease liabilities 1,324            1,324            1,379             442               
Total non-current liabilities 54,965          54,625          56,705           55,470          
Total liabilities 269,350        164,424        163,121         164,099        

NET ASSETS 2,502,369     2,495,359     2,516,350      2,556,974     

EQUITY C5
Accumulated surplus 959,230        954,375        982,692         992,642        
Asset revaluation reserve 1,472,584     1,472,584     1,472,583      1,511,604     
Reserves 70,555          68,400          61,075           52,728          
TOTAL EQUITY 2,502,369     2,495,359     2,516,350      2,556,974     
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS 
 
 
Balance Sheet (previous page) 
 
Prepaid Rates: Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, although 
cash is received in quarterly instalments, nine direct debit payments or a lump sum, depending on how 
the ratepayer chooses to pay.  Rate revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates 
determined for the year in July. 
 
For comments regarding movements in other Balance Sheet items, please refer to explanatory notes 
located at C1 to C5. 
 
 
Cash Flow Statement (next page) 

 
Details regarding Council’s cash movements are contained in Note D - Cash Flow Statement. 
 
The dissemination of Council’s restricted and operating cash is provided in the graph “Restricted and 
Unrestricted Cash” in Appendix 2 Investment Analysis in this report. 
 
Cash inflows and outflows are inclusive of GST where applicable. 
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Cash Flow Statement 
 

 

2022-23 2022-23 2022-23
ACTUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 

 as at  AMENDED ORIGINAL
30 Sep 2022 BUDGET BUDGET

Inflows/ Inflows/ Inflows/
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

$'000 $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges 57,308           162,513         161,639         
Statutory fees and fines 1,758             8,158             7,203             
User fees 2,378             9,830             9,996             
Grants - operating 8,315             26,812           36,122           
Grants - capital 2,253             13,619           3,518             
Contributions - monetary 1,353             3,358             3,447             
Interest received 295                500                499                
Trust funds and deposits taken 14,674           30,340           28,102           
Other receipts 1,271             7,995             4,855             
Net GST refund 3,164             14,403           9,997             
Employee costs (22,155)          (96,953)          (90,698)          
Materials and services (25,421)          (96,409)          (88,018)          
Short-term, low value and variable lease payments (167)               (569)               (569)               
Trust funds and deposits repaid (6,260)            (30,200)          (28,102)          
Other payments (1,425)            (4,888)            (4,369)            
Net cash provided by operating activities 37,341           48,509           53,622           

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (16,816)          (96,762)          (55,590)          
(Payments) proceeds for investments 26,341           150,504         -                 
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 147                706                706                
Net cash provided by investing activities 9,672             54,448           (54,884)          

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs (685)               (2,667)            (2,667)            
Proceeds from borrowings -                 6,120             6,120             
Repayment of borrowings (859)               (3,484)            (3,484)            
Interest paid - lease liability -                 (22)                 (22)                 
Repayment of lease liabilities (120)               (710)               (710)               
Net cash used in financing activities (1,664)            (763)               (763)               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 45,349           102,194         (2,025)            

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 30,212           30,212           128,925         
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 75,561           132,406         126,900         

Represented by:
Operating cash                                      (73,682)          2,521             43,593           
Restricted cash                               149,243         129,885         83,307           
Total 75,561           132,406         126,900         
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Capital Expenditure Statement 
 
The detailed program under each of the capital groups is contained in Appendix 1 – Capital 
Expenditure. 
 

 
 

 
  

 YTD 
ACTUAL 

 YTD 
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE 

 
COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
AMENDED

BUDGET 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

PROPERTY 3,479 3,513 34 8,790 38,980 17,461
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1,099 1,104 5 1,236 3,999 1,047
INFRASTRUCTURE 3,352 3,192 (160) 10,490 53,782 37,082
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 7,930 7,809 (121) 20,517 96,761 55,590
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

A.  Accounting Policy Notes  
 

The financial report is prepared on the principles of accrual accounting. Accrual accounting recognises 
income when earned and expenditure when incurred, regardless of whether cash settlement has taken 
place. The basis of recognition of major income and expenditure in these statements are defined below. 

1. Rate revenue: Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, 
although cash is received in quarterly instalments or a lump sum, depending on how the ratepayer 
chooses to pay.  Rate revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates determined 
for the year in July. 

2. Grants revenue: Council receives two types of grants, namely a General Purpose Grant (Financial 
Assistance Grant funding from the Victoria Local Government Grants Commission) which is not tied 
to any programs and Special Purpose Grants for various programs.  In accordance with new 
Accounting Standards, AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and AASB 1058 ‘Income 
of Not-For-Profit Entities’, grant income is now generally recognised in the Income Statement to the 
extent of satisfied performance obligations.  Alternatively, grant funding which does not have 
sufficiently specific performance obligations are recognised as income when the cash is received.  
Any grant income relating to unsatisfied performance obligations are recognised as unearned income 
in the Balance Sheet at balance date.  Grants comprise of operating and capital (recurrent and non-
recurrent in nature). 

3. Fees and charges: Most fees and charges are recognised when cash is received.  Generally, where 
Council raises a debtor’s invoice, income is recognised at the point of the invoice and not when cash 
is received.  Car parking permit income relating to a future period at balance date are recognised as 
unearned income in the Balance Sheet. 

4. Contributions - cash: Cash contributions are essentially from developers towards open space 
works. These monies are treated as income when received. Council is obligated to spend these 
monies for the purpose for which they are given by the developers.  Council also receives external 
contributions for other capital projects.  Cash contributions received are held in reserves and treated 
as “restricted cash” until they are spent (see note 9 below). 

5. Employee costs: Salaries expenditure is based on fortnightly salaries paid and accruals for salary 
on-costs such as leave entitlements, superannuation and workcover. 

6. Capital expenditure: The two broad areas of capital are the capital improvement program (CIP) 
(which includes infrastructure and major projects) and ‘other’ which includes fleet, computers, plant 
and furniture.  Expenditure is recognised as capital if it is significant in value and results in assets 
which have a useful life in excess of at least one year. 

7. Budget information: The Original Budget information contained in the report is the budget approved 
by Council on 27 June 2022. The year to date budget in this report reflects the Amended Budget as 
adopted by Council on 12 September 2022.  The Amended Budget represents the adopted budget 
incorporating net carry forward capital and operating amounts from 2021-22. 

8. Cash Flow Statement: Reflects the actual cash movements during the year. 

9. Restricted cash: These are monies set aside for specific purposes and are not readily available for 
day to day operations or general capital works. They include funds set aside towards meeting long 
service leave commitments (required by government regulations), statutory reserves (eg. open space 
contributions) and other funds that are committed towards specific purposes.  
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B1.  Operating Income 
 
The chart below shows the categories of operating income against their respective budgets (excludes 
non-cash accounting entries such as non-monetary contributions or gifted assets). 

 
Operating income for the quarter ended 30 September 2022 is $1.69 million favourable against budget.  
This is primarily due to the following: 
 
Grants – operating ($1.25 million favourable) – Receipt of unbudgeted grant funding for Refugee 
Immunisation - PRIME ($513,000), Waste Management Kerbside Reform support ($369,000) and Local 
Partnership program ($192,000), combined with earlier than anticipated funding received for Family Day 
Care ($478,000), Library and Information Service ($107,000), Child First ($77,000) and Animal 
Management ($14,000). 
 
These favourable variances are partly offset by lower than anticipated grant funding based on target 
achievement for Home and Community Care ($266,000) and Planned Activity Group ($37,000) combined 
with a delay in recognition of grant funding for HACC – Home Maintenance ($166,000) and Sleep and 
Settling Initiative ($71,000) as well as a delay in receipt of grant funding for the Local Government 
Capacity Building program ($53,000). 
 
Contributions – monetary ($408,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to better than anticipated 
income from public open space contributions (Non-Directorate $211,000). The nature of these receipts 
makes timing difficult to predict. These funds are transferred to reserves.  Additionally, Council also 
received an unbudgeted contribution from Melbourne Water for Chapel Road which relates to prior year 
expenditure (Capital Works Program $197,000). 
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Net gain on
disposal of

PIPE
Other Income

YTD actual 42,467 2,035 1,866 908 7,231 1,160 121 1,968

YTD budget 42,131 2,417 2,259 500 5,980 1,060 150 1,570

Income from operating activities 
for 1 July 2022 - 30 September 2022
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Other income ($398,000 favourable) – Mainly due to better than anticipated interest income as a result 
of higher than anticipated interest rates (Non-Directorate $297,000).   
 
Rates and charges ($336,000 favourable) - Better than anticipated income from supplementary rates 
to date (Non-Directorate $332,000).   
 
These favourable income variances are partly offset by unfavourable variances in: 
 
User fees ($393,000 unfavourable) – Mainly due to lower than anticipated fee income from parking 
ticket machines/meters, building and inspection permits (City Planning, Design and Amenity $383,000). 
 
Statutory fees and fines ($382,000 unfavourable) – Mainly due to lower than anticipated income from 
parking, littering, health and food infringements and planning applications (City Planning, Design and 
Amenity $315,000). 
 
These items will be considered during the Mid-Year Budget review. 
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B2.  Operating Expenditure 
 

The chart below shows the categories of operating expenditure against their respective budget (excludes 
non-cash accounting entries including depreciation, amortisation, asset write offs and prior year capital 
expenditure unable to be capitalised). 
 

 
Operating expenditure for the quarter ended 30 September 2022 is favourable by $2.42 million against 
budget. The major variances are in employee costs and materials and services. 
 
Employee costs ($2.96 million favourable) – This favourable variance is mainly due to staff recruitment 
occurring later than planned and a delay in commencement of grant funded projects (Community 
Services $1.98 million, Engineering Services $440,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $301,000, 
Corporate Services $146,000 and Greater Dandenong Business $100,000).  Of this favourable variance, 
$1.48 million relates to grant funded programs which require an acquittal (mostly in Community Services).   
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YTD budget 22,328 20,074 0 685 1,423

Expenditure from operating activities 
for 1 July 2022 to 30 September 2022
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Materials and services ($1.40 million favourable) – The major items contributing to this favourable 
variance are: 
 
 Contract services ($299,000) – mainly due to delay in commencement of works, projects and receipt 

of invoices combined with timing of maintenance schedules (Engineering Services $535,000, City 
Planning, Design and Amenity $92,000 and Greater Dandenong Business $79,000).  This is partly 
offset by higher payments to Family Day Care educators, which is offset by higher grant income 
(Community Services $408,000). 

 Materials, maintenance and services ($293,000) – mainly due to lower than anticipated expenditure 
for materials, delay in receipt of invoices and commencement of projects (Community Services 
$167,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $90,000 and Engineering Services $27,000). 

 Administration costs ($257,000) – lower than anticipated expenditure across a range of accounts 
including promotions, community education, postage/courier, printing/stationery, Council 
publications, fuel, postage, advertising and events (Community Services $143,000, Corporate 
Services $59,000, Non Directorate $46,000 and Engineering Services $38,000). 

 Consultants, professional services ($232,000) – mainly due to delay in commencement of projects 
and receipt of invoices (Greater Dandenong Business $136,000 and City Planning, Design and 
Amenity $84,000). 

 Utilities ($220,000) – mainly due to lower than anticipated electricity and water costs to date 
(Engineering Services $195,000 and Corporate Services $30,000). 

 
These favourable expenditure variances are partly offset by unfavourable variances in: 
 
Asset write offs ($1.56 million unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance arising from asset renewal and 
replacement as part of capital work projects.  This variance predominantly relates to a building, two car 
parks and a bridge that were replaced.  This item is difficult to predict and is a non-cash accounting entry 
(Non-Directorate). 
 
Prior year capital expenditure unable to be capitalised (non-cash) ($296,000 unfavourable) – This 
unfavourable variance is due to works in progress (prior year capital expenditure) that is not able to be 
capitalised to the asset register because it is not capital in nature, does not meet the capitalisation 
threshold or relates to non-Council owned assets (Non-Directorate). This is a non-cash entry that does 
not impact on Council’s cash position. Examples of non-capital expenditure includes asset relocation, 
asset removal/demolition, operating services, projects cancelled, repairs and maintenance expenditure, 
studies/surveys and concept planning. 
 
Any permanent variances will be reviewed and adjusted in the Mid-Year Budget. 
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C.  Balance Sheet 
   
Council's net assets are valued at $2.50 billion as at 30 September 2022. 
 

C1.  Current assets  
 
Cash and other assets that can be readily converted to cash. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents ($75.56 million) – Represent the net amount held by Council in cash or 
term deposits with a term of less than 90 days.  
 
$149.24 million of cash and investment funds are ‘restricted’ for various purposes.  The reduction in 
operating funds as at 30 September 2022 is due to the classification of $124.16 million of term deposits 
greater than 90 days as ‘financial assets’.  These are detailed in the notes to the cash flows that follow 
in section D and a graphical presentation in Appendix 2.  However, if these term deposits were classified 
as cash, the operating cash balance would be $50.48 million. 
 
Funds are invested in accordance with Council’s Investment Policy.  The policy requires Council to invest 
with prudence, consideration of acceptable risks and relevant legislation. 
 
The details of Council’s investments are contained in Appendix 2.  In selecting investment products, 
Council has paid due consideration to risk by investing in products that have a minimum Standard and 
Poor’s (S&P) rating of ‘A’. 
 
Financial assets ($124.16 million) – Reduction in financial assets from 30 June 2022 is due to maturity 
of investments placed in Term Deposits with a term of greater than three months as of 30 September 
2022.  These terms resulted from investments placed to maximise the interest return to Council. 
 
Trade and other receivables ($132.87 million) – This balance includes: 
 Rate debtors $114.98 million 
 Infringement debtors of $9.63 million (net of provision for doubtful debts). 
 General debtors $8.26 million (net of provision for doubtful debts). 
 
Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, although cash is received 
in quarterly instalments, nine direct debit payments or a lump sum, depending on how the ratepayer 
chooses to pay.  Rate revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates determined for 
the year in July. 

 
Other assets ($1.57 million) – This balance includes: 
 Accrued income $979,000 – income earned but cash not yet received as at 30 September 2022. 
 Prepayments $31,000 - expenses prepaid at 30 September 2022. 
 Other deposits $559,000 – represents $75,000 deposit for Metropolitan Resource Recovery organic 

waste processing contract, $250,000 deposit paid for Metropolitan Resource Recovery Landfill 
Services Gate Fee and $234,000 deposit paid to South East Water for 5 Mason Street, Dandenong 
works.  
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C2. Non-current assets  
 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment ($2.43 billion) – Includes Council roads, drains, 
buildings, plant and other fixed assets.  These values are reflected after recognising the depreciation 
allowed against each asset.   
 
Investment property ($6.34 million) is separately classified from ‘Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment’ in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  Any adjustment to the fair value of 
these assets on an annual basis is recorded in the Comprehensive Income Statement and these assets 
are not depreciated.   
 
Right-of-use assets ($1.70 million) – Represents leased (right-of-use) assets in accordance with the 
Accounting Standard AASB 16 'Leases'.  Includes property, fleet, IT and office equipment that has been 
leased under ordinary lease arrangements.  
 
Intangible assets ($101,000) – Represents computer software assets.  These values are reflected after 
recognising the associated amortisation expense. 
 
Trade and other receivables ($281,000) – $208,000 for Council’s share of funds held in trust by 
Whitehorse City Council relating to the former Narre Warren landfill site and a $73,000 refundable bond 
with Western Health (originally related to Community Chef) which is expected to be returned upon 
completion of the contract. 
 
 

C3. Current liabilities  
 
Debts due to be repaid within 12 months. 
 
Trade and other payables ($3.17 million) – This balance includes trade creditors arising from 
operations and capital works.   
 
Trust funds and deposits ($12.45 million) – Trust funds and deposits includes other refundable monies 
in respect of: 
 Fire services property levy funds collected by Council on behalf of the State Government, but not 

yet paid on to the State Revenue Office ($9.20 million).  These monies are remitted to the State 
Revenue Office in accordance with legislative timeframes (28 days after each quarterly rate 
instalment date).   

 Other deposits ($1.75 million).  
 Landscape deposits ($1.10 million). 
 Road deposits ($182,000). 
 Open space contributions ($217,000). 
 
Unearned income ($54.84 million) – Represents income not yet earned in accordance with Accounting 
Standards AASB 1058 'Income of Not-For-Profit Entities' and AASB 15 'Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers' based on specific performance obligations that were not complete at 30 September 2022 in 
respect of: 
 
 Developer Contribution Plan liabilities (DCP) – ($41.53 million). 
 Operating grants ($9.07 million). 
 Capital grants ($3.91 million). 
 Other ($323,000). 
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Provisions ($21.72 million) – This balance represents the provision for employee entitlements and 
landfill restoration works. 
 
 Employee entitlements: 

o Long service leave entitlements - $12.43 million. 
o Annual leave entitlements - $8.56 million.  
o Rostered days off (RDO) - $545,000. 

 
 Landfill provision - $185,000 - provision for the restoration and aftercare management of the former 

Spring Valley landfill site (closed). The former closed landfill is owned by the Council and is used 
as recreational open space. Council’s share is 19.88% of the total future estimated costs. 

 
Interest-bearing liabilities ($2.63 million) – Represents the repayment of long-term borrowings during 
2022-23. 
 
Lease liabilities ($383,000) - Represents the lease repayments in respect of the right-of-use assets that 
are payable during 2022-23. 
 
 
 

C4. Non-current liabilities  
 
Debts due to be repaid in future years. 
 
Provisions ($1.03 million) – Represents the provisions estimated to be paid beyond the 2022-23 
financial year and comprises long service leave entitlements for employees ($339,000) and landfill 
provision for restoration of Spring Valley landfill site ($686,000) (Council’s share is 19.88% of the total 
future estimated costs). 
 
Trust funds and deposits ($2.84 million) – Represents deposits that are payable beyond the 2022-23 
financial year and comprises asset protection bonds of $2.59 million, landscape deposits of $157,000 
and contractor deposits of $93,000. 
 
Interest-bearing liabilities ($49.78 million) – Comprises the amount of outstanding borrowings to be 
repaid beyond the next 12 months.  
 
Lease liabilities ($1.32 million) – represents the amount of lease payments in respect of the right-of-
use assets to be repaid beyond the next 12 months.  Increase in lease liabilities from prior year is due to 
new and renewed leases. 
 
 

C5. Net assets and equity 
 
Net assets - Represents the difference between total assets and total liabilities.  It is the Council’s net 
worth to the City’s ratepayers. 
 
Reserves – Includes both statutory reserves (S) and discretionary reserves (D).  The statutory reserves 
apply where funds are gained from the application of legislative requirements to contribute – and where 
expenditure of the funds is not entirely discretionary (i.e. the funds need to be used for certain expenditure 
only).  The reserves listed below are explained in the notes to the cash flows that follow. 
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The discretionary reserves are: 
 
 Major projects reserve  
 Insurance fund reserve  
 Council funded – Development Contribution Plans reserve  
 Spring Valley landfill rehabilitation reserve  
 Springvale Activity Precinct – Parking and Development reserve  
 Dandenong Activity Precinct – Parking and Development reserve  
 Native re-vegetation reserves  
 Keysborough South Maintenance Levy reserve  
 General reserve (Aged Care) 
 Future maintenance reserve  
 
The statutory reserves are: 
 
 Open space – planning, development and improvements  
 Open space – land acquisitions  
 
 

D.  Cash Flow Statement 
 
Cash and investment holdings total $75.56 million as at 30 September 2022, an increase of $45.35 million 
since 30 June 2022. Total cash and investment holdings are made up of operating cash and restricted 
cash.  $149.24 million of Council’s cash and investment (financial asset) holdings are restricted. Please 
refer to the next page for a detailed listing of Restricted Cash items, which are set aside for specific 
purposes. 
 
 
Cash flows from operating activities – net inflow of $37.34 million.   
 
The major inflows are rates ($57.31 million), grants ($10.57 million), trust funds and deposits taken 
($14.67 million), contributions ($1.35 million), statutory fees and fines ($1.76 million) and user fees ($2.38 
million).   
 
The major outflows are materials and services ($25.42 million), employee costs ($22.16 million) and trust 
funds and deposits repaid ($6.26 million).  
 
Trust funds and deposits taken and repaid mainly relate to fire services property levies (FSPL).  The 
remittance of the FSPL and FSPL levy interest amounts are made to the State Revenue Office (SRO) in 
four payments in accordance with Section 41(1) of the FSPL Act.  An instalment is due and payable to 
the Commissioner of State Revenue 28 days after the due date of rates instalments. Council collects 
FSPL on behalf of the State Government. 
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Cash flows from investing activities – net inflow of $9.67 million, including: 
 

 $26.34 million relates to proceeds from funds held at 30 June 2022 in term deposits with a maturity 
of greater than three months.  
 

 $147,000 proceeds on asset sales mainly relating to the fleet replacement program. 
 

 Less $16.82 million for capital works expenditure. The detailed capital works schedule is included in 
this report as Appendix 1.   Please note the difference between the two capital expenditure amounts 
is due to the movement in capital trade creditors at the start and end of the reporting period.  Appendix 
1 is on an accrual basis. 

 
 
Cash flows from financing activities – outflow of $1.66 million.  
 

Council incurred $685,000 in finance costs on its borrowings and repaid $859,000 of existing borrowings. 
In addition, Council repaid $120,000 of its lease liabilities as at 30 September 2022.  
 
 
Restricted cash - Restricted cash represents funds that are set aside for specific purposes, as 
detailed in the following tables. 
 

Type 30 September 
2022 

Notes 

Reserve funds $’000  

Council funded Development 
Contribution Plans (DCP) reserve 

19,866 Reserved for specific expenditure in 
accordance with the published DCP. 

Open space – planning, 
development and improvements 

3,423 Reserved for enhancing the City’s open 
space by planning, development and 
improvements. 

Open space – acquisitions 5,937 To fund acquisitions of new open space land. 

Major projects reserve 25,950 Funds realised from the sale of Council’s 
property assets or surplus Council funds that 
will be utilised for investing in other properties 
or funding future major projects. 

Keysborough South Maintenance 
Levy 

3,795 Reserved for specific maintenance 
expenditure relating to this area. 

Spring Valley landfill rehabilitation 2,955 Rehabilitation of the Spring Valley landfill site. 

Re-vegetation reserves 271 To meet native re-vegetation requirements on 
Council’s reserves. 

Insurance fund reserve 325 To meet large and unexpected policy 
excesses on multiple insurance claims. 

Springvale Activity Precinct 
Parking and Development reserve 

236 To fund development in the Springvale Activity 
Centre. 

Dandenong Activity Precinct 
Parking and Development reserve 

2,117 To fund development in the Dandenong 
Activity Centre. 

General reserve (Aged Care) 1,103 Funds set aside for the aged care reforms. 

Future maintenance reserve 4,577 Contribution funds for future works to address 
level crossing removal authority defects. 

Total reserve funds 70,555  
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Type 30 September 
2022 

Notes 

Employee provisions $’000  

Long service leave 
 

12,765 Funds set aside to meet long service leave 
commitments. 

Annual leave and other  9,106 Funds set aside to meet annual leave and 
rostered days off (RDO) commitments. 

Employee provisions 21,871  

 
Trust funds and deposits $’000  

Fire services property levy (FSPL) 
collected and due 

9,199 Payable to State Revenue Office – legislative 
requirement. 

Open space contributions 217 Pending completion of works. 

Landscape deposits 1,255 Pending completion of works. 

Road deposits 182 Pending completion of works. 

Other trust funds and deposits 4,438 Refundable upon finalisation of programs. 

Total trust funds and deposits 15,291  
 

Other restricted funds $’000  

DCP unearned income 41,526 Pending completion of works by developers. 

Other restricted funds 41,526  

 

Total restricted cash 149,243 

 
 

E. Statement of Capital Works    
 
Total capital expenditure as at 30 September 2022 was $7.93 million.  A further $20.52 million was 
committed at the end of September.  The following CIP Expenditure Report contains the expenditure 
status of each of the approved capital projects.   
 
The timing of cash outflows and project completion can differ for capital projects.  Commentary on the 
status of each project with major year to date variances are reported if the variance is greater than 
$300,000.  Please note that the variances detailed below are the total of all asset classes by capital 
project whereas the Capital Expenditure report details the variances separately by asset class and capital 
project. 
 
Infrastructure   
 
 3231 Road Reconstruction Program ($595,000 unfavourable) – Scoping works and marking 

out on site are in progress.  Geotechnical investigation and report on road reconstruction options for 
various sections of roads have been carried out and once final report is received, procurement works 
can commence. 
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APPENDIX 1 - Capital Expenditure Report 
 

 
  

 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
AMENDED

BUDGET 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
                     $                     $                     $                      $  $                     $ 

PROPERTY

Buildings
1631. 2434-22/23 Art Gallery PEP Bldg 123                 20,000            19,877            8,640              598,345          250,000          
1796. Wal Turner Reserve Master Plan -                  24,644            24,644            -                  129,705          -                  
1818. Safety, Security & Space Activation 31,020            31,917            897                 86,785            167,986          -                  
1869. 2234-22/23 D'nong Community Hub 17,400            17,000            (400)                7,900              706,685          400,000          
3044. Roof Safety Program -                  29,830            29,830            157,000          157,000          -                  
3179. Shepley Regional Multipurpose Ctre 204,455          -                  (204,455)         4,500              -                  -                  
3219. Thomas Carroll Pavilion 321,012          320,000          (1,012)             2,611,044       4,220,005       -                  
3543. Public Toilet Strategy-Implement 103,156          76,786            (26,370)           147,395          404,139          -                  
3547. George Andrews Reserve-Bld Modific 20,050            61,255            41,205            39,200            322,395          -                  
3548. 2313-22/23 Keysb Sth Community Hu 46,332            35,000            (11,332)           187,586          12,043,444     10,679,000     
3793. Dandenong Market Utility Srv Infra -                  17,399            17,399            -                  91,573            -                  
3804. CCTV/Security Capital Program 10,803            -                  (10,803)           -                  -                  -                  
3817. 2356-22/23 Civic Archive Building -                  3,200              3,200              9,000              40,000            40,000            
3820. 2367-22/23 N'Park Aquatic Ctr NPAC -                  2,920              2,920              -                  36,500            36,500            
3873. 1541-19/20 Bldg Renewal DDA -                  14,400            14,400            -                  180,000          180,000          
3876. 2264-22/23 Bldg Renewal Bathroom 3,150              9,000              5,850              1,350              75,000            75,000            
3877. 2270-22/23 Bldg Renewal Flooring -                  7,800              7,800              -                  65,000            65,000            
3879. 2275-22/23 Bldg Renewal Minor Wrks 14,022            21,240            7,218              26,861            177,000          177,000          
3880. 2278-22/23 Bldg Renewal Roof -                  20,400            20,400            -                  170,000          170,000          
3883. 2321-22/23 Bldg Renewal Kitchen/Eq 36,259            26,400            (9,859)             251,693          220,000          220,000          
3902. Ross Reserve Pavilion 1,073,296       1,070,000       (3,296)             1,309,013       3,707,996       -                  
3904. 2280-22/23 Bldg Renewal Theatre -                  -                  -                  -                  500,000          500,000          
3906. Greater D'nong Gallery of Art 35,740            35,000            (740)                240,327          1,944,331       -                  
3946. 2260-22/23 Bldg Renewal Aquat/Leis 3,850              35,760            31,910            21,921            298,000          298,000          
3948. D'nong Mkt (Fruit & Veg) Floor&Roof -                  -                  -                  9,206              -                  -                  
3949. NPAC Redevelopment 836,463          830,000          (6,463)             1,018,482       2,484,781       -                  
3952. S/Vale Library/Civic-Storage&Equip -                  11,821            11,821            600                 62,215            -                  
3974. 2235-22/23 D'nong Wellbeing Centre 218,179          200,000          (18,179)           1,354,378       5,000,430       1,830,000       
4000. MCH Centres (x6) Works 400                 -                  (400)                -                  -                  -                  
4002. Springvale Reserve Boardroom 14,325            -                  (14,325)           -                  -                  -                  
4003. Springvale Reserve Changerooms (x2 264,668          265,000          332                 822,053          1,010,000       -                  
4004. Balmoral Car 113,119          156,905          43,787            357,945          825,818          -                  
4026. Springvale Town Hall Works -                  -                  -                  1,111              -                  -                  
4042. NPR N'Park Comm Ctr Bldg Upgrade 103,617          -                  (103,617)         11,136            -                  -                  
4100. 2239-22/23 D'nong Sports Event Ctr -                  40,000            40,000            -                  500,000          500,000          
4101. 2236-22/23 Heritage Kindergarten -                  1,600              1,600              -                  20,000            20,000            
4102. 2237-22/23 Heritage Kindergarten -                  1,600              1,600              -                  20,000            20,000            
4103. 2238-22/23 D'nong Sth Kindergarten -                  1,600              1,600              -                  20,000            20,000            
4104. 2328-22/23 Security Program -                  2,400              2,400              -                  30,000            30,000            
4105. 2311-22/23 Police Paddocks -                  12,000            12,000            -                  150,000          150,000          
4106. 2330-22/23 D'nong Civic Centre -                  8,000              8,000              -                  100,000          100,000          
4107. 2327-22/23 Springvale Town Hall -                  3,200              3,200              -                  40,000            40,000            
4108. 2109-21/22 Table Tennis Centre -                  35,200            35,200            -                  440,000          440,000          
4109. 2167-22/23 Bains Pavilion -                  28,000            28,000            -                  350,000          350,000          

Leasehold Improvements
3941. Police Paddocks Res. Grandstand 1,200              11,753            10,553            -                  434,860          -                  
4005. Keysb PS Kinder Fitout 382                 -                  (382)                -                  -                  -                  
4006. Police Paddocks Soccer Function Rm -                  -                  -                  11,760            280,700          -                  
4028. Police Paddocks Batting Cage 6,510              16,212            9,702              83,327            85,326            -                  
4029. Police Paddocks Fence/Dugout 84                   -                  (84)                  10,236            -                  -                  
4110. 2233-22/23 Rosewood Downs Prim S -                  8,000              8,000              -                  100,000          100,000          
4111. 2247-22/23 Rosewood Downs Prim S -                  -                  -                  -                  771,000          771,000          

Land
4055. 2 Stuart St, Dandenong (500)                -                  500                 -                  -                  -                  

Total property 3,479,114       3,513,243       34,129            8,790,448       38,980,234     17,461,500     
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 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
AMENDED

BUDGET 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
                     $                     $                     $                      $  $                     $ 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant, machinery and equipment
1445. Fleet Purchases 503,513          500,000          (3,513)             150,402          1,750,000       -                  
1447. Fleet New Program 92,620            90,000            (2,620)             -                  160,000          -                  
4044. NPR Pedestrian Counters S/City 9,350              -                  (9,350)             -                  -                  -                  

Library books
3104. 2314-22/23 Library Strategy 168,348          166,820          (1,528)             771,474          878,000          878,000          

Computers and telecommunications
3902. Ross Reserve Pavilion -                  8,550              8,550              -                  45,000            -                  
3914. Asset Management System -                  -                  -                  32,154            -                  -                  
3957. 2291-22/23 Audio Visual Renewal -                  7,680              7,680              -                  96,000            96,000            
4007. Merit CRM Replacement 319,878          320,000          122                 114,714          499,578          -                  
4052. LRCI3 Optical Fibre Various 5,200              5,000              (200)                167,418          498,000          -                  
4112. 2371-22/23 Keysborough Food Svcs -                  800                 800                 -                  10,000            10,000            
4113. 2343-22/23 D'nong Civic Centre -                  1,400              1,400              -                  17,500            17,500            

Fixtures, fittings and furniture
3314. 2289-22/23 Furniture Renewal Prg -                  3,600              3,600              -                  45,000            45,000            

Total plant and equipment 1,098,909       1,103,850       4,941              1,236,162       3,999,078       1,046,500       

INFRASTRUCTURE
Parks, open space and streetscapes
1629. 2231-22/23 Vanity Lane 275 Lonsdale -                  -                  -                  4,560              1,995,331       800,000          
1747. 2170-22/23 Barry Powell Reserve -                  18,230            18,230            -                  95,947            -                  
1796. Wal Turner Reserve Master Plan 46,124            -                  (46,124)           80,562            -                  -                  
1818. Safety, Security & Space Activation -                  -                  -                  17,013            -                  -                  
2126. Herbert St Pocket Park 4,445              29,489            25,044            68,963            155,204          -                  
3065. Public Place Recycling Bin Instal. -                  10,450            10,450            47,652            55,000            -                  
3192. NPR Douglas St Streetscape 16,929            -                  (16,929)           213                 -                  -                  
3442. 2426-22/23 NPR Noble Park Revital'n -                  -                  -                  -                  490,565          300,000          
3490. Springvale Road Boulevard 104,098          -                  (104,098)         374,936          -                  -                  
3631. Dandenong Park Master Plan 500                 12,869            12,369            29,942            67,734            -                  
3849. 2201-22/23 Frederick Wachter Res've -                  81,810            81,810            690                 430,578          -                  
3853. 2186-22/23 Parkfield Reserve -                  25,560            25,560            -                  134,524          -                  
3854. 1795-20/21 Burden Park Reserve -                  3,200              3,200              -                  40,000            40,000            
3859. Police Paddocks S'ball Fencing 100,000          -                  (100,000)         99,655            -                  -                  
3900. Ross Reserve Plaza/Play/Oval/Path -                  60,174            60,174            -                  316,705          -                  
3931. 2248-22/23 Guardrail Program -                  29,548            29,548            -                  213,411          100,000          
3932. 2296-22/23 Passive O/Space Renewa 10,747            27,360            16,613            14,835            342,000          342,000          
3934. Parking Sensor Implementation 69,561            56,695            (12,866)           -                  298,397          -                  
3936. 2124-21/22 Glendale Reserve -                  -                  -                  118                 -                  -                  
3966. 2111-21/22 Tirhatuan Park -                  12,000            12,000            88,336            150,000          150,000          
3970. Alan Corrigan Exercise Equipment -                  -                  -                  11,969            -                  -                  
3977. LXRA Rectification Works -                  7,722              7,722              -                  40,644            -                  
4012. Alex Wilkie Wetlands & S/Water -                  9,500              9,500              -                  50,000            -                  
4014. NPR Frank Street Open Space 141,150          140,000          (1,150)             289,198          457,932          -                  
4016. Neighbourhood Act Ctr F/Wrk Imp 640                 -                  (640)                -                  -                  -                  
4018. Tirhatuan Park Wetland -                  6,784              6,784              5,257              35,705            -                  
4020. 2225-22/23 LRCI3 Railway Parade SC 343                 -                  (343)                -                  615,596          83,000            
4027. NPR Ian Street S/Scape Upgrade 111,752          160,098          48,345            427,851          842,620          -                  
4030. Tatterson Park Oval 1 Lighting 163,827          159,329          (4,498)             27,458            159,329          -                  
4032. Hemmings St Precinct 12,457            59,541            47,084            -                  313,372          -                  
4036. NPR Interpretive Signage -                  -                  -                  3,463              -                  -                  
4037. NPR Display Crates 48                   -                  (48)                  -                  -                  -                  
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 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
AMENDED

BUDGET 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
                     $                     $                     $                      $  $                     $ 

INFRASTRUCTURE
Parks, open space and streetscapes
4038. NPR Transformed Public Art 20,044            -                  (20,044)           3,382              -                  -                  
4043. NPR Leonard/Buckley Streetscape 15,351            -                  (15,351)           16,040            -                  -                  
4132. Railway Parade 389                 -                  (389)                248                 -                  -                  
4134. 2305-22/23 Lighting Renewal Prg -                  22,800            22,800            135,000          285,000          285,000          
4135. 2433-22/23 Arkwright Drive Wetlands -                  16,000            16,000            -                  200,000          200,000          
4136. 1519-19/20 Norine Cox Reserve -                  4,000              4,000              -                  50,000            50,000            
4137. 2001-20/21 Kenneth Reserve -                  3,200              3,200              -                  40,000            40,000            

Recreational, leisure and community facilities
1747. 2170-22/23 Barry Powell Reserve -                  42,098            42,098            -                  233,146          20,000            
1859. Rowley Allan Reserve -                  5,541              5,541              31,089            29,165            -                  
3209. 2428-22/23 Active Reserves Renewal 1,200              22,400            21,200            170,845          280,000          280,000          
3518. Harmony Square Entrance Protection -                  3,800              3,800              -                  20,000            -                  
3794. 1872-20/21 Tatterson Park 9,300              40,000            30,700            4,500              500,000          500,000          
3849. 2201-22/23 Frederick Wachter Res've 219,957          220,000          43                   100,072          833,876          750,000          
3853. 2186-22/23 Parkfield Reserve 218,680          183,547          (35,133)           105,978          229,547          50,000            
3854. 1795-20/21 Burden Park Reserve 286,685          280,000          (6,685)             290,352          608,881          -                  
3900. Ross Reserve Plaza/Play/Oval/Path -                  8,148              8,148              -                  42,886            -                  
3925. Active Fencing Program -                  -                  -                  21,354            -                  -                  
3933. Sports Lighting Plan Imp. 5,700              -                  (5,700)             7,533              -                  -                  
3936. 2124-21/22 Glendale Reserve 9,309              26,400            17,091            27,926            330,000          330,000          
3969. Thomas Carroll-Cricket/Play/Light 871                 47,500            46,629            244                 250,000          -                  
4024. Noble Park Reserve Plgrnd Shade -                  15,200            15,200            80,000            80,000            -                  
4031. Ross Reserve Soccer Pitch 15,137            15,000            (137)                1,525,834       1,550,603       -                  
4117. 2191-22/23 Ross Reserve 2,000              19,680            17,680            170,727          246,000          246,000          
4118. 2432-22/23 Thomas Carroll Reserve -                  3,200              3,200              36,415            40,000            40,000            
4119. 1843-20/21 Frederick Wachter Res've 436                 29,417            28,981            376,477          367,710          367,710          
4120. 1589-19/20 Ross Reserve 14,633            -                  (14,633)           22,947            2,500,000       2,500,000       
4121. 2339-22/23 Children Services Prg -                  6,400              6,400              -                  80,000            80,000            
4122. 2176-22/23 Frederick Wachter Res've -                  800                 800                 16,200            10,000            10,000            
4123. 2192-22/23 Ross Reserve 4,108              36,000            31,892            415,531          450,000          450,000          
4124. 2194-22/23 Thomas Carroll Reserve 436                 24,885            24,449            271,251          311,064          311,064          
4125. 2181-22/23 Greaves Reserve -                  1,600              1,600              29,000            20,000            20,000            
4126. 2332-22/23 D'nong Day Nursery -                  3,600              3,600              -                  45,000            45,000            
4127. 2404-22/23 Ross Reserve -                  12,800            12,800            4,000              160,000          160,000          
4128. 1314-18/19 Tyers Lane Reserve -                  3,200              3,200              15,901            40,000            40,000            
4129. 2406-22/23 Parkfield Reserve 31,292            5,600              (25,692)           38,708            70,000            70,000            
4130. 2146-21/22 Drinking Fountain Prg -                  3,200              3,200              -                  40,000            40,000            
4131. 2431-22/23 Parkland Reserve -                  3,200              3,200              -                  40,000            40,000            

Roads
3080. 2232-22/23 LRCI2 DCP-L102 AbbottsR 45,362            45,000            (362)                232,418          5,028,155       2,500,000       
3231. 2256-22/23 Road Reconstruction Prg 595,272          -                  (595,272)         241,544          3,000,000       3,000,000       
3373. 2249-22/23 Kerb & Channel Renewal 26,262            26,000            (262)                64,647            500,000          500,000          
3418. 2345-22/23 LATM New Program 26,920            27,000            80                   411,646          928,889          500,000          
3752. 2254-22/23 Roads to Recovery Prg -                  -                  -                  34,453            1,017,807       1,017,807       
3753. 2253-22/23 Road Resurfacing Prg 112,405          110,000          (2,405)             694,318          6,000,000       6,000,000       
3754. 2255-22/23 Road Rehabilitation Prg -                  -                  -                  -                  2,500,000       2,500,000       
3828. Activity Centre Proj. Mason St -                  15,494            15,494            9,495              422,852          -                  
3938. 2250-22/23 Kerb & Channel Resurf 410,074          410,000          (74)                  951,350          1,500,000       1,500,000       
3942. Black Spot Works Program 53,356            46,880            (6,476)             445,236          1,619,203       -                  
3944. Keysb Sth Comm Hub Access Road 500                 -                  (500)                -                  -                  -                  
3961. Road Reconst Program - Geotechnica 41,721            -                  (41,721)           25,991            -                  -                  
3962. Bakers Road Service Road 23,217            28,864            5,648              11,776            151,916          -                  
3992. 1399-19/20 Perry Road DCP-KR01a -                  -                  -                  -                  4,267,983       4,267,983       
4009. LRCI2-Colemans Rd Reconstruction -                  -                  -                  1,400              609,453          -                  
4138. 2257-22/23 LATM Renewal Program 42,077            12,000            (30,077)           -                  150,000          150,000          
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 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
AMENDED

BUDGET 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
                     $                     $                     $                      $  $                     $ 

INFRASTRUCTURE
Bridges
3185. 2240-22/23 Bridge Renewal Program -                  21,600            21,600            -                  270,000          270,000          
4034. LRCI3-Hammond Road Bridge -                  -                  -                  -                  420,000          -                  
4045. LRCI3 D'nong Creek Bridge -                  19,000            19,000            -                  100,000          -                  
4046. LRCI3 Abbotts Rd Bridge -                  19,000            19,000            -                  100,000          -                  

Footpath and cycleways
3174. 2103-21/22 Active Transport ATIPP 144,416          145,000          584                 94,604            592,000          500,000          
3355. 2251-22/23 Footpath Renewal Prg 955                 -                  (955)                144,500          1,400,000       1,400,000       
3589. Dandenong Creek Trail User Paths -                  3,551              3,551              26,973            18,688            -                  
4114. 2304-22/23 Pram Ramp Renewal Prg -                  8,000              8,000              -                  100,000          100,000          

Off street car parks
1747. 2170-22/23 Barry Powell Reserve -                  4,531              4,531              9,000              23,847            -                  
4033. LRCI3-The Crescent Car Park -                  25,650            25,650            -                  135,000          -                  
4048. LRCI3 F'Wachter North Car Park -                  19,000            19,000            -                  100,000          -                  

4049. LRCI3 Robert Booth (Bess) Car Park -                  38,000            38,000            190,909          200,000          -                  

Drainage
3019. 2246-22/23 Drainage Renewal Prg -                  -                  -                  -                  1,537,000       1,537,000       
3558. 1970-20/21 Pit Renewal Program -                  8,000              8,000              -                  100,000          100,000          
3939. 2245-22/23 Drainage Reactive Prg 191,366          140,000          (51,366)           159,148          500,000          500,000          
4010. LRCI2-Callander Rd Drain -                  -                  -                  1,230,286       1,205,924       -                  
4115. 2424-22/23 Pit Renewal Rd Resurf -                  -                  -                  -                  800,000          800,000          
4116. 1998-20/21 Drainage Catchment 38A -                  -                  -                  -                  1,200,000       1,200,000       

Total infrastructure 3,352,052       3,192,144       (159,908)         10,489,919     53,782,187     37,082,564     

GRAND TOTAL 7,930,075 7,809,237 (120,838) 20,516,529 96,761,499 55,590,564
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APPENDIX 2 – Investment Analysis 
 
Cash and Investments 
 

 
 

Policy limit - no single institution shall comprise more than 35% of the total investment portfolio, unless the 
investment is with Council's banker (CBA). 

  
 
Note: Green deposit: 4% (or $8.18 million) was invested at 30 September 2022.  These investments 
are certified against Climate Bonds Initiative – Climate Bonds Standard, the same certification as green 
bonds.  
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Note – the unrestricted cash balance at 30 September 2022 does not reconcile to the Statement of Cash 
Flows for the purposes of the above graph as the $124.16 million of term deposits over 90 days classified 
as ‘financial assets’ has been included as cash here. 
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The above graph includes both cash and investments. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 -

 10,000

 20,000

 30,000

 40,000

 50,000

 60,000

 70,000

 80,000

Current 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 180 Days 1 Year
Value 76,003 13,672 78,362 31,687 - -

Percentage 38% 7% 39% 16% 0% 0%

$'000

Portfolio Length

255

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

4.2.3 Q1 2022-23 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



       Financial Report for the period 1 July 2022 – 30 September 2022 
 

 ________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Page 27 

 

APPENDIX 3 – Directorate Analysis 
 
Total Operating Results 
 

CGD BY DIRECTORATE 
 

 
 

 

(a)   Non Directorate includes non-attributable items such as rates income, developer’s contributions, interest income, 
non-monetary assets, finance costs and depreciation. 
 
Note.  Total income and total expenditure may differ to the operating result presented earlier in this report due to 
the treatment of proceeds from asset sales and associated written down value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Chief Executive Office - - - - -
Greater Dandenong Business 6 19 (13) 363 363
Corporate Services 621 559 62 2,403 2,442
Engineering Services 7,222 6,902 320 27,617 27,510
City Planning Design and Amenity 3,282 3,961 (679) 15,985 15,985
Community Services 6,597 5,936 661 25,309 24,613

Non-Directorate (a) 38,698 37,657 1,041 152,598 161,746

Capital Works Program 1,357 1,060 297 17,079 4,965

Total income 57,783 56,094 1,689 241,354 237,624

Expenses
Chief Executive Office 181 189 8 668 668
Greater Dandenong Business 781 1,112 331 4,760 4,056
Corporate Services 7,635 7,928 293 24,491 24,346
Engineering Services 13,397 14,681 1,284 70,059 69,103
City Planning Design and Amenity 3,900 4,417 517 19,988 19,773
Community Services 13,247 15,192 1,945 60,320 53,038

Non-Directorate (a) 11,632 9,669 (1,963) 40,076 40,076

Capital Works Program - - - - -

Total expenses 50,773 53,188 2,415 220,362 211,060

Net surplus (deficit) 7,010 2,906 4,104 20,992 26,564
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CEO DIRECTORATE 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 
Notes: 
 
No notes/comments required for this directorate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Other income  - - - - -
Total income - - - - -

Expenses

Employee costs  130 137 7 585 585
Materials and services  51 51 - 78 78
Other expenses  - 1 1 5 5
Total expenses 181 189 8 668 668

Net surplus (deficit) (181) (189) 8 (668) (668)

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
CEO - - - - -

Total income - - - - -

Expenses
CEO 181 189 8 668 668

Total expenses 181 189 8 668 668

Net surplus (deficit) (181) (189) 8 (668) (668)
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GREATER DANDENONG BUSINESS GROUP 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 

 

 
 

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

User fees  - 6 (6) 6 6
Grants - operating  - - - 300 300
Other income  6 13 (7) 57 57
Total income 6 19 (13) 363 363

Expenses

Employee costs 1 584 684 100 2,928 2,687
Materials and services 2 189 412 223 1,702 1,239
Other expenses  8 16 8 130 130
Total expenses 781 1,112 331 4,760 4,056

Net surplus (deficit) (775) (1,093) 318 (4,397) (3,693)

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Greater Dandenong Business Executive - - - - -
Business Networks 5 13 (8) 351 351
Activity Centres Revitalisation - 6 (6) 6 6
Major Projects - - - - -
Economic Development 1 - 1 6 6

Total income 6 19 (13) 363 363

Expenses
Greater Dandenong Business Executive 93 95 2 409 409
Business Networks 150 310 160 1,313 1,007
Activity Centres Revitalisation 300 352 52 1,448 1,103
Major Projects 39 43 4 195 195
Economic Development 199 312 113 1,395 1,342

Total expenses 781 1,112 331 4,760 4,056

Net surplus (deficit) (775) (1,093) 318 (4,397) (3,693)
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Greater Dandenong Business 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 1  Employee costs ($100,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
recruitment and lower than anticipated temporary agency staff costs (Community Revitalisation $51,000, 
Economic Development $28,000 and Business Networks $22,000). 
 
Note 2  Materials and services ($223,000 favourable) – Favourable variance mainly due to 
lower than anticipated professional and contractor costs as programs are delayed or yet to commence 
(Economic Development $86,000, Business Networks $42,000, Indian Cultural Precinct $30,000 and 
Place Making and Revitalisation $15,000).  
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CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 

 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Statutory fees and fines  34 25 9 102 102
User fees  7 6 1 22 22
Grants - operating  22 11 11 55 94
Other income  558 517 41 2,224 2,224
Total income 621 559 62 2,403 2,442

Expenses

Employee costs 3 3,379 3,525 146 14,991 14,945
Materials and services 4 3,964 4,136 172 8,131 8,031
Other expenses  292 267 (25) 1,369 1,370
Total expenses 7,635 7,928 293 24,491 24,346

Net surplus (deficit) (7,014) (7,369) 355 (22,088) (21,904)

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Corporate Services Executive - - - - -
Communications and Customer Service 193 164 29 656 656
Governance 314 336 (22) 1,340 1,340
Information Technology 5 - 5 - -
Financial Services 65 40 25 322 322
People and Procurement Services 44 19 25 85 124

Total income 621 559 62 2,403 2,442

Expenses
Corporate Services Executive 24 25 1 279 279
Communications and Customer Service 1,188 1,366 178 5,850 5,850
Governance 782 871 89 3,207 3,207
Information Technology 2,567 2,613 46 5,877 5,777
Financial Services 738 714 (24) 3,183 3,183
People and Procurement Services 2,336 2,339 3 6,095 6,050

Total expenses 7,635 7,928 293 24,491 24,346

Net surplus (deficit) (7,014) (7,369) 355 (22,088) (21,904)
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Corporate Services Directorate 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 3  Employee costs ($146,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
recruitment and lower casual and temporary agency staff costs (Call and Services Centres $93,000, 
Information Technology Executive $38,000, Southern Screen $37,000, COVID-19 Vaccine Case 
Management $33,000, Civic Facilities $25,000, Governance $24,000, Communication and Customer 
Services Executive $16,000 and Contracts $13,000).  
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by unbudgeted staffing matter (Records $79,000), grant funded 
expenditure (Emergency Management Grants $28,000) and parental leave payments (Finance $13,000).  
 
Note 4  Materials and services ($172,000 favourable) - Favourable variance due to delay in 
receipt of invoices and commencement of projects, combined with lower than anticipated printing and 
stationery, postage and storage, insurance, professional services, software and application maintenance 
and utilities (Governance $51,000, Records Management $39,000, Risk Management $29,000, 
Technical Services $27,000 and Business Systems $24,000).  
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ENGINEERING SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

  
 

 

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Rates and charges  6,309 6,305 4 24,958 24,958
Statutory fees and fines 5 13 99 (86) 396 396
User fees  139 141 (2) 565 565
Grants - operating 6 479 100 379 107 -
Asset sales  146 176 (30) 706 706

Other income 7 136 81 55 885 885
Total income 7,222 6,902 320 27,617 27,510

Expenses

Employee costs 8 4,106 4,546 440 19,614 19,545
Materials and services 9 9,233 10,090 857 50,049 49,162
Carrying amount of assets sold  26 26 - 261 261
Other expenses  32 19 (13) 135 135
Total expenses 13,397 14,681 1,284 70,059 69,103

Net surplus (deficit) (6,175) (7,779) 1,604 (42,442) (41,593)

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Infrastructure Services 6,954 6,587 367 26,296 26,189
City Projects and Asset Improvement 4 - 4 19 19
Infrastructure Planning 264 315 (51) 1,302 1,302

Total income 7,222 6,902 320 27,617 27,510

Expenses
Infrastructure Services 10,253 11,422 1,169 56,346 55,899
City Projects and Asset Improvement 2,595 2,741 146 11,374 10,865
Infrastructure Planning 549 518 (31) 2,339 2,339

Total expenses 13,397 14,681 1,284 70,059 69,103

Net surplus (deficit) (6,175) (7,779) 1,604 (42,442) (41,593)
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Engineering Services Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 5  Statutory fees and fines ($86,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower 
than anticipated sub-division, plan checking, property and storm water information fee income to date 
(Civil Development and Design $86,000). 
 
Note 6  Grants - operating ($379,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to unbudgeted 
receipt of Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) Food Organics Garden 
Organics (FOGO) grant funding (Waste Management $369,000, which will be matched by expenditure). 
 
Note 7  Other income ($55,000 favourable) – Better than anticipated recovery income for asset 
protection reinstatements (Asset Protection $28,000) and income from reserve hire, tree replacement 
and removal of rubbish (Parks Services $18,000). 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 8  Employee costs ($440,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delays in 
recruitment and lower temporary agency staff costs (Parks Services $182,000, Cleansing $92,000, 
Infrastructure Services and Planning Executive $61,000, Asset Management $48,000, Roads $45,000, 
AMS Implementation $40,000, Waste Management $37,000 and Strategic Transport Planning $23,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated temporary agency staff and casual 
salary costs (CIP Implementation $28,000, Building Maintenance $17,000, City Improvement Executive 
$17,000, Strategic Asset Planning $16,000 and Civil Development and Design $9,000). 
 
Note 9  Materials and services ($857,000 favourable) - Favourable variance due to lower than 
anticipated contractor expenditure for sealed road maintenance, major road patching, graffiti removal, 
vandalism repairs, street lighting maintenance, equipment maintenance, reactionary maintenance, fire 
and essential services (Roads and Drains $381,000, Building Maintenance $294,000, Asset 
Management $215,000, Cleansing $151,000 and Parks Services $67,000).  
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated security and cleaning services, fuel 
costs, contract and professional services (Waste Management $100,000, CIP Implementation $62,000, 
Spring Valley Landfill $54,000, Springvale Community Hub $28,000, Strategic Transport Planning 
$20,000 and Asset Protection $18,000). 
 
Any permanent variances will be considered during the Mid-Year Budget review. 
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CITY PLANNING, DESIGN & AMENITY 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 

 

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Rates and charges  - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines 10 1,978 2,292 (314) 9,198 9,198
User fees 11 1,077 1,463 (386) 5,857 5,857
Grants - operating  14 53 (39) 689 689
Other income 12 213 153 60 241 241
Total income 3,282 3,961 (679) 15,985 15,985

Expenses

Employee costs 13 3,092 3,394 302 14,422 14,422
Materials and services 14 797 1,004 207 3,565 3,350
Bad and doubtful debts  - 7 7 1,943 1,943
Other expenses  11 12 1 58 58
Total expenses 3,900 4,417 517 19,988 19,773

Net surplus (deficit) (618) (456) (162) (4,003) (3,788)

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
City Planning, Design and Amenity Exec. - - - - -
Building Services 727 816 (89) 2,656 2,656
Planning and Design 461 501 (40) 2,004 2,004
Regulatory Services 2,094 2,644 (550) 11,325 11,325

Total income 3,282 3,961 (679) 15,985 15,985

Expenses
City Planning, Design and Amenity Exec. 93 111 18 471 471
Building Services 1,054 1,071 17 4,491 4,276
Planning and Design 1,195 1,362 167 5,445 5,445
Regulatory Services 1,558 1,873 315 9,581 9,581

Total expenses 3,900 4,417 517 19,988 19,773

Net surplus (deficit) (618) (456) (162) (4,003) (3,788)
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City Planning, Design and Amenity Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 10 Statutory fees and fines ($314,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance mainly due 
to lower than anticipated fines issued to date (Parking Management $201,000, General Law Enforcement 
$62,000, Health $25,000 and Building $21,000). 
 
The unfavourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated fee income to date (Planning and 
Compliance $24,000). 
 
Note 11 User fees ($386,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance mainly due to lower than 
anticipated income from car parking permits and tickets, Streatrader permits and planning and building 
fees (Parking Management $291,000, Building $64,000, Statutory Planning $23,000 and Health 
$10,000). 
 
Note 12 Other income ($60,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to higher than 
anticipated recovery of legal costs (Health $59,000). 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 13  Employee costs ($302,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to a delay in filling 
vacant positions (Statutory Planning $105,000, Strategic Design and Sustainability Planning $60,000, 
Animal Management $43,000, Building $37,000, General Law Enforcement $35,000, Regulatory 
Services Administration $32,000, Parking Management $28,000 and Public Safety and Security 
$28,000). 
 
This favourable variance is offset by higher than anticipated temporary staff costs (Health $57,000) and 
casual salaries (School Crossing $30,000). 
 
Note 14 Materials and services ($207,000 favourable) – Favourable due to lower than 
anticipated contractor and professional services expenditure and statutory fees (Parking Management 
$97,000, Animal Management $66,000, Local Government Capacity Building grant program $37,000 and 
Strategic Design and Sustainability Planning $13,000). 
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COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

User fees  642 644 (2) 2,939 2,939
Grants - operating 15 5,694 4,985 709 21,429 20,733
Other income  261 307 (46) 941 941
Total income 6,597 5,936 661 25,309 24,613

Expenses

Employee costs 16 8,062 10,045 1,983 42,773 37,502
Materials and services 17 4,349 4,245 (104) 14,565 13,025
Bad and doubtful debts  - - - 8 8
Amoortisation - right of use assets  - - - 6 6
Other expenses 18 836 902 66 2,968 2,497
Total expenses 13,247 15,192 1,945 60,320 53,038

Net surplus (deficit) (6,650) (9,256) 2,606 (35,011) (28,425)

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Community Services Executive - - - - -
Community Wellbeing 3,930 2,849 1,081 12,105 11,454
Community Care 1,294 1,764 (470) 10,734 10,734
Community Arts, Culture and Libraries 1,265 1,189 76 1,763 1,757
Community Development, Sports 
and Recreation 108 134 (26) 707 668

Total income 6,597 5,936 661 25,309 24,613

Expenses
Community Services Executive 125 170 45 729 729
Community Wellbeing 4,298 5,538 1,240 23,579 17,716
Community Care 3,009 3,483 474 14,892 14,555
Community Arts, Culture and Libraries 3,005 3,084 79 11,163 10,776
Community Development, Sports 
and Recreation 2,810 2,917 107 9,957 9,262

Total expenses 13,247 15,192 1,945 60,320 53,038

Net surplus (deficit) (6,650) (9,256) 2,606 (35,011) (28,425)
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Community Services Directorate 
 
 
Income 
 
Note 15 Grants – operating ($709,000 favourable) - comprising: 
 
Additional or grant funding received earlier than anticipated: 
 Family Day Care $478,000 
 Library and Information Services $107,000 
 Child First $77,000  
 Market Street Occasional Child Care Centre $23,000 
 Pre-School Field Officer $19,000 
 PYP Linkages $16,000 
 Playgroups Initiative $16,000 
 
Unbudgeted grant funding received (will be offset by associated expenditure and adjusted in the Mid-
Year Budget): 
 Refugee Immunisation (PRIME) $516,000 
 
These favourable variances are partly offset by: 
 
Lower than anticipated grant funding recognised to date based on satisfied performance obligations for: 
 Home and Community Care $186,000 
 HACC – Assessments & Team Leaders $166,000 
 Sleep and Settling Initiative $71,000 
 HACC – Home Maintenance $56,000 
 
 
Expenses 
 
Note 16 Employee costs ($1.98 million favourable) – $1.39 million of this favourable variance 
relates to grant funded programs which require an acquittal, caused mainly by a delay in recruitment 
(Child First $402,000, Sleep and Settling Initiative $249,000, Playgroups Initiative $102,000, Pre-School 
Field Officer $84,000, Best Start $59,000, Drug Strategy $50,000, Right@Home $24,000, Empowering 
Communities $21,000 and PYP Linkages $20,000).   
 
The remaining favourable variance is due to a delay in recruitment of vacant positions (Enhanced MCH 
Program $358,000, Home and Community Care $145,000, Maternal and Child Health $113,000, Family 
Day Care $96,000, Childrens Support Services $62,000,  Community Services Executive $55,000, 
HACC Co-ordination $46,000, Community Arts, Cultural and Library Executive $41,000, Library and 
Information Services $38,000, Sports Planning $35,000, Youth Development $33,000, HACC – 
Assessments and Team Leaders $30,000, HACC – Home Maintenance $27,000, Community Transport 
$25,000, Festival and Events $16,000, Food Services $14,000, Community Property $14,000 and 
Community Care Executive $13,000).  
 
The favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated salary and temporary agency staff 
costs (The Drum Theatre $81,000, Immunisation $51,000, Youth Engagement $21,000, Cultural 
Development $18,000, Community Precinct Operations $16,000 and Community Development $13,000).  
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Note 17 Material and services ($104,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance is due to 
higher payments to educators relating to additional service delivery requirements which is offset by higher 
grant income (Family Day Care $412,000), professional services and materials (Covid-Safe Outdoor 
Activation $54,000, Childrens Support Services $32,000, Maternal and Child Health $19,000 and 
Community Development, Sports and Recreation Executive $11,000) as well as utilities, mainly electricity 
(Sports Planning $17,000).    
 
This unfavourable variance is partly offset by lower than anticipated expenditure for materials, 
consultants, utilities and events (Food Services $60,000, Market Street Occasional Child Care Centre 
$60,000, Cultural Development $55,000, Empowering Communities $44,000, Festivals and Events 
$41,000, Library and Information Services $26,000, The Drum Theatre $21,000 and HACC – Home 
Maintenance $18,000), service delivery (Home and Community Care $44,000) and delay in commencing 
projects (PYP Linkages $22,000). 
 
 
Note 18 Other expenses ($66,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
commencement of grant funded program (Empowering Communities $22,000) and refund of operating 
lease/rental relating to the previous financial year (Library and Information Services $39,000). 
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NON-DIRECTORATE 
COMM 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

ERVI 
  

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Rates and charges 19 36,158 35,827 331 137,123 137,123
Statutory fees and fines  10 - 10 - -
Grants - operating 20 1,022 831 191 2,975 12,123
Contributions - monetary 21 711 500 211 2,000 2,000
Contributions - non-monetary  - - - 10,000 10,000
Other income 22 797 499 298 500 500
Total income 38,698 37,657 1,041 152,598 161,746

Expenses

Employee costs  13 - (13) 1,951 1,951
Materials and services  91 136 45 542 542

Prior year capital expenditure unable 
to be capitalised (non-cash) 23 296 - (296) - -
Depreciation  8,486 8,482 (4) 33,943 33,943
Amortisation - intangible assets 15 10 (5) 60 60
Amortisation - right of use assets 149 149 - 598 598
Borrowing costs  685 685 - 2,667 2,667
Finance costs - leases - - - 22 22
Asset write offs 24 1,555 - (1,555) - -
Other expenses 25 342 207 (135) 293 293
Total expenses 11,632 9,669 (1,963) 40,076 40,076

Net surplus (deficit) 27,066 27,988 (922) 112,522 121,670
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BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 
Non-Directorate includes non-attributable items such as rates income, fire services levy payable on 
Council properties, developer’s contributions, interest income, gifted assets, carrying amount of assets 
disposed/written off and finance costs.  Non attributable COVID-19 pandemic costs are included here. 
 

 
Non-Directorate 
 
 
Income 
 
Note 19 Rates and Charges ($331,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due mainly to better 
than anticipated income from supplementary rates to date (Corporate Accounting).   
 
Note 20 Grants - operating ($191,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to receipt of 
unbudgeted Local Partnership grant income (Pandemic $192,000) which will be offset by associated 
expenditure.  This will be addressed at the Mid-Year Budget Review. 
 
Note 21 Contributions – monetary ($211,000 favourable) – Better than anticipated income from 
public open space contributions to date.  The nature of these receipts makes timing difficult to predict.  
These funds are transferred to reserves. 
 
Note 22 Other income ($298,000 favourable) – Better than anticipated interest income due to 
higher interest rates (Corporate Accounting). 
 
 
  

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Governance - - - - -
Corporate Accounting 37,987 37,157 830 150,598 159,746
Planning and Design 711 500 211 2,000 2,000

Total income 38,698 37,657 1,041 152,598 161,746

Expenses
Governance 3 - (3) 30 30
Corporate Accounting 11,618 9,657 (1,961) 40,028 40,028
Planning and Design 11 12 1 18 18

Total expenses 11,632 9,669 (1,963) 40,076 40,076

Net surplus (deficit) 27,066 27,988 (922) 112,522 121,670
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Expenditure 
 
Note 23 Prior year capital expenditure unable to be capitalised (non-cash) ($296,000 
unfavourable) – This unfavourable variance is due to works in progress (prior year capital expenditure) 
that is not able to be capitalised to the asset register because it is not capital in nature, does not meet 
the capitalisation threshold or relates to non-Council owned assets (Corporate Accounting $296,000).  
This is a non-cash entry that does not impact on Council’s cash position.  Examples of non-capital 
expenditure includes asset relocation, asset removal/demolition, operating services, projects cancelled, 
repairs and maintenance expenditure, studies/surveys and concept planning. 
 
Note 24 Asset write offs ($1.56 million unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance arising from 
asset renewal and replacement as part of capital work projects.  This variance predominantly relates to 
a building, two car parks and a bridge that were replaced.  This item is difficult to predict and is a non-
cash accounting entry (Non-Directorate). 
 
Note 25 Other expense ($135,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to unbudgeted 
expenditure for extension of Local Partnership grant funded program (Pandemic $133,000), which is 
offset by unbudgeted grant income.  This will be addressed in the Mid-Year Budget Review. 
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CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM  
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
Notes: 
 
Income 
 
Note 26 Grants – capital ($100,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to unbudgeted grants 
received for the Noble Park Revitalisation program (will be offset by matching expenditure). 
 
Note 27 Contributions – monetary ($197,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to 
unbudgeted contribution from Melbourne Water for Chapel Road drain expenditure incurred in prior 
years.  
 
These variances will be considered during the Mid-Year Budget review. 

 
 
 
 

  

ANNUAL ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD AMENDED ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Grants - capital 26 1,160 1,060 100 14,721 3,518
Contributions - monetary 27 197 - 197 2,358 1,447
Total income 1,357 1,060 297 17,079 4,965

Expenses

Employee costs  - - - - -
Materials and services  - - - - -
Other expenses  - - - - -
Total expenses - - - - -

Net surplus (deficit) 1,357 1,060 297 17,079 4,965
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 ________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Page 44 

 

APPENDIX 4 - Operating Initiatives 
 

 
 

Notes re Operating Initiative reporting:   
  

The reporting on operating initiatives excludes the following:  
- salary related initiatives 
- operating initiatives that add to an existing budget 
- ongoing initiatives 

2022-23
YTD

Actuals
$

2022-23
YTD

Budget
$

YTD 
Variance
(Unfav) Fav

$

2022-23 
Amended

Budget
$

Project update
30 September 2022

3
Community Services

Barry Powell Sports Pavilion - 
Concept design

            -                 -                 -   80,000 The project has 
commenced with the 
concept design 75% 
complete.

Sub-total -          -           -            80,000

Business, Engineering and Major Projects
Springvale Revitalisation 
Feasibility Study 

            -                 -                 -   70,000 Request for quote 
completed and consultant 
appointed. 

Landscaping - Robinson Street 
and Princes Highway 
Intersection

            -                 -                 -   188,000 The Princes Highway 
Project has been tendered 
and will be awarded shortly.  
The preferred tenderer has 
some OHS issues to 
resolve so they are 
compliant with Council’s 
Rapid Global safety system. 
It is expected that on ground 
works will commence in 
November.

Building demolition - 280 
Lonsdale Street, Dandenong

            -                 -                 -   60,591 Project scoping underway.

Building demolition - 275 
Lonsdale Street, Dandenong

            -                 -                 -   92,115 Building permit application 
underway. 

Building demolition - 49 View 
Road, Springvale

     63,006       55,000 (8,006) 78,737 Fencing to be installed in 
November 2022. Works 
scheduled to be complete in 
December 2022.

Building demolition - 61-63 
Heyington Crescent, Noble Park 
North

            -                 -                 -   90,000 Building permit application 
underway. 

Sub-total 63,006 55,000 (8,006) 579,443

Total Operating Initiatives 63,006 55,000 (8,006) 659,443

Operating initiative project
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4.3 OTHER

4.3.1 Draft Minutes of Disability Advisory Committee Meeting - 19 September 2022

File Id:

Director Community ServicesResponsible Officer:

Draft Minutes of Disability Advisory Committee
Meeting on 19 September 2022

Attachments:

1. Report Summary

At the Council meeting held 23 April 2018, Council resolved in part to invite Advisory Committees
and Reference Groups to submit meeting minutes for Council endorsement. This resolution also
allowed interested Councillors (and those that attend these Committees and Reference Groups) to
speak to the meeting about items discussed at these meetings.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the draft Minutes of the Disability Advisory Committee meeting provided
in Attachment 1 to this report be noted and endorsed by Council.
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3. Background and Proposal

Greater Dandenong Council is represented on a wide range of Committees, Reference Groups and
Advisory Groups which frequently reflect the interests of individual Councillors in serving the broader
community in their role. A full listing of these appointments is confirmed each November at Council’s
Annual meeting to elect the Mayor and Deputy Mayor and is available via Council’s website.

The resolution of Council made on 23 April 2018 provides for Minutes of meetings held by Advisory
Committees and Reference Groups to be submitted to Council for information purposes, for noting
and for endorsement (not adoption).

As such, the draft Minutes are provided as Attachment 1 to this report.

There are no financial implications associated with the development and submission of this report.

4. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic
Objectives, Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for
themselves and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision
for 2040:

The City of Great Dandenong is a home to all.
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

4.1 Community Vision 2040

This report is consistent with the Community Vision 2040 and its accompanying principles:

Safe and peaceful community
Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities
Sustainable environment
Embrace diversity and multiculturalism
Mind, Body and Spirit
Art and Culture.
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4.2 Council Plan 2021-25

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will
do this over four years. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives:

A socially connected, safe and healthy city
A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods
A green city committed to a sustainable future
A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes
A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.

5. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 (LGA2020) states that a Council must in the performance
of its role give effect to the overarching governance principles.

The establishment of the Disability Advisory Committee and the work that it undertakes gives particular
consideration to the following overarching governance principles:

priority is given to achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future
generations (section 9(b) of the LGA2020);
the municipal community is engaged in strategic planning and strategic decision making – many
advisory committees and reference groups have community members as participants (section
9(d) of the LGA2020);
innovation and continuous improvement is pursued (section 9(e) of the LGA2020);
collaboration with other councils, governments and statutory bodies is sought – many advisory
committees and reference groups have representatives attending from these organisations
(section 9(f) of the LGA2020);
the ongoing financial viability of Council is ensured (section 9(g) of the LGA2020);
regional, state and national plans and policies are taken into account in strategic planning and
decision making – diverse representation within these groups ensures this occurs (section 9(h)
of the LGA2020); and
the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is ensured by this regular reporting
mechanism (section 9(i) of the LGA2020).

6. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities have been
considered in the preparation and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.
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7. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and theGender Equality Act 2020 have been considered
in the preparation of this report but are not relevant to its contents because it is a reporting mechanism
only.

The report does not have the potential to influence broader social norms and gender roles nor does
it benefit any one gender group over any other.

8. Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

This report has no impact on Council’s Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s
Climate Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030 or the requirements of the Local Government Act
2020 in relation to the overarching governance principle on climate change and sustainability because
it is purely administrative in nature and is a reporting mechanism only.

9. Recommendation

That Council notes the draft Minutes of meeting for the Disability Advisory Committee as
provided in Attachment 1 to this report.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OTHER 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF DISABILITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISABILITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 19 SEPTEMBER 

2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGES 4 (including cover) 
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Advisory Committee or 
Reference Group Name: 
 

Disability Advisory Committee (DAC) Meeting 

Date of Meeting: 
 

Monday 19 September 2022 

Time of Meeting: 
 

4.00pm–5.35pm 

Meeting Location: 
 

Dandenong Civic Centre - 225 Lonsdale St, Dandenong 
Meeting Room 2NE/NW 
Microsoft Teams 
 

 
Attendees: Frank Cutuli (Chair), Catherine Rampant, Deborah Lee, Lyn Bates, Pradeep 
Hewavitharana, Sharon Harris, Kristina Drmic, Manager Community Care (City of Greater Dandenong 
[CGD]), Acting Coordinator Community Access (CGD), Disability Planning Officer (CGD), Community 
Advocacy Officer (CGD) 
 
Apologies: Cr Angela Long (CGD), Cr Rhonda Garad (CGD), Norma Seip 
 
Minutes: Acting Coordinator Community Access (CGD) 

 
Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

1. Welcome and Apologises  
The Chair welcome all present. 
 

  

2. Previous Minutes and Business Arising 
• Apologies noted. 
• The Disability Planning Officer provided 

an update on Council’s Walk Against 
Family Violence. The walk will be held on 
22 November. It has been confirmed that 
the CEO of Women with Disabilities Vic 
will be a guest speaker. 

• The Manager Community Care and 
Disability Planning Officer provided an 
update on recruitment of additional 
members, welcoming Kristina from Gre8 
to her first meeting. Tam from Burke and 
Beyond has also been confirmed as a 
new DAC member. 

• The Disability Planning Officer provided 
an update on the South East Region 
Disability Inclusion Celebration and Expo 
which will be held in the week of 14 
November. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Provide finalised details 
of dates/venue 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Disability 
Planning 
Officer 
 
 

3.  Summary Report Concerning People Living 
with Disability 
The Community Advocacy Officer provided a brief 
summary of findings from the more extensive 
report People with Disability in Australia 2022, 
published by the Australian Institute of Health and 
Welfare (AIHW) earlier this year.  
 
The report provides updated data and highlights 
the circumstances and experiences of people 

 
 
Provide hard copies to 
DAC members of 
Summary Report 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Community 
Advocacy 
Officer 
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living with disability and how it impacts on all 
facets of their life.  
 

4.  Update on Proposed Disability Inclusive 
Emergency Planning Forum  
The Manager Community Care provided an 
update on the Disability Inclusive Emergency 
Planning Forum to be held on Thursday 27 
October, 10am–3pm at the Paddy O’Donoghue 
Centre. 
 
The forum aims to learn from stakeholder group’s 
knowledge and experiences about how to make 
emergency management more inclusive of 
people with disability.  
 
The Planning Committee are aiming for 32 
participants who have lived experience with a 
disability, work in the disability or health sector or 
in emergency management. 
 

 
 
Provide further details 
once finalised to the 
Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Manager 
Community 
Care 
 
 
 

5.  Update on Sustainability Projects Focused on 
Vulnerable People 
The Manager Community Care provided an 
update on a number of Sustainability Projects 
Focused on Vulnerable People.  
 

 
 
Provide regular updates 
to the Committee 

 
 
Manager 
Community 
Care 

6.  Proposed Review of Current Disability Action 
Plan and discussion on how we propose to 
develop the new Plan  
Council’s Community Care Department oversees 
the implementation, monitoring and reporting on 
the actions of the Disability Action Plan 2017-
2023. Implementation of the plan is a shared 
responsibility across all departments nominated 
in the plan, reflecting a whole of Council 
commitment to improve outcomes for people with 
a disability.  
 
A final review of the current plan will be 
undertaken in 2023. The review of the plan will 
consider:  

• The extent to which actions have been 
successfully implemented over the period 
of the plan  

• The extent to which, through the plan and 
other influencing factors, the inclusion of 
people with a disability in our community 
has improved  

• Which objectives have been most 
successful in influencing improved 
outcomes for people with a disability.  

 
The review process will also identify emerging 
issues, trends and opportunities in order to 
develop a new plan building on the strengths of 
the Disability Action Plan 2017-2023. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7. NDIS Update/Members Issues 
There is a new minister for NDIS, Bill Shorten. 
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Sharon participated in a trial of 2 new devices 
being tested on trams. The devices are to assist 
with loading people in wheelchairs on to trams.  
 
Discussion on Disability Parking Permits and 
rules around parking in normal parking spots 
when disability spots not available. The Disability 
Planning Officer confirmed that in CGD if you 
display your permit while in a normal parking spot 
you do not have to pay for the parking. 
 
Further discussion on Disability Parking Permits 
and why there is not a state-wide standard for 
issuing permits and parking rules. There was also 
discussion on difficulties people are experiencing 
completing the online form. 
 

For noting 

8.  Other Business 
Australia Day Awards - the Disability Planning 
Officer will send out further information regarding 
nominations for an award. 
 
COVID-19 Community Grants – local 
organisations who want to assist people with a 
disability with COVID safety and education can 
apply for a grant. 
 
7 Star Rating on New Houses – New houses 
being built can receive a 7-star rating if they 
include level entry, doors of certain widths and an 
accessible ground floor toilet. 
 
Public Transport Victoria offer “Try Before You 
Ride” events to help people of all abilities to feel 
more confident when using the public transport 
system.  The next event will be held on Thursday 
6 October, 10.30am–2pm at Southern Cross 
Station and Tram Stop 125 at the corner of 
Clarendon Street and Whiteman Street, South 
Melbourne.  
 
Suggestion made that the Committee meet more 
frequently than quarterly as it is felt that is too 
long between meetings. Decided an informal 
catchup between quarterly meetings could be 
held for those available.  
 
Further discussion regarding increasing the 
frequency of formal DAC meetings in 2023 will be 
discussed at the December DAC meeting. 
 

 
Provide information 
regarding making 
nominations 
 
Provide further 
information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For noting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Invites to be sent for 
informal 
meeting/catchup 
 
 
 
Add as agenda item for 
December DAC 
meeting 
 

 
Disability 
Planning 
Officer 
 
Disability 
Planning 
Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
Manager 
Community 
Care 

Meeting Closed at 5.35pm 
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4.3.2 Draft Minutes of Multicultural and People Seeking AsylumAdvisory Committee Meeting
- 4 October 2022

A9200077File Id:

Director Community ServicesResponsible Officer:

Draft Minutes of Multicultural and People Seeking
Asylum Advisory Committee on 4 October 2022

Attachments:

1. Report Summary

At the Council meeting held 23 April 2018, Council resolved in part to invite Advisory Committees
and Reference Groups to submit meeting minutes for Council endorsement. This resolution also
allowed interested Councillors (and those that attend these Committees and Reference Groups) to
speak to the meeting about items discussed at these meetings.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the draft Minutes of the Multicultural and People Seeking Asylum
Advisory Committee meeting provided in Attachment 1 to this report be noted by Council.

282

MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022Greater Dandenong City Council

COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA



3. Background and Proposal

Greater Dandenong Council is represented on a wide range of Committees, Reference Groups and
Advisory Groups which frequently reflect the interests of individual Councillors in serving the broader
community in their role. A full listing of these appointments is confirmed each November at Council’s
Annual meeting to elect the Mayor and Deputy Mayor and is available via Council’s website.

The resolution of Council made on 23 April 2018 provides for Minutes of meetings held by Advisory
Committees and Reference Groups to be submitted to Council for information purposes, for noting
and for endorsement (not adoption).

As such, the draft Minutes are provided as Attachment 1 to this report.

There are no financial implications associated with the development and submission of this report.

4. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic
Objectives, Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for
themselves and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision
for 2040:

The City of Great Dandenong is a home to all.
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

4.1 Community Vision 2040

This report is consistent with the Community Vision 2040 and its accompanying principles:

Safe and peaceful community
Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities
Embrace diversity and multiculturalism.

4.2 Council Plan 2021-25

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will
do this over four years. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives:

A socially connected, safe and healthy city
A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts.
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5. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 (LGA2020) states that a Council must in the performance
of its role give effect to the overarching governance principles.

The establishment of the Multicultural and People Seeking Asylum Advisory Committee and the work
that it undertakes gives particular consideration to the following overarching governance principles:

priority is given to achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future
generations (section 9(b) of the LGA2020);
the municipal community is engaged in strategic planning and strategic decision making – many
advisory committees and reference groups have community members as participants (section
9(d) of the LGA2020);
innovation and continuous improvement is pursued (section 9(e) of the LGA2020);
collaboration with other councils, governments and statutory bodies is sought – many advisory
committees and reference groups have representatives attending from these organisations
(section 9(f) of the LGA2020);
the ongoing financial viability of Council is ensured (section 9(g) of the LGA2020);
regional, state and national plans and policies are taken into account in strategic planning and
decision making – diverse representation within these groups ensures this occurs (section 9(h)
of the LGA2020); and
the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is ensured by this regular reporting
mechanism (section 9(i) of the LGA2020).

6. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities have been
considered in the preparation and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

7. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and theGender Equality Act 2020 have been considered
in the preparation of this report but are not relevant to its contents because it is a reporting mechanism
only.

The report does not have the potential to influence broader social norms and gender roles nor does
it benefit any one gender group over any other.
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8. Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

This report has no impact on Council’s Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s
Climate Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030 or the requirements of the Local Government Act
2020 in relation to the overarching governance principle on climate change and sustainability because
it is purely administrative in nature and is a reporting mechanism only.

9. Recommendation

That Council notes the draft Minutes of the meeting for the Multicultural and People Seeking
Asylum Advisory Committee as provided in Attachment 1 to this report.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OTHER 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE MULTICULTURAL AND PEOPLE 
SEEKING ASYLUM ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING – 4 

OCTOBER 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF MULTICULTURAL 
AND PEOPLE SEEKING ASYLUM 

COMMITTEE ON 4 OCTOBER 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGES 5 (including cover) 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
 

 
 

Advisory Committee or 
Reference Group Name: 
 

Multicultural and People Seeking Asylum Advisory Committee 
(MAPSAAC) 

Date of Meeting: 
 

4 October 2022 

Time of Meeting: 
 

3-4.50pm 

Meeting Location: 
 

Online via Microsoft Teams 

 
Attendees: 
Kylie Reid (Chisholm Institute) – Chairperson, Sri Samy (Friends of Refugees [FOR]), Siv Yoganathan 
(Life Without Barriers), Community Advocacy Officers (Greater Dandenong City Council [Council]) and 
Sustainability Planner (Council). 
 
Apologies: 
Jacquie McBride (Monash Health), Sean Quigley (WAYSS), Cr Eden Foster (Council), Cr Rhonda 
Garad (Council), Coordinator Community Advocacy (Council), Peter McNamara (South East 
Community Links [SECL]), Chaw Po (Community Member), Sarita Kulkarni (Community Member), 
Kadira Pethiyagoda (Community Member), Oliver Pollasky (WithYouWithMe), Binita Maskey (Women’s 
Association South East Melbourne Australia [WASEMA]) and Qutbiallam Timor (Asylum Seeker 
Resource Centre [ASRC]). 
 
Minutes: 
Community Advocacy Officer (Council). 

 
 

Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
Chair welcomed attendees and acknowledged 
Traditional Owners. 

  

2. Endorsement of Minutes of Previous Meeting  
Minutes endorsed by Kylie Reid (Chisholm) and 
seconded by Community Advocacy Officer (Council). 

  

3. Review of Outstanding Action Items          
• Mapping of the appropriate networks, gaps and 

opportunities in the people seeking asylum space 
is ongoing. 
 

• New work being undertaken exploring the impact 
of climate change on people seeking asylum, 
service providers and broader communities in 
Greater Dandenong. 

  

4.  Sustainability Festival 2023 - Council 

• The 2023 festival will take place on Sunday 26 
February 10am-3pm at Dandenong Market. 

• Zoned areas aligned with themes including 
biodiversity, waste, sustainability, edible 
gardening, etc. 

• There will be food stalls, a ‘talk tent’ with 
presenters, showcase of sustainability-themed 
artwork, various workshops and activities. 

• There will be a focus on promoting energy-saving 
information and cost-effective upgrades for 
renters (new arrivals/students), including 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
 

supporting people to apply for the $250 Power 
Saving Bonus by the Ethnic Communities 
Council of Victoria. 

• In the week leading up to the Festival, Council 
will deliver sustainability-related events e.g. at 
Greater Dandenong Libraries. 

• 39 Clow Street will be a quiet zone – opportunity 
for organisations to screen promotional video 
content. 

• Opportunity open for MAPSAAC members and 
networks to host a stall, present a talk and/or get 
involved in other ways. Also seeking feedback on 
how the Festival can be made more accessible to 
the CALD community. 

• Potentially promote an information directory of 
donation collection sites e.g. for clothing 
recycling, Springvale Learning Activity Centre 
collecting donations of office supplies. 

• FOR are interested to promote edible gardening 
and display wheelbarrow garden beds and living 
pods at the event. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Share event information 
with MAPSAAC to provide 
input on further activities 
for the Festival. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council 

5. Multicultural and People Seeking Asylum Terms of 
Reference 2022-25 (ToR) – Discussion and 
Endorsement  

• Council outlined changes in the draft ToR 2022-
25 and feedback received from attendees. 

• Expression of Interest (EOI) for new group 
membership to be open after December meeting. 
Existing members will be contacted to reapply for 
membership.  

• Agreeance by attendees that quarterly meetings 
will be more manageable. Consider hybrid 
(online and in-person) meetings to offer greater 
flexibility. 

• Discussion on potential meeting times: may 
consider alternating meeting times, 4pm-6pm 
that overlaps work and non-work time, or 12pm-
2pm as another option. 

• Suggestion was made to survey people’s 
meeting time preferences in the EOI form and 
vote on best meeting time moving forward.  

• New ToR needs to clearly state the requirement 
for meeting attendance. 

• Feedback that the three-year period term of 
appointment to 2025 may be a long commitment 
for community members. End date of 30 June 
2024 was suggested as more appropriate. 

• Explore options for an online chat channel, e.g. 
SLACK or MS Teams, with new Committee for 
communications outside of meetings. 

• Due to insufficient attendees at this meeting for 
ToR endorsement, the draft ToR incorporating 
feedback received will be emailed to the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The revised ToR will be 
emailed to the Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council 
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Committee for endorsement. 

• The next meeting in December will be a review of 
the year’s highlights and achievements, with 
potential new members to be invited. 

 

for endorsement. 

6. GameChange Initiative: Shaping a Local 
Employment Strategy –Update 

• GameChange aims to support residents to obtain 
meaningful and substantial employment and is a 
part of Greater Dandenong Council’s Community 
Revitalisation Program.  

• Aligns well with MAPSAAC’s focus on 
employment and education. 

• Chisolm Institute is a member of the 
‘Communication and Collaboration’ working 
group, which consists of job seekers and 
community organisations.  

• This group aims to identify gaps and better 
understand communication and networking 
amongst job seekers, employers, education, 
training providers and employment agencies. 

• Other working groups attended by MAPSAAC 
members focus on ‘Investing in those who need 
it’ and ‘Targeted Training’. 

• Committee members are positive about the 
outcomes that GameChange will bring. 

  

7. Information Sharing  
• Council 

o According to the Refugee Council of Australia, 
an announcement about the abolishment of 
TPVs and SHEVs is imminent from Minister 
Andrew Giles’ office.  

o Councillor representatives from the Mayoral 
Taskforce Supporting People Seeking Asylum 
met with various Ministers in the past month 
as part of the Back Your Neighbour 
Campaign. Further update to be provided at 
the December meeting. 
 

• Life Without Barriers 
o Third country resettlement for refugees from 

Nauru or Fiji in Australia can resettle in US, 
Canada and New Zealand. 

o No permanent resettlement options are 
offered in Australia. 

o Challenges faced supporting people in long-
term detention who need essential services 
e.g. housing support, and by people with little 
experience living in the community. 

o Organisation currently working in a hybrid 
working model. 
 

• FOR 
o Inconsistency of why some refugee families 

from Nauru have had their visas rejected and 
others approved. Unclear what the criteria is 
regarding visa approvals. 

o Ongoing community need for essential items 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
 

due to increased cost of living, including food 
aid, bills and rental support. 

o Social connection group has seen clients with 
high debts. Financial literacy is low amongst 
community members.  

o Limited understanding about energy-saving in 
the household and climate change adaptation 
in the community. 
 

• Chisolm TAFE 
o Difficult to track where people from Ukraine 

are settling. 
o Preference for new arrivals from Ukraine to 

settle in Frankston and a few to Dandenong.  
o Influx of 449 visa holders from Afghanistan. 
o State Government initiative - Construction 

Industry Skill Sets Program. Chisolm and 
Holmesglen offer relevant courses for free. 
People need to have a basic level of English 
literacy to apply. Opportunities open to 31 
December 2022. More information at 
https://www.skills.vic.gov.au/s/construction-
industry-skill-sets. 

8.  Other Business  
N/A 

  

9. Meeting closed  
4:50pm 

  

10. Next Meeting 
3-5pm, Tuesday 6 December 2022 
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4.3.3 Appointment of Acting Chief Executive Officer

A9212307File Id:

Manager GovernanceResponsible Officer:

1. Report Summary

The employment contract for Council’s current Chief Executive Officer (CEO), John Bennie PSM,
expires on 30 November 2022 and Council has appointed a new CEO who commences on 19
December 2022. An Acting Chief Executive Officer therefore needs to be appointed for the period
1-18 December 2022.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that an Acting Chief Executive Officer be appointed for the period 1-18
December 2022.
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3. Background

Section 11(3) of the Local Government Act 2020 provides for the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), in
the exercise of his delegated powers, to appoint an Acting CEO for a period not exceeding 28 days.

However, in this instance, where the current CEO, Mr John Bennie PSM, is departing the organisation,
it is prudent to have Council determine who the Acting CEO will be during the period between the
departure of Mr Bennie on 30 November 2022 and commencement of the new CEO on 19 December
2022.

It can also be noted in this report that the current CEO will be taking leave from 14-18 November
2022 (inclusive) and has appointed Mr Paul Kearsley as Acting CEO during that time. Mr Bennie will
also be contactable during this time for any urgent matters that may need his input.

4. Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

5. Consultation

Councillors have met and discussed who will be appointed as Acting CEO between 1-18 December
2022.

6. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 states that a Council must in the performance of its role
give effect to the overarching governance principles. The principles relevant to this report are:

Council decisions are to be made and actions taken in accordance with the relevant law; and
the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is to be ensured.

7. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

Council, Councillors and members of Council staff are a public authority under the Charter of Human
Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 and, as such, are all responsible to act in accordance with the
Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006 (the Charter).

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.
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8. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

The content of this report does not have a direct and significant impact on members of the Greater
Dandenong community therefore a gender impact assessment is not required. It is purely administrative
in its nature and does not have the potential to influence broader social norms and gender roles.

9. Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks

The current CEO’s Employment Contract is relevant to this report and its recommendation below.

10. Recommendation

That Council:

notes the current scheduled Chief Executive Officer’s leave from 14-18 November
2022 (inclusive) and his appointment of Mr Paul Kearsley as Acting Chief Executive
Officer during that time; and

1.

appoints Mr Paul Kearsley as its Acting Chief Executive Officer:2.

for the period commencing 1 December 2022 and expiring on 18 December
2022, or such other date as Council determines; and

2.1.

on the same terms and conditions as the current (departing) Chief Executive
Officer.

2.2.
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4.3.4 Report on Matters Discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings

fA25545File Id:

Manager GovernanceResponsible Officer:

1. Report Summary

As part of Council’s ongoing efforts to improve transparency in Council processes, matters discussed
at Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings (other than those matters designated to be
of a confidential nature) are reported on at Council meetings.

Thematters listed in this report were presented to Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings
for the period 17-24 October 2024.

2. Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the information contained within it be received and noted.
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3. Background

The Executive Management Team and associated staff at Greater Dandenong City Council host
Councillor Briefing Sessions and Pre-Council Meeting on a regular basis (weekly) to inform Councillors
about the work officers are undertaking, share information, obtain feedback and discuss strategies
and options for current and future work.

To ensure transparency in this process matters discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions and
Pre-Council Meetings (other than those matters designated to be confidential under the Local
Government Act 2020) are reported on at Council meetings. This report represents matters discussed
at the Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings for the period 17-24 October 2024.

4. Matters Presented for Discussion

Councillor Briefing
Session/Pre-Council
Meeting

Item

Councillor Briefing
Session (CBS) – 17
October 2022

Dandenong Market Pty Ltd Annual Report

Councillors were briefed on the Market’s performance for the
financial year ending June 2022.

1

(Councillor Jim Memeti declared a conflict of interest in this
item and left the meeting during its discussion).

CBS – 17 October
2022

Keysborough South Community Hub Draft Strategic Plan

Councillors were provided with an update on this plan prior to
community consultation being undertaken for a 28-day period.

2

CBS – 17 October
2022

Cricket Wicket Policy

Councillors were provided with an overview of the policy prior
to it being released for public exhibition to gain feedback from
the community.

3

CBS – 17 October
2022

Sports Ground Floodlight Policy

Councillor feedback was sought on this policy prior to it being
released for public exhibition to gain feedback from the
community and stakeholders.

4
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CBS – 17 October
2022

Dandenong Activity Centre Parking Precinct Plan

Councillors were provided with updated information regarding
officer operations and parking in central Dandenong.

5

CBS – 17 October
2022

Keysborough South Community Hub Construction Tender
Process (CONFIDENTIAL)

6

CBS – 17 October
2022

Discussion

Councillors and Council officers briefly discussed the following
items:

7

a. Australia Day Awards Program 2023;
b. Community consultation on the 23/24 Budget; and
c. Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 24 October 2022.

Pre-Council Meeting
– 24 October 2022

Discussion

Councillors and Council officers briefly discussed the following
items:

8

a. Dandenong Community Hub public consultation;
b. iCook foods progress update (CONFIDENTIAL); and
c. Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 24 October 2022.

5. Apologies

Councillor Loi Truong submitted an apology for the Councillor Briefing Session held on 17 October
2022.
Councillor Loi Truong submitted an apology for the Pre-Council Meeting held on 24 October
2022. Councillor Sophie Tan did not attend the Pre-Council Meeting held on 24 October 2022.
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6. Community Vision 2040 and Council Plan 2021-25 – Strategic Objectives, Strategies
and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for
themselves and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision
for 2040:

The City of Great Dandenong is a home to all.
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

7. The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 (LGA2020) states that a Council must in the performance
of its role give effect to the overarching governance principles.

Reporting on matters discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions and Pre-Council Meetings gives effect
to the overarching governance principles (in particular, section 9(i) of the Local Government Act 2020)
in that the transparency of Council actions and information is ensured.

8. Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities have been
considered in the preparation of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

9. The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their
policies, programs and services.

Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy and theGender Equality Act 2020 have been considered
in the preparation of this report but are not relevant to its contents because it is a reporting mechanism
only. The report does not have the potential to influence broader social norms and gender roles nor
does it benefit any one gender group over any other.
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10. Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic,
social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for
climate change risks, is to be promoted.

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a
“Climate and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate
change. Council has developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to
help the City of Greater Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active
community prepared for the challenges of changing climate.

This report has no impact on Council’s Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s
Climate Change Emergency Strategy 2020-2030 or the requirements of the Local Government Act
2020 in relation to the overarching governance principle on climate change and sustainability because
it is purely administrative in nature and is a reporting mechanism only.

11. Recommendation

That:

the information contained in this report be received and noted; and1.

the information discussed in Items 6 and 8(b) at the above-listed Councillor Briefing
Session and Pre-Council Meeting which were declared confidential under section
3(1) of the Local Government Act 2020 above remain confidential until further
advisement unless that information forms the subject of a subsequent Council
report.

2.
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4.3.5 List of Registered Correspondence to Mayor and Councillors

qA283304File Id:

Manager GovernanceResponsible Officer:

Correspondence Received 17 October – 4
November 2022

Attachments:

1. Report Summary

Subsequent to resolutions made by Council on 11 November 2013 and 25 February 2014 in relation
to a listing of incoming correspondence addressed to the Mayor and Councillors, Attachment 1
provides a list of this correspondence for the period 17 October – 4 November 2022.

2. Recommendation

That the listed items provided in Attachment 1 for the period 17 October – 4 November 2022
be received and noted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OTHER 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LIST OF REGISTERED CORRESPONDENCE TO  
MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 17 
OCTOBER – 4 NOVEMBER 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGES 3 (including cover) 
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5 NOTICES OF MOTION
A notice of motion is a notice setting out the text of a motion proposed to be moved at the next relevant
meeting. It must be in writing, signed by a Councillor, and be lodged with the Chief Executive Officer
in sufficient time for him or her to give each Councillor at least 72 hours notice of such notice.

The guidelines for submitting a notice of motion to a Council meeting are included in the current
Governance Rules.
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6 REPORTS FROM COUNCILLORS/DELEGATED MEMBERS AND
COUNCILLORS' QUESTIONS

The principle purpose of this item in the Council Meeting Agenda is for Councillors to report on their
attendance, observations or important matters arising from their liaison or representation with groups
for which the Councillor has been formally appointed by Council. In accordance with the documented
‘protocol’ that applies to either liaisons or representatives, Councillors should raise matters of
importance during this item. Other matters may also be reported.

If a Councillor chooses to speak, the name of the conference/event and the Councillor will be noted
in the Minutes for that meeting. If a Councillor requires additional information on the conference/event
to be listed in the Minutes, they must submit it in writing to a Governance staff member by 12.00pm
the day following this Council Meeting.

Question time is provided to enable Councillors to address questions to members of Council staff.
The guidelines for asking questions at a Council meeting are included in the current Governance
Rules.

Councillors have a total of 15 minutes each to report on their attendances at meetings, conferences
or events and to ask questions of Council staff.
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7 URGENT BUSINESS
No business may be admitted as urgent business unless it:

a. Relates to or arises out of a matter which has arisen since distribution of the Agenda.

b. Cannot safely or conveniently be deferred until the next ordinary meeting and unless agreed to
by a majority of those Councillors present at the meeting.
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